
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 6th March, 2024 
6.30 pm 

 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Scrutiny Committee DATE - 6-03-24 Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
ROOMS 2 & 3, BURNLEY TOWN 
HALL 
 
Wednesday, 6th March, 2024 at 6.30 pm 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
Members are reminded that if they have detailed questions on individual 
reports, they are advised to contact the report authors in advance of the 
meeting. 
 
Members of the public may ask a question, make a statement, or present a 
petition relating to any agenda item or any matter falling within the remit of the 
committee. 
 
Notice in writing of the subject matter must be given to the Head of Legal & 
Democracy by 5.00pm on the day before the meeting.  .  Forms can be 
obtained for this purpose from the reception desk at Burnley Town Hall, 
Manchester Road or at the Contact Centre, Parker Lane, Burnley or from the 
web at: Request to Speak . You can also register to speak via the online 
agenda.  Requests will be dealt with in the order in which they are received. 
 
There is a limited capacity for members of the public to attend meetings.  You 
are advised to contact democracy@burnley.gov.uk in advance of the meeting 
if you plan to attend. 
 
 
AGENDA 
  
1) Apologies   
 To receive any apologies for absence.   
2) Minutes  5 - 12 
 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting.    
3) Additional Items of Business   
 To determine whether there are any additional items of business which, 

by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
4) Declarations of Interest   
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to any item 

on the agenda, in accordance with the provisions of the Code of Conduct 
and/or indicate if S106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

 

http://burnley.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13234
mailto:democracy@burnley.gov.uk


 
Scrutiny Committee DATE - 6-03-24 Page 3 of 3 
 

applies to them.  
5) Exclusion of the Public   
 To determine during which items, if any, the public are to be excluded 

from the meeting. 
 

 
6) Public Question Time   
 To consider questions, statements or petitions from Members of the 

Public. 
 

 
PUBLIC ITEMS 
 

 
 
7) Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings  13 - 28 
 To consider the list of future Key Decisions.   
8) Road Map to Net Zero  29 - 54 
 To consider a report on Road Map to Net Zero.     
9) Selective Licensing - Consultation on Future Proposals  55 - 226 
 To consider a report on Selective Licensing – Consultation on Future 

Proposals. 
 

 
10) Scrutiny Review Groups  227 - 228 
 To receive an update on the work of any active Scrutiny Review Groups.   
11) Work Programme 2023/24  229 - 232 
 To consider any amendments to the Work Programme for 2023/24.   
PRIVATE ITEMS 
 

 
 
12) Disabled Facilities Grant - Social Care Capital Projects  233 - 236 
 To consider a report on Disabled Facilities Grant – Social Care Capital 

Projects. 
 

 

 
MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEE  
 

 

Councillor Gail Barton (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Horrocks (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Gordon Birtwistle 
Councillor Helen Bridges 
Councillor Margaret Brindle 
Councillor Joanne Broughton 
Councillor Alex Hall 
Councillor Beki Hughes 
Councillor Nussrat Kazmi 
 

Councillor Syeda Kazmi 
Councillor Gordon Lishman 
Councillor Sehrish Lone 
Councillor Jamie McGowan 
Councillor Christine Sollis 
Councillor Jeff Sumner 
Councillor Don Whitaker 
Councillor Fiona Wild 

 
PUBLISHED Tuesday, 27 February 2024 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 1 of 7 
 

 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
BURNLEY TOWN HALL 
 
Thursday, 8th February, 2024 at 6.30 pm 
 

 
 

PRESENT  
 

 

MEMBERS  
 Councillors G Barton (Chair), B Horrocks (Vice-Chair), M Brindle, 

J Broughton, Hall, N Kazmi, S Lone, J McGowan and F Wild 
 

OFFICERS   
 Rob Dobson  Chief Operating Officer 
 Howard Hamilton-Smith  Director of Resources 
 Kate Ingram  Director of Economy and Development 
 Amy Johnson 

Kieron Roberts 
 Finance Manager 
 Green Spaces and Amenities 

 CJ Walmsley  Democracy Officer 
 

  
219. Apologies  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bridges, Gordon Lishman, Sollis and 
Whitaker. 
  

220. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11th January 2023 were approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair, subject to the inclusion of Councillor Wild in the apologies. 
  
  

221. Additional Items of Business  
 
There were no additional items of business to be considered.   
  
  

222. Declarations of Interest  
 
  
There were no declarations of interest on any of the items on the agenda.  However, whilst 
no decision was to be made in relation to the item on the proposed budget for the next 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 2 of 7 
 

financial year, the Chair reminded Members of their interest in relation to Council Tax and 
the dispensation that was required to be in place. 
  

223. Exclusion of the Public  
 
Exclusion of press and public was as set out on the agenda. 
  
  

224. Public Question Time  
 
No questions, statements or petitions had been received from members of the public.   
  
  

225. Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings  
 
Members were asked to note the Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings (NKDPM) 
published on 15th January 2024.   
  
Members were reminded that should they wish the Committee to consider any items on the 
NKDPM, they should inform the Chair.  
  
RESOLVED – That the NKDPM of 15th January 2024 be noted. 
  
  

226. Strategic Plan 2024/25  
 
The Committee received a report on the Strategic Plan 2024/25, which set out a clear vision 
for the future: one that was evidence based, shared by all units of the Council, and was in 
tune with the aspirations of local people.  There were no changes to the commitments from 
2023/24, however during 2024, the Executive was planning to conduct a more detailed 
review of the Strategic Plan priorities and would present a new strategy for 2025/26 and 
beyond. 
  
Clarification was sought with regards supporting the formation of a new academy for 
Burnley’s high schools.  Though the Academy Trust would drive it forward, the Council 
would give support in the interest of educational attainment.  It was felt that this should also 
be the case for other Academy’s operating across the borough.  A further update would be 
provided to a future meeting. 
  
RESOLVED that     (1) the report be noted; and  

(2) a further update on the formation of a new Academy be provided to 
 a future meeting.   

  
  

227. Revenue Monitoring Report 2023/24 - Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2023)  
 
A report was submitted that provided the forecast outturn position for the year ending 31 
March 2024 based upon actual spending and income to 31 December 2023.  The 

Page 6



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 3 of 7 
 

Committee was asked to note the projected revenue budget forecast position of a net 
overspend of £60k, although it was expected that there would be a break-even position by 
the end of the financial year.  The net overspend of £60k had reduced from a forecast net 
overspend of £166k as reported in quarter 2.    
  
Clarification was sought in relation to Environmental Enforcement following the re-letting of 
the contract, and it was advised that this was currently being kept under review.   
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

228. Capital Monitoring Report 2023/24 - Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2023)  
 
A report was submitted which provided Members with an update on capital expenditure and 
the resources position, along with highlighting any variances. 
  
The Executive was being asked to recommend to Full Council, approval of net budget 
changes totalling a net increase of £69,936, giving a revised capital budget for 2023/24 
totalling £41,727,259.  The report also recommended the proposed financing of the revised 
capital budget totalling £41,727,259 for approval.    
  
The Committee noted the latest estimated year end position on capital receipts and 
contributions, which showed an assumed balance of £3,553,100 as at 31 March 2024.  
  
It was clarified that progress was being made in relation to the Nicholas Street site. 
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

229. 2023/24 Treasury Management Quarter 3 (April - December)  
 
A report was submitted on treasury management activity for the period 1 April to 31 
December 2023.  
  
The report also recommended that Full Council endorse the quarterly update on the 
Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 in compliance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management.  
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

230. Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2025/26-2028/29 Incorporating the Reserves 
Strategy  

 
A report was submitted on the longer term financial outlook within the context of a Medium 
Term Financial Strategy covering the financial years 2025/26 to 2028/29, which highlighted 
uncertainties and underlying risks. 
  
The report recommended to Full Council the approval of the latest Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, along with the Reserves Strategy.  It was also asked to note that a refreshed 
document would be provided when required as an aid to monitoring the continued delivery 
of an annually balanced budget; and the annual review of the Financial Management 
Code.   

Page 7



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 4 of 7 
 

  
The financial environment in which the Council operates was highlighted in terms of 
challenges, particularly within the context of continuing austerity.  Given the reduced 
Government funding during austerity and pressures on other income and uncertainty 
around future funding, the Council endeavoured to meet those financial challenges taking a 
strategic view whilst protecting the quality of services and minimising impact on residents.    
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
  

231. 2024/25 Treasury Management Strategy and 2024/25 - 2026/27 Prudential and 
Treasury Indicators  

 
The Committee considered a report on the 2024/25 Treasury Management Strategy and 
2024/25 to 2026/27 Prudential and Treasury Indicators.   
  
Full Council were recommended to approve the Treasury Management Strategy for 
2024/25; the prudential and treasury indicators for 2024/25 to 2026/27, including the 
authorised limit for external debt of £100.199m in 2024/25; the list of Counterparties for 
Deposits; and the Council’s Minimum Revenue Position Statement for 2024/25. 
  
It was highlighted that there had been poor Member attendance at the recent Treasury 
Management training which had taken place on 1st February 2024.  However, a link to the 
recording of the training had been circulated to all Members for their convenience.    
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

232. Revenue Budget 2024/25  
 
The Committee considered a report on the estimates of revenue income and expenditure 
for 2024/25.  The report recommended that Full Council endorse the approach that had 
been adopted in developing budget proposals that reflect the Council’s Strategic Objectives 
for 2024/25; approve the proposals set out in the report; set a Council Tax Requirement of 
£8,054,980 for the financial year 2024/25; set a Net Budget Requirement of £18,986,918 for 
2024/25; receive and consider the statutory report issued by the Director of Resources 
under the Local Government Act 2003; authorise the Chief Operating 
Officer/Directors/Heads of Service to progress action plans to deliver the 2024/25 budget; 
and approve a Council Tax (Band D) figure of £337.82 for this Council for the year 
commencing 1st April 2024 and adopt the statutory resolution to set the full Council Tax for 
the year.  This was equivalent to a 2.99% Council Tax increase.   
  
It was pointed out that there had been an amendment to the original report, with the 
removal of the saving relating to Fulledge Recreation Ground car parking income (£20k).  
Utility savings amended from (£147k) to (£167k).   
  
A query was raised in relation to Rowley Lake and whether the annual inspection of the 
dam included water testing.  The water quality was deemed safe before recreational usage; 
however, an update would be provided. 
  
Clarification was given on the price increase for Civica Financials, the need for 
development and to look at other options, which would be subject to another report.   
  

Page 8



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 5 of 7 
 

With regards to tree work, and Lancashire County Council now carrying out their own works 
which had meant a reduction of rechargeable income of £9k, it was highlighted that the 
resource time could be utilised in other areas.   
  
Burnley Together was discussed in terms of Government funding previously being used 
and that now being reduced.  The building had been previously funded by partners, and a 
greater partnership contribution was expected going forward.  The demand for the service 
was very high so may well need long term support from the Council.   
  
Clarification was sought on the annual subscription cost of £13k for the ‘Love Clean Streets’ 
App.  It was advised that this was the most economical of the two key players, and was also 
used by Lancashire County Council.  600-900 reports came through the App each month, 
and officers were to meet to discuss how usage could be improved.     
   
RESOLVED that      (1) the report be noted. 
                                 (2) an update be provided on the water quality of Rowley Lake.  
  

233. Revenue Budget 2024/25 - Statutory Report of the Chief Financial Officer  
 
The Committee considered a statutory report of the Chief Financial Officer when setting the 
Revenue Budget for 2024/25. 
  
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 required the Chief Financial Officer to report 
on the robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy of the financial reserves.  The 
Act also required the Authority to have regard to the report when making decisions about 
the budget.   
  
The report covered: - 
  

         an assessment of the robustness of the 2024/25 budget setting process for both 
revenue and capital; 

         a high level assessment of key risks that may impact the budget for 2024/25; 
         an assessment of the overall adequacy of reserves to contain financial risk and 

ensure the sustainability of the Council over the financial year 2024/25; and 
         an indication of future direction of travel for the Council over the medium term. 

  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

234. Capital Budget for 2024/25 and Capital Investment Programme 2024-29  
 
A report was submitted that recommended that Full Council approve the 2024/25 Capital 
Budget, totalling £16,290,933; note the 2024-29 Capital Investment Programme; note the 
estimated position on capital resources; and approve the Capital Strategy 2024-29.  The 
report also recommended that subject to the approval of the 2024/25 Capital Budget, the 
Executive approve the release of capital scheme budgets including slippage from 2023/24, 
subject to compliance with the Financial Procedure Rules and Standing Orders for 
Contracts. 
  

Page 9



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 6 of 7 
 

Clarification was given on the £220,000 for extension of Burnley Cemetery being used for a 
feasibility study, landscaping and works.  It was suggested that land at Freshfields could be 
used as a green burial ground.  
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

235. Council Tax Support Scheme 2024/25 and 2025/26 & Empty Homes Premium 
Policy  

 
A report was submitted which presented the findings of the Council Tax Support Scheme 
consultation with regards to plans to temporarily increase the maximum level of subsidy for 
working age claimants, for the 2024/25 and 2025/26 scheme and to amend the Council’s 
Empty Homes Premium Policy. 
  
The consultation was a statutory requirement and was publicised via the press, website and 
social media pages, however the response had remained low.   
  
A query was raised on the number of empty properties and the amount of exemptions 
awarded under the business rates.  This information would be circulated to Members of the 
Committee.   
  
RESOLVED that      (1) the report be noted; 

(2) information on the number of empty properties and the amount of 
 exemptions awarded under the business rates be circulated to 
 Members.   

  
236. Multi-use Games Areas  

 
A report was submitted that provided a detailed overview of the current position, and a 
proposed way forward, regarding the provision, condition and work needed, including 
costed options, for the improvement of the Council’s Multi-use Games Areas (MUGAs) 
stock. 
  
Concerns were raised over MUGAs not being gender equitable, with limited data showing a 
ratio of 13:1 usage between boys and girls.  It was highlighted that a document called, 
'Safer Parks - Improving Access for women and girls' was being considered to improve 
inclusion. 
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
  

237. Pay Policy Statement 2024/25  
 
A report was submitted that sought Full Council approval for the Council’s Pay Policy 
Statement which was required to be published prior to the end of March each year. 
  
A query was raised regarding the non-usage of some of the spinal points on the NJC pay 
structure.  Clarification would be sought and circulated to Members.  
  
RESOLVED that      (1) the report be noted; 

(2) information on the non-usage of some of the spinal points on the 
 NJC pay structure would be circulated to Members of the Committee. 

Page 10



 

 
Scrutiny Committee 08/02/2024  Page 7 of 7 
 

  
238. Scrutiny Review Groups  

 
The Committee was informed that a report would now be submitted to the March meeting to 
brief Members on the work of the Climate Change Review Group and the conclusions. 
  
RESOLVED – That the update be noted.     
  
  

239. Work Programme 2023/24  
 
The Committee received the updated work programme for 2023/2024.     
  
RESOLVED – That the updated work programme for 2023/24 be noted. 
  
Members determined to exclude the press and public from the meeting before discussion 
took place on the following items on the grounds that in view of the nature of the business 
to be transacted if the public were present there would be a disclosure to them of exempt 
information within the meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
   
  

240. Levelling Up Fund  
 
A report was submitted on the progress of the Levelling Up fund programme. 
  
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.   
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF KEY 
DECISIONS AND PRIVATE 

MEETINGS 
 

Tuesday, 13th February, 2024 
 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings DATE - 13-02-24 Page 2 of 2 
 

 

 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISIONS 
AND PRIVATE MEETINGS 
 
 
 
Tuesday, 13th February, 2024  

 
 
AGENDA 
  
1) Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings (28 day notice)  3 - 16 
 
 

Page 14



BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL  

NOTICE OF KEY DECISIONS AND PRIVATE MEETINGS 

This Notice contains: 

a)    A list of Key Decisions to be taken by the Executive (unless otherwise stated) from March 2024, published on 13th February 2024. Due to 
circumstances, these decisions could also be taken by Officers using urgency powers or delegated authority.  

b)    Details of dates of meetings of the Executive during the same period at which decisions may be taken in private or partly in private. 

A Key Decision is an Executive decision that is likely: 

(i)      to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are significant,           

         having regard to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which a decision relates. The Council has said that  

         Capital or Revenue spending over £125,000 will be a Key Decision; or 

(ii)     to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the 

         Borough; 

A private meeting is a meeting or part of a meeting of the Executive during which the public must be excluded whenever: 

a) it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present 
during that item, confidential information would be disclosed to them in breach of the obligation of confidence;  

b) the Executive passes a resolution to exclude the public during that item where it is likely, in view of the nature of the item of business, that if 
members of the public were present during that item, exempt information would be disclosed to them; or 

c) a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the public in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a 
meeting. 

 

 

 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 1

P
age 15



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Social Care 
Projects using the 
Disabled Facilities 
Grant allocation 
from the Better 
Care Fund 

To approve 
several social 
care projects 
funded through 
the Better Care 
Fund. 

Yes March 2024 Private Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Paul Gatrell  
Head of Housing 
and Development 
Control 

Cllr Lubna Khan 
Executive 
Member Housing 
and Development 
Control 

Cultural Strategy To consider a 
report on a 
Cultural Strategy 

Yes February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Simon Goff 
Head of Green 
Spaces & 
Amenities 

Cllr Jack Launer 
Executive 
Member for 
Health, Culture 
and Wellbeing 

P
age 4

P
age 16



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Multi-use Games 
Areas 

To consider a 
report on Multi-
use Games Areas 

Yes February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Simon Goff 
Head of Green 
Spaces & 
Amenities 

Cllr Jack Launer 
Executive 
Member for 
Health, Culture 
and Wellbeing 

Procurement 
framework stair-
lifts 

To consider a 
report to enter a 
procurement 
framework for the 
provision of 
stairlifts 

Yes February 2024 Private Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Paul Gatrell  
Head of Housing 
and Development 
Control 

Cllr Lubna Khan 
Executive 
Member for 
Housing & 
Development 
Control 

P
age 5

P
age 17



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Pay Policy 
Statement 2024-
25 

To consider a 
report and 
approve the Pay 
Policy Statement 

Yes February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Vicky White 

Strategic HR 
Manager 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources & 
Performance Mgt 

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Q3 
2023/24 

To consider 
revenue budget 
monitoring Q3 
2023/24 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

P
age 6

P
age 18



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Q3 
2023/24 

To consider 
capital budget 
monitoring Q3 
2023/24 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

Treasury 
Management Q3 
2023/24 

To consider 
treasury 
management Q3 
2023/24 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

P
age 7

P
age 19



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Revenue Budget 
2024/25 

To consider the 
revenue budget 
2024/25 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

Capital Budget 
2024/25 and 
Capital 
Investment 
Programme 2024-
29 

To consider the 
capital budget 
2024/25 and 
Capital 
Investment 
Programme 2024-
29 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

P
age 8

P
age 20



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy 
2025/29 

To consider the 
medium-term 
financial strategy 
2025/29 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

Revenue Budget 
Statutory Report 
by Chief Financial 
Officer 

To consider the 
Revenue Budget 
Statutory Report 
by Chief Financial 
Officer 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

P
age 9

P
age 21



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 2024/25 
and Prudential 
Indicators 

To consider the 
Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 2024/25 
and Prudential 
Indicators 

 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

Council Tax 
Resolution 
2024/25 

To consider the 
Council Tax 
Resolution 
2024/25 

 

 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

P
age 10

P
age 22



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
2024/25  

To consider the 
Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
2024/25 

 

 

 

 

No (Full Council 
Policy Framework 
decision) 

February 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Howard Hamilton-
Smith Director of 
Resources 

Cllr Margaret 
Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Resources and 
Performance 

Levelling Up – 
Update 

To provide an 
update on the 
progress of the 
schemes and 
next steps. 

 

Yes February 2024 Private Report setting out 
key issues 

Kate Ingram 
Director of 
Economy and 
Development 

Cllr S Cunliffe 
Executive 
Member for 
Sustainable 
Development and 
Growth 

P
age 11

P
age 23



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Article 4 Direction 
– Houses in 
Multiple 
Occupation 

To provide an 
update on the 
consultation 
undertaken on the 
proposed Article 4 
Direction and to 
consider whether 
to confirm the 
Article 4 Direction 

Yes April 2024 Public Report setting out 
the key Issues.  

Consultation 
Report 

Pete Milward 
Principal Planner, 
Economy and 
Development 

Cllr S Cunliffe 
Executive 
Member for 
Sustainable 
Development and 
Growth 

Waste Transfer 
Station 

To provide an 
update on Waste 
Transfer 
arrangements in 
East Lancashire 

Yes March 2024 Private Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Joanne Maclean 

Head of 
Streetscene 

Cllr H Baker 

Executive 
Member for 
Community and 
Environmental 
Services 

P
age 12

P
age 24



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Road to net zero To consider a 
report on the 
short, medium 
and long term 
actions to get the 
council to net 
zero 

 

Yes March 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Paul Gatrell  
Head of Housing 
and Development 
Control 

Cllr Scott Cunliffe 
Executive 
Member for 
Sustainable 
Development & 
Growth 

Strategic 
Partnering 
Agreement 

To consider a 
report on the 
option to extend 
the contract with 
Liberata 

Yes April 2024 Private Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Rob Dobson 
Chief Operating 
Officer 

Cllr M Lishman 
Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Performance 

Outdoor Town 
Active Burnley 
Partnership 
Action Plan 

To consider a 
report on the 
Action Plan 

Yes April 2024 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

Simon Goff 
Head of Green 
Spaces & 
Amenities 

P
age 13

P
age 25



Matter for 
decision 

Purpose Key Decision – 
Yes or No 

Anticipated date 
of decision 

Public or Private 
report – Please 
give reasons 

List of 
documents to be 
submitted, 
including any 
background 
papers 

Contact person 
& Executive 
Portfolio 

Cllr Jack Launer 
Executive 
Member for 
Health, Culture 
and Wellbeing 

       

Consultation 
various selective 
licensing 
designations 

To consider a 
report and draft 
statement of case 

 

Yes March 24 Public Report setting out 
key issues 

 

Paul Gatrell Head 
of Housing & 
Development 

 

Cllr Lubna Khan 

Executive 
Member for 
Housing & 
Leisure 

 

Meetings of the Executive will be held on the following dates:, 13th March 2024, 4th April 2024 and 12th June 2024. Meetings normally start at 
6.30pm but times can change so please check the council website nearer the date of the meeting.  All meetings are usually held at the Town 
Hall.  

P
age 14

P
age 26



This Notice will be further updated in the form of the agenda by the following date: 5th March 2024. A further Notice will be given five clear days 
before each meeting listed above if the meeting or part of the meeting is to be held in private. 

If you wish to make any representations about why any meeting or part of a meeting proposed to be held in private should be open to the public 
please send them to: Catherine Waudby, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Town Hall, Manchester Road, Burnley BB11 9SA. 

E-mail: cwaudby@burnley.gov.uk                                                                         Published:   on 13th February 2024 

P
age 15

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 28



Road Map to Net Zero 
 

EXECUTIVE  
 

DATE     13th March 2024 
PORTFOLIO   Housing and Development Control 
REPORT AUTHOR  Paul Gatrell 
TEL NO    01282 477230 

 
EMAIL    pgatrell@burnley.gov.uk  

 
 
PURPOSE 

 
 

1. To enable the Council to meet its aim of minimising the carbon impact of its business 
operations. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
2. That Members approve the Road Map to Net Zero Report as a working document to be 

reviewed and updated periodically (Appendix A & B). 
 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 
3. To ensure Members have access to relevant information to assist them to prioritise 

actions and resources to minimise the carbon impact of the Council’s business 
operations.  
 

4. To enable Members to plan the Council’s Road Map to Net Zero. 
 
SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS 

 
 

The Context 
 

5. The Road Map to Net Zero report (Appendix A) has been produced to allow informed 
decision-making around the order in which the Council can take climate action and achieve 
net zero at the earliest possible date. The document will outline potential costs and 
timeframes for each action, allowing priorities to be established and a realistic and 
appropriate timeline to be set. The document will allow the Council to work through climate 
actions over time, with costs spread out between now and 2050. This will allow for strategic 
planning and prioritisation within appropriate timescales and resources.  

 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



 

6. A snapshot image of the Road Map to Net Zero (Appendix B) has also been produced to 
allow a quick but informative outline of the Council’s plans for reaching net zero, 
demonstrating the priorities for the Council in 5-year brackets between now and 2050. 
 

7. The documents will also allow for a comparison of options where a climate action may have 
more than one possible route. For example, different costs and timeframes for 
decarbonising buildings, different options for green energy tariffs, or different options for 
moving to a green fleet (electric, hydrogen, biodiesel).   
 

8. The Council has achieved some significant strides in taking climate action and this 
roadmap will support a wider suite of documents, including the Climate Change Strategy, 
the Council’s Carbon Budget and Annual Action Plan Updates. 
 
Since the Climate Emergency was declared in 2019, the Council have been hard at work 
implementing climate change actions including the continued roll out of electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure on all existing council car parks in the town centre and at other 
facilities. This included a successful funding bid to On-Street Residential Chargepoint 
Scheme (ORCS) to deliver 21 fast charge points at 8 car park locations. Between April 
2022 and April 2023, Burnley saw a 17.2% increase in chargers of all speeds increasing 
from 29 to 34, and a 37.5% increase in rapid chargers, increasing from 8 to 11. The Council 
also continues to work with Lancashire County Council to explore opportunities for the 
provision of electric charging infrastructure on the borough’s highways.  
 
A partnership between Burnley Leisure and Culture and the Council has helped to secure 
funding through Trees for Cities, enabling the Council to plant 7,500 trees across the 
borough during the tree planting season between November 2023 and March 2024. Green 
spaces are also actively identifying areas of frequently mown grass that can be managed 
as annual cut meadow, reducing CO2 costs and increasing biodiversity, with more than 60 
ha now managed as meadows. 
 
The Council has achieved the Bronze Carbon Literate Organisation award and are in the 
process of reaching Silver through the roll out of internal training, with the aim of engaging 
all staff with carbon literacy and encouraging increased climate action.  
 
The Council has also worked to establish their carbon budget to monitor their direct and 
indirect emissions (scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions) and to plan reduction targets and actions 
necessary to reach net zero. As a result of this, the Council have committed to a net zero 
target of 2050 at the latest, and remain committed to being carbon neutral by 2030. The 
carbon budget involves collating the Council’s energy, water, fleet and business travel data 
(additional scope 3 data will be incorporated over time) and allows the largest areas of 
emissions to be identified, and plans for emissions reductions to be determined. This has 
supported and fed into the production of this Roadmap to Net Zero.     
 
A Council Document 
 

9. The Road Map to Net Zero has been prepared specifically for Council operations, it is not 
intended to cover the wider works necessary for Burnley as a borough to reach net zero. 
Working with wider partners and across sectors does however form part of the Council’s 
climate action. We are currently developing a communications plan and have established 
a working group with external organisations across the borough to discuss wider issues 

Page 30



 

and share best practice. The Council also plays an active role in the Lancashire-wide 
climate change agenda, with regular engagement through the Lancashire Climate Change 
Officers Group. 
 
Purpose of the Road Map 
 

10. The document presents a series of actions that officers have worked up into component 
parts and costs, to produce a list of actions that can be structured chronologically and within 
budget priorities to achieve the Council’s road map to net zero. The document can also be 
used to inform a decision about the possibility of bringing forward the Council’s net zero 
target if realistic, including budget considerations and efficient use of Council resources to 
have a maximum impact on carbon reduction. The timeline of actions will also need to 
consider available and developing technologies.  
 

11. The document will naturally have certain gaps and limitations due to the current information 
available but is intended to give a clear view of the current options available to the Council, 
and the options expected to become available over the coming years. It is intended that 
the document will be reviewed and updated periodically, to take into consideration new 
technologies and future funding opportunities. 
 

12. The document also sets out some of the challenges and limitations around each climate 
action. For example, the Council’s operational properties such as the Town Hall are old, 
historic listed buildings, and they bring with them particular challenges in terms of carbon 
reductions and reaching net zero emissions. There are several low and zero carbon 
technologies that can be used to reduce carbon emissions and improve energy efficiency 
in listed buildings but before implementing any of these technologies, it will be necessary 
to consider whether they are suitable for the particular building and its use, what the carbon 
reduction benefits are, if the potential savings exceed the whole-life energy costs and 
whether the system can be fitted safely without significantly impacting the building and its 
historic fabric. 
 

13. The production of Heat Decarbonisation Plans (expected February 2024) will allow this 
area of the report to be expanded on in more detail.  

 
Conclusion 
 

14. Overall these documents will allow the Council to make informed decisions for achieving 
net zero at the earliest possible date, and in the most cost effective way. These documents 
are expected to evolve over time, taking into account new technologies, research, and 
external funding opportunities.  
 

15. The Council’s Road Map to Net Zero form part of a suite of documents that include the 
Climate Change Strategy, the Annual Action Plan and the Council’s Carbon Budget. In line 
with the Council’s Annual Action Plan and Carbon Budget it is expected that officers, 
working with Members, will carry out an annual review of the Road Map to Net Zero and 
publish an updated document each year 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND BUDGET PROVISION 
 

Page 31



 

16. There are no direct financial implications associated with the recommendation in this 
report. 

 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
17. There are no direct policy implications associated with the recommendation in this report. 

 
DETAILS OF CONSULTATION 

 
18. None 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
19. None 

 
FURTHER INFORMATION       
PLEASE CONTACT: Paul Gatrell 
Extension: 7230  

  
 

Page 32



Roadmap to Net Zero 
This roadmap will support a wider suite of documents, including the Climate Change 
Strategy, the Council’s Carbon Budget, and Annual Action Plan Updates. 
 

2020-2025 

• HDPs produced for all Council buildings to determine decarbonisation 
works costs and timeframes.  

• Budget approved. Timeframe: February 2024 

Eon have been commissioned to complete full surveys to produce Heat De-carbonisation 
Plans for the primary sites. Total cost of the project is £37,000 and is funded via main 
building infrastructure capital budget. The reports are due to commence early in the new 
year and will be completed by the end of February 2024.  
  
Site List: 
Burnley Town Hall 
St Peters Leisure Centre 
Covered Market Hall 
Towneley Hall 
Mechanics Institute 
Padiham Leisure Centre 
Prairie Sports Complex 
Padiham Town Hall 
Parker Lane Offices 
Burnley Bus Station 

Liberata were also requested to include the Crematorium and Sandygate Student 
Accommodation, to cover all highest emission buildings. However, the Crematorium site is 
being reviewed separately as part of the county-wide Crematorium De-carbonisation project. 
Sandygate was not included as it is a recent build where the gas boilers only supply hot 
water (heating is all electric), however, to assess improvements that can be made, Liberata 
are aiming to produce a basic HDP themselves for Sandygate, or this can be included in the 
next round of HDPs produced. Additionally, Charter Walk was acquired by the Council in 
August 2021 and data will be included in the carbon budget for vacant units and shared 
areas from 2022/23 onwards; this will also be a key site to produce a HDP for.     

As part of the HDP exercise, Eon will provide firm budget costs for the next stage of the 
process, which is to provide technical design and the proposed full schedule of works to de-
carbonise the sites to RIBA stage 3 as required by Salix Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme (PSDS).  
  
It is expected that there will be another round of Public Sector Low Carbon Skills Funding in 
April 2024. An application for funding to cover the costs of preparing the technical design 
and the proposed full schedule of work will be submitted into this round of funding. 
  
If successful in securing funding to pay for the technical design and proposed full schedule 
of works all sites can be considered for inclusion into the Autumn 2024 round of PSDS for a 
grant to assist in the funding of decarbonisation works.    
 
What this action will achieve: 

Page 33



- Will identify firm budget costs for next stages of decarbonisation works for Council 
buildings  

- Will assist in identifying and planning what works are able to be completed and when 
- Will identify buildings that are ‘quick-wins’ and can be decarbonised at a faster pace 
- Will identify buildings that are too costly or not possible to fully decarbonise  
- Will allow for the development of a clear plan of works with cost and timescales    

 
Challenges:  

- Lengthy process, which is potentially dependent on grant funding 
- If we don’t secure grant funding the costs to the Council could be significant 

 
 

• Scope 3 analysis software purchased to determine procurement 
emissions.  

• Budget approved. Timeframe: 2024 

A company will be commissioned to carry out analysis of the Council’s procurement 
(purchased goods and services) Scope 3 emissions. 

CO2Analysis have quoted £24,995 for analysis over 3 years. The cost to run the Council’s 
data is £9,995 for year 1, then £7,500 for years 2 and 3. It typically takes 2 weeks for data 
extraction and up to 2 weeks for the data analysis. They would aim to return a data set within 
a month from inception of project for year 1. The budget for this has been approved.  

Co2Analysis calculates an organisation’s supply chain carbon footprint from the ground up, 
by analysing all the individual purchases and adding these up to get the overall carbon 
footprint. This is in-line with the Greenhouse gas protocol and provides a best practice 
solution from the available data.  

They will run 3 years of data using AI, which will provide an analysis for each year and give a 
baseline for each of the years. The data pack highlights areas for review, top suppliers, top 
products, and top categories. They also provide a breakdown of carbon by department/ cost 
centre. 

The service on offer from SHIFT Environment is also being assessed to ensure value for 
money and quality of service. SHIFT use a different method of engaging with suppliers 
through surveys asking for their Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions. They would then analyse the 
results; they don’t use AI. Cost approx. £5,000 per year.  
 
Burnley Council has a relatively low number of purchases for a Council. With the exception 
of contracted companies such as Urbaser and Liberata, the Council is not a large procurer of 
goods and services, so the ability to achieve reductions from Scope 3 procurement 
emissions may not be as significant as for larger Councils. Annual costs for procured goods 
and services below.    
 
Annual Contracted Services cost Nov 2022- Nov 2023 (Group05): £11,594,034.58 
Liberata: £4,933,769.87 (Strategic Partnership - Service Delivery) 
Urbaser: £3,228,103.83 (Refuse Collection Services) 
Burnley Leisure: £978,098.84 (Grant/ Management Payment)  
Misc/ Other: £2,454,062.04  
 
Annual Supplies and Services cost Nov 2022- Nov 2023 (Group04): £7,149,609.96 

Page 34



(This includes additional spend with Urbaser/ Liberata within other categories e.g. Labour, 
Vehicle costs and Capital expenditure. Urbaser: £11,793.12. Liberata: £14,276.89). 
 
What this action will achieve: 

- Allow us to work towards measuring the Council’s complete Scope 3 emissions, 
alongside Scope 1 and 2. Scope 3 emissions usually account for more than 70% of 
an organisation’s emissions, so measuring and reducing this area of emissions is 
crucial.  

- Will put us ‘ahead of the game’ and show that the Council is willing to lead by 
example, as not many organisations are working on their procurement emissions yet. 
This may also save us money in the long run, by working on this now rather than 
later, and identifying areas of cost savings, as well as emissions savings. 

- Allow us to identify areas of procurement that can be reduced, reducing emissions 
and costs. 

- Allow us to identify carbon cost and financial cost of purchased goods and services. 
Any carbon cost will have a financial cost in the future when reducing or offsetting 
emissions; all purchased goods and services should have the lowest carbon cost 
possible. 

- Highlight areas of procurement that are wasteful e.g. ordering too much, ordering an 
expensive version when alternatives are available, ordering from a company far 
away/ in another country where local alternatives are available. 

 
Challenges:  

- It is a relatively new area of work measuring scope 3 procurement emissions and 
there is risk in finding the best method and company to measure these accurately.  

- If the approach is taken to ask the companies to complete surveys/ return data, there 
is the risk of a low response rate and weak output data.  

 

• Procurement emissions incorporated into Council's carbon budget to 
determine areas of highest emissions and inform emissions reductions.  

• No immediate costs. Timeframe: 2025, then annual 
 

 
• Staff commuting data gathered and incorporated into carbon budget. 

Options and incentives assessed.  
• No immediate costs. Timeframe: 2024, then annual 

Staff commuting data will be gathered through a survey sent to all Council and Burnley 
Leisure staff. This will identify staff commuting method, vehicle type, and distance travelled.  

This will be incorporated into the Council’s carbon budget using emissions calculations for 
staff that commute with a personal vehicle.    

This survey will be sent to all staff annually. 

What this action will achieve: 
- This will allow us to identify the emissions from staff commuting and look into areas 

where it may be possible to reduce them. 
- Consider opportunities to introduce an EV/hybrid car salary sacrifice scheme to 

encourage a move away from petrol/diesel vehicles and reduce staff commuting 
emissions. 

Page 35



- Consider incentive schemes for reduced bus/train tickets to encourage increased 
public transport use where possible. 

- Highlight walk/cycle to work days – consider incentives/ prizes to those participating. 
- Continue to offer cycle to work scheme and highlight this for increased uptake.  
- Decreased commuting with personal vehicles would give more space in Council car 

parks for increased EV fleet that will need to expand over the coming years. 
 
Challenges: 

- Not always possible for staff to commute using public transport e.g. rural areas. 
- EV/ hybrid cars are still expensive and changing the vehicles is not always possible.  

 
 

• Waste data incorporated into carbon budget.  
• No immediate costs. Timeframe: 2025, then annual 

The Council’s waste generated from its own operations will be gathered and incorporated 
into the carbon budget.  

This will include measuring organic waste, recyclable waste (paper and cardboard, plastics, 
glass, metals), non-recyclable commercial and industrial waste, and electronic waste.     

What this action will achieve: 
- Will allow us to measure, monitor and reduce the Council’s waste where possible. 
- Will allow us to monitor recycling rates and improve where necessary. 
- Will present the opportunity to examine high waste areas and see if they can be 

improved e.g. removing single-use plastic cups and replacing with mugs. 
- Indicate areas for increased recycling facilities, TerraCycle schemes for non-

recyclable items, etc. 
 
Challenges: 

- Hard to accurately measure all areas of Council waste, averages may need to be 
taken. 
 
 

• Carbon Literacy Silver award achieved.  
• Budget approved. Timeframe: April 2024 

£12,789 has already been spent from the Corporate Training Budget and Unallocated 
Budgets/ Special Items. £1,000 has been approved for the Silver application (based on 
current costs) from the Corporate Training Budget. £190 for certification of sufficient 
employees for Silver (based on current criteria) is available from the 2022/23 carry forward.     

The Council has already achieved the Carbon Literate Organisation Bronze award. Work is 
ongoing to roll out Carbon Literacy Training across Council staff and Councillors to achieve 
the Silver award, and eventually the Gold award. This will now be rolled out via trainers who 
have completed the Train the Trainer Course who will deliver the training to groups 
internally, which will reduce costs.   

What this action will achieve: 
- Have carbon literate staff across the Council to act as carbon champions and drive 

sustainability initiatives and climate actions. 
- Ensure staff and Councillors are aware of the seriousness of climate change, and the 

role they play in taking action and reducing emissions.  
- Demonstrate how every Council job role has a connection to reducing emissions and 

that it will be a whole Council effort to achieve net zero.  

Page 36



- Allow everyone to recognise how they can make a difference in their daily lives, at 
work and at home. 

 
Challenges: 

- Rolling out the training internally, rather than with online paid classes, will take longer 
due to trainers needing to take time out of their regular jobs to carry out the training 
sessions and necessary work. However, this will save money.  

- Some people may not recognise the importance of the training and not wish to 
participate.    
 

2025-2030 

• Transition all Council fleet cars and vans to electric by 2030.  

• Cost: Additional £101,863 over 7 years to replace 9 vans with electric 
alternatives. Timeframe: By 2030. 

Green Spaces & Amenities is the only service with diesel vehicles in their service’s fleet 
which includes 8 diesel Ford transit type vans and 1 small diesel van.   

None of these have a contract length/expected replacement date after 2030 so all can be 
potentially replaced before then.   

The table below shows the estimated combined purchase & operating costs and the CO2 
emissions over a 7-year vehicle life based on the use of the current vehicles. 

Vehicle  Location 
EV cost 

(7 years) 

EV CO2 
emissions 

(tonnes) 

Diesel 
cost (7 
years) 

Diesel 
CO2 

emissions 
(tonnes) 

Cost 
difference 

CO2 
saving 

(tonnes) 
Crew Cab 
Tipper Queens £66,828 

                      
2.4  £55,323 

                    
20.3  £11,506 

             
17.9  

Tipper 
Town centre 
team £66,957 

                      
3.2  £55,445 

                    
24.6  £11,512 

             
21.4  

Tipper 
Scott's park 
team £66,861 

                      
2.6  £58,132 

                    
20.5  £8,728 

             
17.9  

Tipper Padiham Team £66,968 
                      

3.2  £58,132 
                    

25.3  £8,836 
             

22.1  

Tipper Cemetery Team £66,602 
                      

1.1  £48,973 
                       

9.0  £17,629 
                

7.9  

Panel Van 
Playground 
Team £66,831 

                      
2.5  £48,831 

                    
17.6  £18,000 

             
15.1  

Tipper Tree Team £66,756 
                      

2.0  £54,655 
                    

19.1  £12,101 
             

17.1  

Panel Van 
Bowling green 
team £51,747 

                      
2.0  £46,898 

                    
14.2  £4,849 

             
12.2  

Pickup 
Playground/Litter 
team £53,927 

                      
3.0  £45,225 

                    
20.8  £8,702 

             
17.8  

    £573,477 
                   

22.0  £471,614 
                 

171.4  £101,863 
         

149.4  
 

The 7-year operating cost difference between electric and diesel is £101,863 which is an 
estimated additional cost of £14,552 per year and results in an annual reduction in CO2 
emissions of 21.3 tonnes.  

Note: the cost of larger electric vans may reduce as manufacturers bring more models to 
market. 

Page 37



GS&A already have 5 small electric vans, 1 electric ATV, and 3 e-bikes in their fleet. The 
experience of operating EVs is that they are far better than the IC (internal combustion) 
equivalent for the short distances travelled within Burnley.  

What this action will achieve: 
- Reduce Council’s emissions and ensure all future fleet cars and vans being procured 

are electric.  
- Remain in line with the UK ban on petrol and diesel cars and ensure the Council is 

ready for the transition. 
- Whilst there is a cost difference to transition to electric alternatives, there will be long-

term savings from replacing petrol/diesel which have rising costs.  
- Contribute to improved air quality – co-benefit for health of population  

 
Challenges: 

- Cost of vehicles 
- Potential cost of expanding electric charging infrastructure in Council carparks/at 

Council buildings as demand increases.   
 

 

• Transition all small parks equipment to battery electric (BE) by 2030. 

• Cost: Additional £18,197 over 5 years to replace with electric 
alternatives. Timeframe: By 2030 

Greenspaces currently operates a range of pedestrian and hand-held equipment. 

Some battery electric equipment is already in use, including 2 chainsaws, 2 handheld 
blowers, 5 hedge trimmers, 2 long reach hedge trimmers, 4 brush cutters, 1 large pedestrian 
mower, and 1 cylinder mower and one hybrid ride-on mower. The experience of operating 
BE equipment is that most items are excellent, but they require multiple batteries to operate.  

The table below shows the estimated combined purchase & operating costs and the CO2 
emissions over a 5-year life based on the current use of equipment (for petrol equipment a 
3-year operating life has been multiplied up to the 5-year expected life of battery electric).  

    Battery Electric Petrol 

Description Quantity 

total 
cost (5 
years) 

CO2 
(tonnes) 

Total cost 
(5 years) CO2 (tonnes) 

Blower (hand held) 14 £7,000   £35,653 
                                    

8.5  
Hedge Trimmer 9 £4,500   £18,840   
Extendable hedge 
trimmer 7 £2,625   £23,341 

                                    
3.2  

Strimmer 11 £3,850   £30,420 
                                    

6.7  

Smaller strimmer 6 £1,920   £26,145 
                                    

6.7  

Pedestrian mower 10 £14,990   £7,117 
                                    

7.5 
battery 59 £41,198 3.8*     
battery 36 £50,285 2.6*     
charger 95 £28,500       

Page 38



Bowling green 
Cylinder mower 1 £13,415   £9,500 

                                    
0.7  

charger 1 £930       
battery 1    0.25*     

    £169,213 6.65 £151,016 
                              

33.3  
 
*Note the CO2 emissions of BE equipment applies only to the batteries not to the ‘bare’ 
equipment, whereas each item of petrol will emit CO2.   

The estimated 5-year costs for purchasing and operating battery equipment, including fuel 
and servicing is £18,197 more than the equivalent costs for petrol equipment, at current 
prices. This is equivalent to an additional annual cost of £3,639 and will generate an 
estimated annual saving of 5.3 tonnes of CO2.  

There are a couple of other advantages to battery powered electric hand-held equipment: 
the risks of hand arm vibration are significantly lower and for some items of equipment such 
as strimmers, the noise levels are also lower.  

GS&A currently operates 7 large pedestrian mowers for which there are currently no suitable 
electric alternatives. The market for commercial battery equipment is developing at a pace 
and it is expected that suitable equipment will come to market before 2030. 

The greatest number of serviceable years for any of this type of machinery is 5 years, 
meaning all this equipment can potentially be replaced by 2030 without the need to replace 
machinery that has life left.   

What this action will achieve: 
- Will reduce the Council’s CO2 and NOx emissions. 
- Electric equipment significantly reduces Hand Arm Vibration and some noise risks.   
- Will reduce costs over time as we move away from petrol which has rising costs. 
- Electric equipment in most cases has a longer life span than petrol equipment.  
- Good publicity for what the council is doing by using electric vehicles/ equipment 

around the parks and public spaces  
 

Challenges: 
- Cost of equipment.  
- Running time not always as long as needed.  
- Batteries from one manufacturer may not work in another manufacturer’s equipment 

so choosing the right supplier is important and a challenge.  
- Running times for electrical equipment is not always accurate/as advertised (A full kit 

of electrical equipment could be provided to some park teams to monitor their 
progress over 12 months, this would determine the success rate of the equipment 
and could inform further purchases as the rest of the equipment is replaced) 
 
 

• Establish an EV salary sacrifice scheme to encourage the transition to 
EVs.  

• Cost: No immediate costs. Timeframe: By 2030.  

An EV salary sacrifice scheme will be implemented to assist staff with the transition away 
from petrol/diesel cars. There will also be a natural progression to EVs as prices lower over 

Page 39



time and petrol/diesel cars are phased out. This scheme will assist with lowering the 
Council’s emissions from staff using their own cars for business use.  

A survey sent to all heads of service showed that currently there are approximately 86 staff 
using their own vehicle for work purposes. Discussions took place with heads of service 
around how many fleet EVs would be needed to allow each service to move away from staff 
needing to use their own petrol/diesel cars for work purposes, considering job roles and 
frequency of business travel. However, the cost and carbon offset associated with this option 
would not have sufficient impact to make it a cost-effective contribution to reducing the 
Council’s carbon budget. Whereas the implementation of an EV salary sacrifice scheme 
encourages the natural move towards EVs, with no immediate costs.   

Aswell as this, heads of service/managers should be encouraging all staff to minimise car 
journeys wherever possible e.g. Teams meetings rather than in person meetings, taking 
public transport to meetings where appropriate, lining up out of office meetings to prevent 
going back and forward to the office and generating more miles/ emissions.  

Staff can be reminded that if taking public transport for meetings/work purposes that the 
costs of tickets can be reimbursed. They can also be advised that employees who use their 
own bicycle for work (cycling for work purposes, not commuting) are entitled to 20p per mile, 
tax-free. Some organisations match the amount they pay staff for car/van mileage and the 
Council could also consider implementing this to encourage staff not to use their cars where 
possible.  

What this action will achieve: 
- No immediate costs to setting up the scheme. 
- Reduce Council’s travel emissions.  
- Contribute to improved air quality. 
- Staff benefit/ encourages staff retention.  

 
Challenges: 

- Cost of expanding electric charging infrastructure in Council carparks/ at Council 
buildings over time. 

- Electricity capacity at Town Hall/ council building locations to install additional charge 
points. 

 
 

• By 2030, procurement emissions reduction 'quick-wins' implemented, to 
reduce Council's scope 3 emissions.  

• No immediate costs. Timeframe: Ongoing 

Through measuring and monitoring the Council's scope 3 procurement emissions, areas for 
‘quick-wins’ can be identified and emissions reduced. Areas of procurement that are wasteful 
e.g. areas we are ordering too much or ordering from a company far away/ in another 
country where local alternatives are available, can be identified and amended.  
 
As well as informing areas to reduce emissions, there is also the opportunity to highlight 
areas for cost savings.  
 
What this action will achieve: 

- Allow us to work towards reducing the Council’s complete Scope 3 emissions, 
alongside Scope 1 and 2. Scope 3 emissions usually account for more than 70% of 

Page 40



an organisation’s emissions, so measuring and reducing this area of emissions is 
crucial. 

- Identify areas for emissions savings and cost savings. 
 

Challenges: 
- Variable costs, cost savings may be made in some areas e.g. by identifying areas of 

waste/ over ordering, encouraging less printing if paper/ ink orders are excessive. But 
costs may increase in some areas if a significantly lower emissions company i.e. a 
more responsible company, or a local company, are more expensive.   

 
 

• Begin building decarbonisation works. 

Awaiting further information from decarbonisation plans and cost implications. 

What this action will achieve: 
- Reduce Council’s emissions. 
- More energy efficient buildings and lower energy consumption/ costs over time.  

 
Challenges: 

- High costs of decarbonising buildings.  
 

 

• Begin to introduce renewable energy tariff, increase % over time.  

Work ongoing to identify timescale options, costs, and the implications of changing our 
energy mix.  

The Council’s current electricity cost for 2022/23 is £797,339.04, on the standard tariff at 
0.2p per kWh. The gas cost for 2022/23 is £487,431.45.  

The budgets for 2023/24 are £1,017,416 for electricity and £726,331 for gas.  

It is unlikely that the Council will be able to change tariff until 2025 due to the current 
contract. It is due to renew soon but we do not have enough information about green tariffs 
to make an informed decision. The next time we can change our tariff will then be April 2025.   

What this action will achieve: 
- Reduce Council’s emissions from one of their main areas of emissions. 
- Impossible to achieve net zero without the move away from fossil fuel energy.  

 
Challenges: 

- Green tariffs are more expensive than current tariff.  
 

 

• Carbon Literacy Gold award achieved.  
• Cost: £1,850. Timeframe: 2026 

£1,850 for the Gold application (based on current costs) and certification of sufficient 
employees for Gold (based on current criteria) is available from the 2022/23 Corporate 
Training Budget carry forward.   

Page 41



The Council has already achieved the Carbon Literate Organisation Bronze award. Work is 
ongoing to roll out Carbon Literacy Training across Council staff and Councillors to achieve 
the Silver award, and eventually the Gold award. This will now be rolled out via trainers who 
have completed the Train the Trainer Course who will deliver the training to groups 
internally, which will reduce costs.   

What this action will achieve: 
- Have carbon literate staff across the Council to act as carbon champions and drive 

sustainability initiatives and climate actions. 
- Ensure staff and Councillors are aware of the seriousness of climate change, and the 

role they play in taking action and reducing emissions.  
- Demonstrate how every Council job role has a connection to reducing emissions and 

that it will be a whole Council effort to achieve net zero.  
- Allow everyone to recognise how they can make a difference in their daily lives, at 

work and at home. 
 
Challenges: 

- Rolling out the training internally, rather than with online paid classes, will take longer 
due to trainers needing to take time out of their regular jobs to carry out the training 
sessions and necessary work. However, this will save money.  

- Some people may not recognise the importance of the training and not wish to 
participate.    

 

 

2030-2035 

• Council achieves carbon neutral by 2030.  

• Cost: £3000 annually to be part of One Carbon World, plus £6 per carbon 
credit* (1 carbon credit = 1 ton) for remaining emissions. Timeframe: 
2030  

Through the climate change strategy, the Council are working to reduce emissions as much 
as possible by 2030, with the option to then offset remaining emissions with a scheme such 
as One Carbon World. 
 
Achieving carbon neutral demonstrates the Council's dedication to climate action, but will not 
replace climate action needed to reach net zero.  
 
*For cost reference, this would currently be approximately £16,600 for the Council’s scope 1, 
2 and (the partial calculated) scope 3 emissions. Cost will be dependent on the Council’s 
emissions in 2030. Reducing emissions as much as possible before 2030 will reduce 
offsetting costs.  

What this action will achieve: 
- Demonstrate the Council’s commitment to taking action against climate change and 

responsibility for their emissions. 
- Encourage a push to reduce emissions as much as possible before 2030 to reduce 

the amount of carbon offsetting needed and minimise costs.   
 
Challenges:  

- Cost. 

Page 42



- Ensure it does not slow down efforts to reduce emissions, offsetting is a responsible 
action to take and shows dedication to climate action, but needs to work alongside 
the move to net zero. 

 

• Move Council energy onto 100% renewable tariff.  

Work ongoing to identify timescale options and costs. 

 
What this action will achieve: 

- Reduce Council’s emissions from one of their main areas of emissions. 
- Impossible to achieve net zero without the move away from fossil fuel energy.  

 
Challenges: 

- Green tariffs are more expensive than current tariff. 
 

 

• Building decarbonisation works. 

Awaiting further information from decarbonisation plans and cost implications. 

 

2035-2040 

• Council's direct emissions reduced by 78% by 2035 in line with UK 
target.  

What this action will achieve: 
- Remaining in line with the UK target shows dedication to taking action against 

climate change and gives confidence in the Council’s targets.  
- The Council will be leading by example to encourage others to take ambitious climate 

action. 
- Not being ambitious in this early stage may lead to building up the costs and having 

to find a larger budget over a shorter timescale, rather than spreading the costs 
between now and 2050. 

- Keeping in line with this target will ensure our emissions are reduced as much as 
possible, reducing the costs of being in a carbon neutral scheme which will 
commence in 2030. 
 

Challenges: 
- Steep emissions reductions will be needed before 2035 in order to achieve this goal.  

 

• Transition larger parks equipment/ vehicles to electric.  

• Costs: Not yet available. Timeframe: By 2040. 

GS&A currently operates 29 items of diesel plant and machinery such as tractors, ride-on 
mowers, small utility vehicles, quad bikes, 360˚ diggers, road sweeper and other 
miscellaneous equipment.  

Page 43



For many of these there are not suitable or realistically priced EV alternatives available. For 
example, an EV ride-on mower that was tested cost over £100,000 compared to the £25,000 
cost of the diesel equivalent. Costs will come down as the larger manufacturers develop 
models. 

For the reason given above, a detailed calculation of costs and CO2 savings for transition is 
not available but will be developed as realistically priced equipment becomes available. 

What this action will achieve: 
- Reduce Council’s emissions.  
- Contribute to improved air quality. 

 
Challenges: 

- Technology is not there yet for some larger equipment and vehicles, unknown when 
these will be available and unknown costs.  

 

 

• Transition refuse collection vehicles and street cleansing to electric/ 
hydrogen equivalents, where available.  

• £4,490,000- 4,520,000 to replace with electric alternatives (difference 
from diesel £2,355,000 - £2,375,000 more), plus cost of large electric 
sweeper when alternative available. By 2040. 

This will involve transitioning RCVs and street cleansing vehicles to electric or hydrogen 
equivalents at the earliest possible date. Electric is currently the more likely route due to 
costs and infrastructure, but emerging technologies will be monitored.  

Streetscene are also currently looking at the cost implications and carbon saving of changing 
the Urbaser fleet to biodiesel. Agreement has been reached with Urbaser that they would be 
willing to move the fleet to biodiesel providing we covered the additional cost. More 
information to come. 

The Council currently has 9 RCVs, 7 cage vehicles, and 4 sweepers (3 small and 1 large).  

The contract for these vehicles runs until June 2025, but could possibly be extended. Costs 
rather than contract length will be the reason for doing this transition by 2040. Costs will 
likely decrease by 2040.  

REFUSE COLLECTION VEHICLE x 9  

EV option: £400,000 (£3,600,000 for 9) 

Diesel version: £150,000 (£1,350,000 for 9) 

CAGE VEHICLES x 7 

EV option: £80,000 (all 7.5 tonnes/ large due to batteries) (£560,000 for 7) 

Diesel version: £40,000 for 3.5 tonnes (small), £60,000 for 7.5 tonnes (large) (£420,000 for 
7)  

SMALL SWEEPERS x 3 

EV option: £110,000-120,000 (£330,000-360,000 for 3) 

Page 44



Diesel version: £75,000-85,000 (prices are variable, depends on manufacturer and they 
fluctuate quite a lot) (£225,000-255,000 for 3) 

LARGE SWEEPER x 1 

EV option: No alternative yet 

Diesel version: £120,000-140,000 (prices are variable, depends on manufacturer and they 
fluctuate quite a lot)  

Total EV costs £4,490,000- 4,520,000 (plus cost of large electric sweeper when available), 
total diesel costs £2,115,000- 2,165,000 (difference £2,355,000- 2,375,000).   

Despite initial high costs for electric RCVs, reports have shown that by taking whole life 
costs of electric and diesel RCV options into consideration, cost difference is minimal (Figure 
1).   

‘Biffa report service, maintenance, and repair (SMR) costs for a diesel RCV to be an average 
of £5,000 per annum, this expenditure is weighted towards the latter part of the vehicle’s life. 
Electric RCVs should cost less than this, in part due to a drastic reduction in the number of 
moving parts in the drive train of an electric vehicle. The reduction in eRCV SMR is 
conservatively estimated at 30%, which Electra agree is a reasonable figure, putting an 
electric RCV’s average annual SMR at £3,500’. (https://democracy.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf) 

 
Figure 1: Life cost and emissions comparisons for electric vs diesel RCVs, from a study by Manchester City 
Council, demonstrating a minimal life cost difference and significant emissions difference. 

https://democracy.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf  

What this action will achieve: 

Page 45

https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf
https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf
https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf
https://democracy.brighton-hove.gov.uk/documents/s159941/Fleet%20Strategy%20APX.%20n%204.pdf


- Reduce emissions from one of the Council’s highest areas of emissions.  
- Contribute to improved air quality. 

 
Challenges: 

- Considerations for range of RCVs is needed, need to be able to complete journeys 
before needing to charge.  

- Charge stations/ points will be needed – amount needed and costs will need to be 
calculated.  

 

• Building decarbonisation works. 

No further information or costs available yet. 

 

2040-2045 

• Building decarbonisation works. 

No further information or costs available yet. 

 

2045-2050 

• Final building decarbonisation works are completed. 

No further information or costs available yet. 

 

• Emissions are reduced as close to zero as possible. Any remaining 
emissions are offset.  

At this stage, offsetting schemes should only be used for remaining emissions that are 
impossible to remove by other means.   

 

 

The Auditor’s Annual Report has made the following improvement recommendation:  

The Council should calculate the estimated costs of delivering their Climate Change Strategy 
and build them into the MTFS (Medium Term Financial Strategy).  

Management comments: The Council has an approved carbon reduction capital budget of 
£280k in its 2023/24 capital programme. This is being utilised to provide for some carbon 
reduction measures, such as voltage optimisation, led retrofits and survey works to assess 
the cost of works required to meet the Council's objectives under the Climate Change 
Strategy. A budget for ongoing climate change initiatives has been built in to the 2024/25 
revenue budget, which will be kept under review. An assessment of 'one off' items of 
expenditure will be caried out based on the Climate Change Strategy and be built into the 
MTFS accordingly. 

Page 46



In addition to the Management Response, the Council have also since included the costs 
identified in this net zero report in the Council’s Capital Investment Programme for the period 
2024/25 to 2028/29.  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



This roadmap will support a wider suite of documents, including the Climate Change Strategy, the Council’s Carbon Budget, and Annual Action Plan Updates. 
 

2020-2025

•HDPs produced 
for all Council 
buildings to 
determine 
decarbonisation 
works costs and 
timeframes. 
Budget approved.

•Scope 3 analysis 
software 
purchased to 
determine 
procurement 
emissions. Budget 
approved.

•Procurement 
emissions 
incorporated into 
Council's carbon 
budget to 
determine areas 
of highest 
emissions and 
inform emissions 
reductions. No 
immediate costs. 

•Staff commuting 
data gathered and 
incorporated into 
carbon budget. 
Options and 
incentives 
assessed. No 
immediate costs.

•Waste data 
incorporated into 
carbon budget. No 
immediate costs.

•Carbon Literacy 
Silver award 
achieved. Budget 
approved. 

2025-2030

•Transition all 
Council fleet cars 
and vans to 
electric by 2030. 
Additional 
£101,863

•Transition all small 
parks equipment 
to battery electric 
by 2030. 
Additional 
£18,197 

•Establish an EV 
salary sacrifice 
scheme to 
encourage the 
transition to EVs. 
No immediate 
costs.  

•By 2030, 
procurement 
emissions 
reduction 'quick-
wins' 
implemented, to 
reduce Council's 
scope 3 emissions.

•Begin building 
decarbonisation 
works.

•Begin to introduce 
renewable energy 
tariff, increase % 
over time. 

•Carbon Literacy 
Gold award 
achieved. £1,850

2030-2035

•Council achieves 
carbon neutral by 
2030. £3,000 
annually plus £6 
per carbon credit 
(1 carbon credit = 
1 ton).

•Move Council 
energy onto 100% 
renewable tariff. 

•Building 
decarbonisation 
works.

2035-2040

•Council's direct 
emissions reduced 
by 78% by 2035 in 
line with UK 
target. 

•Transition larger 
parks equipment/ 
vehicles to 
electric. Costs not 
yet available.

•Transition refuse 
collection vehicles 
and street 
cleansing to 
electric/ hydrogen 
equivalents, 
where available. 
Additional 
£2,355,000 - 
£2,375,000 to 
replace with 
electric. (Plus cost 
of large electric 
sweeper when 
available).    

•Building 
decarbonisation 
works.

2040-2045

•Building 
decarbonisation 
works. 

2045-2050

•Final building 
decarbonisation 
works are 
completed.

•Emissions are 
reduced as close 
to zero as 
possible. Any 
remaining 
emissions are 
offset.

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Roadmap to Net Zero Action Plan  

Action Timescale Cost 
2020-2025 
HDPs produced for all 
Council buildings to 
determine decarbonisation 
works costs and timeframes. 

March 2024 Budget approved. 

Scope 3 analysis software 
purchased to determine 
procurement emissions. 

2024 Budget approved. 

Procurement emissions 
incorporated into Council's 
carbon budget to determine 
areas of highest emissions 
and inform emissions 
reductions. 

2025, then annual No immediate costs 

Staff commuting data 
gathered and incorporated 
into carbon budget. Options 
and incentives assessed. 

2024, then annual No immediate costs. 

Waste data incorporated 
into carbon budget. 

2025, then annual No immediate costs. 

Carbon Literacy Silver 
award achieved. 

April 2024 Budget approved. 

2025-2030 
Transition all Council fleet 
cars and vans to electric by 
2030. 

By 2030 Additional £101,863. 

Transition all small parks 
equipment to battery electric 
by 2030. 

By 2030 Additional £18,197.  

Establish an EV salary 
sacrifice scheme to 
encourage the transition to 
EVs.  

By 2030 No immediate costs.   

By 2030, procurement 
emissions reduction 'quick-
wins' implemented, to 
reduce Council's scope 3 
emissions. 

Ongoing No immediate costs.  

Begin building 
decarbonisation works. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Begin to introduce 
renewable energy tariff, 
increase % over time. 

Work ongoing to identify 
timescale options, costs, 
and the implications of 
changing our energy mix. 

Work ongoing to identify 
timescale options, costs, 
and the implications of 
changing our energy mix. 

Carbon Literacy Gold award 
achieved.  

2026 £1,850.  

2030-2035 
Council achieves carbon 
neutral by 2030. 

2030 £3,000 annually plus £6 per 
carbon credit (1 carbon 
credit = 1 ton).  

Page 51



Move Council energy onto 
100% renewable tariff.  

Work ongoing to identify 
timescale options and costs. 

Work ongoing to identify 
timescale options and costs. 

Building decarbonisation 
works.  

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications.  

2035-2040 
Council's direct emissions 
reduced by 78% by 2035 in 
line with UK target.  

2035  

Transition larger parks 
equipment/ vehicles to 
electric.  

By 2040 Costs not yet available.  

Transition refuse collection 
vehicles and street 
cleansing to electric/ 
hydrogen equivalents, 
where available. 

By 2040 Additional £2,355,000 - 
£2,375,000 to replace with 
electric. (Plus cost of large 
electric sweeper when 
available).   

Building decarbonisation 
works.  

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

2040-2045 
Building decarbonisation 
works. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

2045-2050 
Final building 
decarbonisation works are 
completed. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Awaiting further information 
from decarbonisation plans 
and cost implications. 

Emissions are reduced as 
close to zero as possible. 
Any remaining emissions 
are offset.  

By 2050  

 

Page 52



Carbon budget graph 

Setting a baseline of 2018/19 (from when accurate energy data is available), Burnley 
Borough Council has mapped its carbon budget and the annual emission reductions needed 
to reach net zero.  

The trajectory for reaching net zero by 2050 has been set out (Figure 1). In order to stay in 
line with UK climate targets and achieve a reduction of at least 78% by 2035, and net zero 
by 2050, we would currently require an emissions reduction of around 126.86 tCO2e per 
year until 2035, and 43.45 tCO2e per year until 2050.    

Urgent action will be required to achieve these targets and the Roadmap to Net Zero allows 
actions to be prioritised and a feasible route to achieving net zero to be set out.   

 
Figure 1: Trajectory to reach net zero by 2050, with a 78% reduction in emissions by 2035. 

The council’s baseline 2018/19 emissions were 2764.98 tCO2e, these have reduced slightly 
each year up until the current reported year 2021/22 where emissions spiked to 2762.49 
tCO2e. The reason for the spike in 2021/22 emissions is mostly due to the addition of St 
Peter’s Leisure centre electricity data, and Sandygate student accommodation gas data. 
Due to St Peter’s being a CHP (combined heat and power) site, and complications with 
invoices, electricity data is included from 2021/22 onwards due to energy data availability. 
Similarly, due to availability of Sandygate gas data, gas emissions have been included from 
2021/22 onwards (the site was acquired in 2020/21 and electricity data was available and 
included from that point).    

Spikes in emissions are anticipated as the council takes on new buildings, for example, 
Charter Walk was acquired in August 2021 and data will be included for vacant units and 
shared areas from 2022/23 onwards. Spikes can also be expected as the Council begins to 
incorporate more scope 3 emissions into their carbon budget (e.g. commuting, procurement, 
waste). This is usual and any steep spikes or declines in emissions will be reported for full 
transparency. As decarbonisation works are implemented this is expected to level out.     

Please refer to the Council’s Carbon Budget Report for further breakdown of the Council’s 
emissions.     

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Selective Licensing – Consultation on Future Proposals  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

DATE 13th March 2024 
PORTFOLIO Housing and Development Control 
REPORT AUTHOR Lauren Dickens 
TEL NO 01282 475840 

 
EMAIL ldickens@burnley.gov.uk 

 
PURPOSE 

 
1. To approve the consultation and evidence gathering for the proposal to designate 

six areas for selective licensing.  The draft case proposal document (attached as 
Appendix 1) sets out the Council’s reasons for proposing to designate the below 
areas for Selective Licensing. The draft proposed designation area maps and street 
lists are attached as appendices. 
 

a. Trinity (Appendices 2 and 3) 
b. Queensgate (Appendices 4 and 5) 
c. Gannow (Appendices 6 and 7) 
d. Daneshouse and Stoneyholme (Appendices 8 and 9) 
e. Padiham (Appendices 10 and 11) 
f. Lyndhurst Road Area (Appendices 12 and 13) 

 
2. To approve the proposed Fee and Charging Structure for consultation. (Appendix 

14). 
 

3. To approve the proposed Staffing Structure for consultation. (Appendix 15). 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

4. That the carrying out of consultation in relation to the following areas proposed for 
selective licensing is approved: 

a. Trinity 
b. Queensgate 
c. Gannow 
d. Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 
e. Padiham 
f. Lyndhurst Road Area 

 
5. That the Head of Housing and Development Control is authorised: 

a. To approve the final proposed fee structure, staffing structure, case proposal 
document, proposed designation boundaries and areas for consultation, 
dates for consultation, Fit and Proper Person Criteria and Licence 
Conditions; and 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



b. To carry out consultation in relation to those areas proposed for selective 
licensing (authorising such officers for that purpose as may be necessary). 
 

6. That the Executive approve the appointment of a Project Assistant at Grade 8 
(subject to ongoing Job Evaluation) for the period April 2024 to January 2025.  
 

7. That the Executive approve in principle upfront payment for statutory notices of 
designation in local newspapers, should the schemes by approved by the Secretary 
of State. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 
8. To enable the statutory consultation of residents, landlords and stakeholders in the 

proposed areas.  
 

9. To ensure the consultation includes a proposed fee structure, proposal documents 
and agreed proposed boundaries and consultation area to assist in the delivery and 
analysis of the statutory consultation. 
 

10. To enable any issues to be addressed and evaluated before presenting the final 
proposal for the proposed selective licensing areas to the Executive Committee in 
August 2024. 
 

 
SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS 

 
Background to Selective Licensing 
 

11. Poor housing management and low standards in the private rented sector can 
contribute to the failure of a local housing market. Residents leave the area, house 
prices fall, speculative landlords move in, and the local community becomes 
weaker. Low demand and antisocial behaviour can result in unsettled communities, 
along with other associated social and economic problems. These problems can 
undermine efforts to regenerate an area. 

 
12. Selective licensing was introduced by the Housing Act 2004. It allows local housing 

authorities to designate selective licensing areas in neighbourhoods if the area is 
experiencing one or more of the following conditions:  
 

i. Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area) 
ii. A significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour 
iii. Poor property condition 
iv. High levels of migration 
v. High level of deprivation 
vi. High levels of crime 

 
13. The Renters (Reform) Bill intends to introduce a new Private Rented Sector 

Database, which will support the future digital Privately Rented Property Portal 
service. All landlords will be legally required to register themselves and their 
properties on the Property Portal and could be subject to penalties if they market or 

Page 56



let out a property without registering it and providing the required information. 
 

14. The Property Portal is intended to provide local councils with more data about 
private sector properties. One of the biggest and most time-consuming barriers 
faced by local councils is identifying poor quality and non-compliant private rented 
sector properties and who owns them.  
 

15. Government guidance on the proposed Renters (Reform) Bill indicates that the 
Property Portal will assist local authorities who currently operate selective licensing 
schemes, helping Councils to continue delivering positive outcomes for their areas. 

 
The Proposed Areas 
 

16. This report seeks the approval to consult on six proposed selective licensing 
designations in areas within Trinity, Queensgate, Gannow, Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme, Padiham and the Lyndhurst Road area. The Trinity, Queensgate, 
Gannow and Daneshouse and Stoneyholme areas are subject to current selective 
licensing designations that come to an end in October 2024. The Padiham and 
Lyndhurst Road areas have not previously been designated under selective 
licensing. 
 

17. In addition to those areas listed above, the Council operates two further licensing 
schemes in Burnley Wood with Healey Wood and the Leyland Road area, which are 
designated from 2022-2027.  

 
18. The proposal document presents the case for selective licensing and whilst it 

demonstrates that all six areas suffer the effects of low demand, the four current 
designations of Trinity, Gannow, Queensgate and Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 
are showing some signs of improvement. Since the introduction of the current 
selective licensing designations in 2019 some notable improvements are: 

 
• A reduction in the percentage of empty homes 
• An increase in average house prices 
• Improvements in energy efficiency ratings 
• Reductions in ASB reports to the Council 

 
19. Whilst improvements can be seen, the areas still rank amongst the highest in the 

borough for indicators of low demand. Further selective licensing designations will 
help sustain and build on the improvements being seen and strengthen the housing 
markets and communities to help address the issues of low demand.  
 

20. The Daneshouse and Stoneyholme designation was also designated on the basis 
of poor property condition. Concerns surrounding poor property condition were 
documented in a “Private Sector Improvement Scheme” in 2016, in which it was 
identified almost half of rented properties in what was to become the licensing area 
did not have sufficient smoke detection, a valid energy performance certificate, or 
had serious hazards. In addition, 73% were found to have no gas safety certificate. 
The introduction of licensing in 2019 has allowed officers to continue to focus 
proactively on rented properties in this area. Whilst we have seen improvements, 
there is still sufficient evidence to suggest that further intervention is needed in this 
area. 
 

Page 57



21. Padiham and the Lyndhurst Road area have not previously been subject to 
selective licensing, however initial data suggests that they may be areas of low 
demand, or are at risk of becoming areas of low demand. Both areas are estimated 
to have higher than average levels of category 1 hazards, and there appear to be 
landlords operating in these areas who are not compliant with energy efficiency 
regulations. There is evidence to suggest both areas could benefit from a selective 
licensing scheme. 

 
Results of Statistical Evidence 
 

22. In order to determine whether the proposed designation areas are a priority in terms 
of considering the introduction or continuation of selective licensing a statistical 
comparison has been undertaken across the borough.  

 
23. Information has been analysed from a number of sources, including modelling data 

from the “Integrated Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling and Database” 
compiled for Burnley Council by Building Research Establishment Limited (BRE) in 
2023. Officers began by plotting data which estimated the location of the private 
rented sector across the entire borough. This enabled officers to identify areas with 
a high number of rented properties. Further analysis of variables including 
estimated hazards and disrepair enabled officers to identify areas which warranted 
further investigation. Both Padiham and the Lyndhurst Road Area were identified as 
areas of high private renting which warranted further investigation. 

 
24. Additional data from a number of key variables including: private rented properties, 

vacant properties, housing disrepair complaints, property inspections, 
environmental crime, and antisocial behaviour were then analysed across the 
borough at ward level. The wards in which the proposed designation areas are 
situated exhibit some of the highest problems in the borough on these measures. A 
further concentrated analysis was undertaken using statistics within the proposed 
designation areas. This shows that the proposed designation areas have high levels 
of private rented properties that are in poor condition and that the areas exhibit 
signs of low house demand. 
 

 
Consultation For a Selective Licensing Designation 
 

25. Before a new designation can be approved, the Council must consult for a period of 
not less than 10 weeks.  It is proposed that this consultation process commences in 
April 2024 and runs for 10 weeks into June. The formal consultation will invite all 
residents, landlords, businesses and agencies working in the designation areas to 
comment on the proposals. Council staff will meet with representative groups and 
individuals to discuss the proposals, as well as attend public and private meetings 
and produce written information.  The results of this consultation will be carefully 
scrutinised and will feed into the final proposal to the Council’s Executive 
Committee. 
 

26. It is proposed that the following methods be used to ensure that a full consultation 
exercise is completed: 
 

• Posters in the area, local businesses, schools, community centres, health 
centres, public buildings  etc., 

Page 58



• Leaflets to residents, placed in local businesses, community centres, 
health centres, public buildings etc., 

• Resident Questionnaires delivered to every household in the proposed 
consultation areas, 

• Landlord Questionnaire emailed or posted to every known landlord and 
agent in the designation areas, 

• Questionnaires emailed or posted to local businesses in the consultation 
areas, 

• Public event for residents to attend, 
• Consultation of the Private Rented Sector Forum, 
• Landlord meetings. 
 

27. Following the consultation period, it is anticipated that the results will be presented 
to the Executive in August 2024. 

 
Staff Resources 
 

28. Existing resources within the private sector housing team will be utilised to prepare 
for the statutory consultation process, which will include: 

• The preparation of questionnaires; 
• Finding and inputting landlord details/property details; 
• Sending out questionnaires; 
• Organising landlord and residents consultation events; 

 
29. For the statutory consultation period of April-June 2024, and from July 2024 an 

additional full time Project Assistant will be required to:   
 

• Input responses from landlord and residents questionnaires 
• Send out reminder letters/emails during the consultation period 
• Analyse the results and prepare reports from the information gathered via 

questionnaires 
• Prepare presentations and key information for the landlord and resident 

events 
• Attend landlord and resident events 
• Meet with landlord representative groups such as the National Landlords 

Association 
• Respond to all queries and comments raised during the consultation 

returns by letter and emails 
• Deal with all enquiries via email, letter, telephone and in person during 

the consultation period. 
• Obtain and manage contact information for landlords in proposed 

additional areas.  
 
 
Proposed Fee Structure 
 

30. The Housing Act 2004 enables local authorities to charge a fee for all functions 
associated with the administration of a selective licensing scheme.   
 

31. Each application will need to be subject to the “fit and proper person” criteria, with 
information being provided to enable the decision making process to take place. 

Page 59



The decision to grant or refuse a licence will have to follow the prescribed format as 
outlined in the Housing Act, with statutory notices and periods for objection. 
 

32. All fees will be calculated based on the staff needed to cover the processing of the 
estimated number of applications and the monitoring and development of the 
scheme.  Costing estimates for the scheme include salaries and on costs and all 
anticipated non-salary revenue spend e.g. printing costs, legal fees. 
 

 
Secretary of State Approval 
 

33. If the proposed designation areas, when combined with the current selective 
licensing schemes, affect more than 20% of private rented properties in the 
Borough then confirmation must be sought from the Secretary of State. 
 

34. The current selective licensing areas of Burnley Wood with Healey Wood and the 
Leyland Road area currently affect 9% of the private rented sector. Following the 
statutory consultation period, if the Executive subsequently approves the proposed 
designation areas, the combined designations will affect more than 20% of the 
private rented sector. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND BUDGET PROVISION 
 
 

35. The additional staff required during the statutory consultation period will require a 
budget of £37,102 (subject to Job Evaluation) for the period of April 2024 to January 
2025. Consultation with the Head of Finance and Property is required to establish 
where this will initially be met from, and it will be repaid from licensing fee income 
providing the Council receives approval from the Secretary of State to designate the 
schemes.  
 

36. Should the proposed designations be approved by the Secretary of State, the 
Council will be required to publish a number of statutory notices in local 
newspapers. The estimated cost to publish the notices for six areas is £60,000, 
which would then be repaid from fee income throughout the scheme. 

 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 

37. None as the approval is seeking permission to undertake a consultation exercise 
only. 

 
 

DETAILS OF CONSULTATION 
 
 

38. The Private Rented Sector Forum, Streetscene, Governance and Law, People and 
Development, Finance and Property. 

 
 

Page 60



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 

39. None. 
 
 

FURTHER INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT:  
Paul Gatrell 01282 477230 Lauren Dickens 01282 475840  

Page 61



 
 
 

Page 62



1 

Appendix 1 

 

Statement of Case for Designating Selective Licensing 
Areas 2025-2030: 

Trinity 

Queensgate 

Gannow 

Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 

Padiham 

Lyndhurst Road 
 

 

March 2024 

Page 63



2 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction 
2. The Strategic Significance for Burnley and Padiham 
3. What is a Selective Licensing Scheme? 

Legal Framework and Guidance 
Consequences of Designating a Selective Licensing Area 
Implications of Letting a Property Without a Licence 

4. Burnley’s Profile 
Population 
Deprivation 
Housing Type 
Housing Tenure 
Empty Homes 
Stock Condition 
Fuel Poverty 
Housing Market 
Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

5 Ward Level Data 
6 The Trinity Proposed Designation 
7 The Queensgate Proposed Designation 
8 The Gannow Proposed Designation 
9 The Daneshouse & Stoneyholme Proposed Designation 
10 The Padiham Proposed Designation 
11 The Lyndhurst Road Area Proposed Designation 
12 Option Appraisal 
13 How Does Selective Licensing Support the Council’s Housing Strategy? 
14 Supporting and Complementary Activity 
15 Administration of the Designation Area 
16 Compliance with the Current Selective Licensing Areas 
17 Risk Assessment 
18 Consultation 
19 Expected Outcomes of the Proposed Designations 
20 Conclusion 
21 Recommendations 

 

Page 64



3 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Selective licensing was introduced by the Housing Act 2004. It allows local housing 

authorities to designate selective licensing areas in neighbourhoods if the area is 
experiencing one or more of the following conditions: 
• Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area) 
• A significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour 
• Poor property condition 
• High levels of migration 
• High level of deprivation 
• High levels of crime 

 
1.2 A designation can be in force for a maximum of 5 years. Within a designation all privately 

rented properties (except exemptions) require a licence to operate. The owner of the 
rented property will need to ensure an application is made to the Council for a licence. The 
licence is valid for a maximum of 5 years and will include a set of conditions licence 
holder must meet. Breach of the licence conditions is a criminal offence, as is operating 
without a licence, which could lead to a prosecution with an unlimited fine or a maximum 
civil penalty of £30,000. 
 

1.3 This document sets out the proposal and reasons for proposing to designate six 
selective licensing designations in Burnley and Padiham. 
 

 

2 The Strategic Significance to Burnley and Padiham 
2.1 The Community Strategy for Burnley: Burnley’s Future 2017-2020 set out an ambitious 

vision to be achieved by 2032. It is based around the three main themes of: 
• Prosperity: how we will grow the economy,  
• People: how we will help people lead healthier lives and help the next 

generation to realise it’s potential, and  
• Places: how we will improve housing and make the neighbourhoods in the 

borough cleaner, greener and safer. 
 
2.2 Burnley is moving towards the realisation of this vision; the economy is growing, and the 

population is starting to increase. This growth is being assisted by multiple large-scale 
regeneration activities including train connectivity to Manchester, expansion of the 
University of Central Lancashire Burnley Campus, heritage lead developments, new 
business parks, town centre improvements and new housing. All of which is creating an 
attractive option for people to live, work and study in Burnley. 
 

2.3 Central to supporting our successful growth is ensuring the Borough offers the right 
quality and type of accommodation to meet current and future demand. Well managed, 
good quality private rented accommodation plays a significant role in our housing offer and 
is an important sector within our diverse housing market. 
 

2.4 There are however pockets of low demand in the inner areas of Burnley and Padiham 
where there are significantly high numbers of private rented properties which are not 
operating to the required standard. This has contributed to creating areas of low demand, 
which deters people from moving into, or remaining in these neighbourhoods. Selective 
licensing is an important part of the wider housing strategy to tackle this low demand and 
problematic neighbourhood characteristics. Our approach is to take a targeted and 

Page 65



4 

coordinated approach that brings together a range of initiatives that tackle empty homes, 
environmental crime, anti-social behaviour, poor housing conditions and unsatisfactory 
management practices. Selective licensing is central to this neighbourhood regeneration 
strategy; it coordinates activity and works with both residents, landlords and letting 
agents to have the maximum impact in a designated area. This in turn helps to improve 
the housing and neighbourhoods which contributes to achieving Burnley’s vision for the 
borough. 
 

3 What is a Selective Licensing Scheme? 

 Legal Framework and Guidance 
3.1 The relevant selective licensing legislation is within the Housing Act 2004 (“The Act”) 

and The Selective Licensing of Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015, 
supported by two guidance documents published by the Department of Communities 
and Local Government: 

• Approval Steps for Additional and Selective Licensing Designations in England; and 
 

• Selective licensing in the private rented sector; A Guide for local authorities 
 

3.2 Selective licensing is a regulatory tool provided by the Act; it gives local authorities 
the power to designate the whole of, or parts of, their district for selective licensing 
provided that the area is experiencing one or more of the conditions detailed in 
paragraph 1.1 of this document. 
 

3.3 In considering whether to designate an area for selective licensing on the grounds of 
property condition, migration, deprivation, and crime the local housing authority may 
only make a designation if the area has a high proportion of property in the private 
rented sector.  
 

3.4 When considering whether to make a selective licensing designation a local housing 
authority must first identify the objective or objectives that a designation will help it 
achieve. The local housing authority must also consider whether there are any other 
courses of action available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives 
as the proposed scheme without the need for the designation to be made. 
 

3.5 If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small number of 
properties, a local housing authority should consider making a Special Interim 
Management Order, rather than a selective licensing designation to cover those 
properties associated with the anti-social behaviour. 
 

3.6 Only where there is no practical and beneficial alternative to a designation should a 
scheme be made. If the local housing authority decides there is no practical and 
beneficial alternative to the scheme, it must only make the designation if it is satisfied 
that the scheme will significantly assist it in achieving its objective or objectives 
together with other actions the local housing authority may be taking. 
 

3.7 Any designation made must ensure that the exercise of the power is consistent with 
their overall housing strategy. It must seek to adopt a coordinated approach in 
connection with other initiatives such as dealing with homelessness, tackling empty 
properties, and addressing anti-social behaviour. 
 
 

3.8 The Renters (Reform) Bill will introduce a new Private Rented Sector Database, 

Page 66



5 

which will support the future digital Privately Rented Property Portal service. All 
landlords will be legally required to register themselves and their properties on the 
Property Portal and could be subject to penalties if they market or let out a property 
without registering it and providing the required information. 
 

3.9 The Property Portal is intended to provide local councils with more data about private 
sector properties. One of the biggest and most time-consuming barriers faced by 
local councils is identifying poor quality and non-compliant private rented sector 
properties and who owns them.  
 

3.10 Government guidance on the proposed Renters (Reform) Bill indicates that 
the Property Portal will assist local authorities who currently operate selective 
licensing schemes; helping Council’s to continue delivering positive outcomes for 
their areas. 

 

Consequences of designating a selective licensing area 
 

3.11 If a selective licensing area is designated, any private landlord wishing to 
operate within the area must obtain a licence for every tenanted house within the 
designated area. The power does not permit local housing authorities to require 
licensing of houses that have been made exempt under the Selective Licensing of 
Houses (Specific Exemptions) (England) Order 2006 (such as business tenancies, 
tenancies with a genuine term over 21 years, holiday lettings etc.), or a property that 
is subject to a tenancy or licence granted by a body which is registered as a social 
landlord under Part 1 of the Housing Act 1996. 
 

3.12 An application for a licence would need to be submitted for each property in 
accordance with specified requirements. The Council is entitled to charge a fee that 
accompanies the application. 
 

3.13 As part of this application process, proposed licence holders and managers 
will be required to provide information that they are “fit and proper persons” and that 
they have satisfactory management arrangements in place, including dealing with 
anti-social behaviour and repairs. Further details of the proposed “fit and proper 
person” criteria can be found in Appendix A. In circumstances where the Council are 
not satisfied that the licence holder or manager are a “fit and proper person”, and/or 
the management arrangements are unsatisfactory, then it can refuse to grant a 
licence. 
 

3.14 The licence is valid for up to 5 years. A licence will have conditions (Appendix 
B) attached that are either mandatory or discretionary conditions. The Council can 
also include discretionary conditions relating to the management of the property. 

 
 

Implications of Letting a Property Without a Licence 
3.15 It is a criminal offence to let a property in an area designated to be a selective 

licensing area without a licence. Failure to apply for a licence could lead to 
prosecution, with the penalty of a criminal conviction and an unlimited fine, or a civil 
penalty up to £30,000. 
 

3.16 A landlord of an unlicensed property within a designation is unable to serve a 
section 21 repossession notice under the Housing Act 1988 in relation to a short hold 

Page 67



6 

tenancy of the whole or part of any property which is an ‘unlicensed house’. 
 

3.17 The Council can apply to the First Tier Tribunal for a Rent Repayment Order. 
The Order requires the landlord to repay the Council the amount of housing benefit paid 
during the period in which the property operated without a licence. 
 

3.18 Part 4 of the Housing Act 2004 introduced the use of Management Orders. 
The Council has a duty to make a management order where they consider either: 

 
• The property ought to be licensed, but is not, and the Council considers there 

is no reasonable prospect of it granting a licence in the near future; and 
• It is necessary to take steps to ensure the health, safety and welfare of 

persons occupying the property, or persons living in or owning properties in 
its immediate vicinity, are protected. 

 
3.19 An Interim Management Order (IMO) allows the Council to take possession of 

the house against the immediate landlord, and subject to existing rights to occupy 
allows the Council to: 

 
• do anything in relation to the house, which could have been done by the 

landlord including repairs, collecting rents etc; 
• spend monies received through rents and other charges for carrying out 

its responsibility of management, including the administration of the house; 
and 

• create new tenancies (with the consent of the landlord). 
 

3.20 A licence holder (or person bound by the licence conditions) will also commit 
a criminal offence if they fail to comply with any condition of a licence. This offence is 
punishable by prosecution and a fine not exceeding £5,000, or by a way of a civil 
penalty notice not exceeding £30,000. 

4 Burnley’s Profile 
4.1 Burnley borough is situated in Pennine Lancashire. It covers an area of 11,072 

hectares (42 square miles). Its compact urban area, stretching along the two river 
valleys of the Brun and Calder, is surrounded by the moorland countryside of the 
South Pennines to the south and east, and the Forest of Bowland (Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty) and the gritstone outcrop of Pendle Hill to the north. 
Coal Clough wind farm, which is visible from many parts of Burnley, dominates the 
skyline to the south east of the town, while nearby, the landmark panopticon, the 
Singing Ringing Tree, overlooks the town from the hills at Crown Point. There are two 
main urban settlements, Burnley and Padiham, and a number of small villages and 
hamlets in the rural area. 
 

4.2 Much of Burnley's character and distinctiveness today derives not only from its 
attractive Pennine setting, but also from development during the Industrial Revolution. 
This gave the inner parts of the urban area their distinctive sandstone terraces in 
grid-iron street patterns, mills, and fine parks. 

 

Population 
 

4.3 The borough’s population has increased by 8.8% since 2011, to around 94,700 at the 
2021 Census; higher than the overall increase for England over the same period 

Page 68



7 

(6.6%) and greater than neighbouring areas of Hyndburn (1.8%) and Pendle (7.1%). 
The largest population increase was seen in persons aged 65 years and over 
(18.9%). 

Deprivation 
 

4.4 In the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Burnley was ranked the 11th most 
deprived area out of 317 local authority areas in England (based on rank of average 
scores). The most prevalent form of deprivation in the borough relates to health and 
disabilities. 

 
4.5 The health of people in Burnley is affected by high levels of deprivation and 

worklessness. Life expectancy for both men and women are lower than the Lancashire 
and England average but is rising for women. According to the Burnley Health Profile 
2019 life expectancy is 11.5 years lower for men and 4.5 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Burnley than in the least deprived areas. 
 

4.6 Levels of unemployment have reduced significantly in Burnley in the last five years to 
5.1% (APS modelled unemployment rate NOMIS 2020), this is however still higher 
than the north west (4.2%) and national (4.6%) figures. Unemployment can influence 
the affordability of the housing market resulting in fewer households being able to 
become homeowners, and more demand for rented accommodation. 

 

Housing Type 
 

4.7 At the 2021 Census there were 42,123 dwellings in Burnley. Burnley has a much 
higher proportion of terraced housing than England or the region as a whole. 
According to the 2021 Census, 46.6% of Burnley’s housing stock consisted of terraced 
houses compared to the England average of 23.2%. Much of the terraced housing 
stock comprises pre-1919 two bedroomed terraced houses and this constrains 
choice in the housing market. 
 

4.8 The previous Pathfinder Housing Market Renewal (HMR) scheme recognised that 
poor condition, high vacancy rates and a lack of quality and choice of housing, in 
particular an oversupply of small two bedroomed Victorian terraced housing without 
gardens, were key drivers of housing market failure. 
 

Housing Tenure 
 

4.9 Census data shows that between 2011 and 2021 there has been a decrease in the 
number of Burnley residents in owner occupation and an increase in the percentage 
in private rented accommodation. The rates of change are greater than those seen 
across England and Wales. 

 
4.10 Between the two censuses private renting in England and Wales rose from 

16.7% to 20.3%; and in Burnley from 19.4% to 24.3% in the same period. 
 

4.11 The Burnley Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA 2016) suggested 
that owner occupation is particularly high in the rural parts of the Borough, and that 
private rented accommodation is more concentrated in the urban areas of Burnley 
and Padiham. 

Page 69



8 

 
Table 1: Tenure, Burnley and England/Wales. ONS Census 2011 and 2021 

  

 2011 Census  2021 Census 
Tenure Burnley 

Households % 
England and 
Wales % 

Burnley 
Households 
% 

England and 
Wales % 

Owned 64.3 63.6 59.7 62.5% 
Social rented 14.1 17.6 15.6 17.1% 
Private rented 19.4 16.7 24.3 20.3% 
Other 2.2 2.1 0.4 0.1% 

Page 70



9 

Empty Homes 
4.12 Over the last ten years there has been a steady reduction in the number of 

empty properties across the borough. In 2023 vacant properties accounted for 4.4% of 
the overall housing stock.  
 

4.13 In 2020, 1.9% of properties in Burnley had been empty for more than two 
years. This has reduced to 1.3% in 2023.  
 

4.14 The long-term vacants tend to cluster in some of the inner urban areas of the 
borough, affecting the appearance of an area and having a negative impact on 
residents as they attract anti-social behavior, fly tipping and vandalism. 

 

 
 

Stock Condition 
 

4.15 In 2023 the Council commissioned the Building Research Establishment 
(BRE) to undertake a series of modelling exercises on the housing stock in Burnley. 
The Council were given access to the Housing Stock Condition Database (HSCD). 
Estimates from this database have been used throughout this report to support other 
indicators of low demand and poor property condition. 
 

4.16 The BRE estimates that 1013 (17.42%) properties in Burnley contain one or 
more category 1 hazard. 483 (48%) are thought to be privately rented, 486 (48%) are 
thought to be owner occupied, whilst the remaining 4% are in the social housing 
sector. 
 

4.17 The 483 privately rented properties estimated to have category 1 hazards 
represent 22.7% of the private rented stock in Burnley. 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Number of Empty Properties

Total Empty Properties Burnley

Figure 1: Empty Properties Burnley 2012-2023 (BBC Empty Homes Team)

Page 71



10 

Fuel Poverty 
 

4.18 Fuel poverty in England is measured using the Low Income Low Energy 
Efficiency (LILEE) indicator. Under this indicator, a household is considered to be fuel 
poor if: 
• They are living in a property with a fuel poverty energy efficiency rating of band D 

or below; and 
• When they spend the required amount to heat their home, they are left with a 

residual income below the official poverty line. 
 

4.19 In 2022 there were an estimated 13.4% of households in fuel poverty in 
England (Department for Energy, Security and Net Zero). BRE data estimates that 
6177 households in Burnley are living in fuel poverty, approximately 15.5% of the 
borough’s population.  
 

4.20 Of those, 2198 households are thought to live in the private rented sector, 
and these households make up 23.5% of the private rented sector in Burnley. Given 
that the figures for the borough and the private rented sector in Burnley are 
noticeably above the England average, it is crucial that the Council employs a 
multifaceted Housing Strategy which will tackle poor property condition and energy 
efficiency in both owner occupied and privately rented homes. Selective licensing is 
one such tool which allows the Council to closely monitor properties in some of the 
areas worst hit by fuel poverty. 

 
Housing Market 
 

4.21 In 2023 mean house prices in Burnley were around 37% of the national 
average for England, and 58% of the regional average – Burnley continues to close 
the gap on the regional averages, showing a promising trend, however mean values 
remain below the averages for the region and country. 

 
4.22 Figure 3 shows mean property values in Burnley since 2014 by property type. 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

March 
14

March 
15

March 
16

March 
17

March 
18

March 
19

March 
20

March 
21

March 
22

March 
23

Burnley England North West England

Mean House Values 2014-23

Figure 2: Mean House Values Burnley, North West, England 14-23 (ONS)

Page 72



11 

Values for all property values have continued to rise consistently. Values for 
detached properties continue to rise, and in recent years at an increasing rate. 
Values for terraced properties and flats are much lower, and although there has been 
a general increase it is at a slower rate. 

 
Figure 3: Mean House Values Burnley by Property Type 14-23 (ONS) 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

March 14March 15March 16March 17March 18March 19March 20March 21March 22March 23

All Properties Detatched Semi-Detatched Terraced Flats/Maisonettes

Mean House Values in Burnley by Property Type 2014-
2023

Page 73



12 

 
4.23 There are many local and wider economic factors which influence house price 

and sales trends and many of these factors are themselves being monitored e.g. 
employment levels, deprivation, population size and profile, crime rates, housing 
stock condition, land availability and household size. Other macro-economic factors 
such as mortgage availability, interest rates, government incentives, tax regimes, 
building regulations etc. will also significantly influence house prices and sales 
trends. 

 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
4.24 Figure 4 shows instances of crime and ASB recorded by Police since April 

2019. Figures are recorded as instances per 1,000 of the population. The data shows 
that Burnley has higher crime and ASB rates than the twelve Lancashire districts. 
Crime and ASB have reduced across Burnley and Lancashire.  

 
Figure 4: Crime and ASB Burnley and Lancashire (Lancashire Insight) 

 
 

5 Ward Level Data 
5.1 The Council has analysed a series of key indicators across the borough and at the 

ward level, to greater understand which areas could benefit from a selective licensing 
designation. 
 

5.2 The current and proposed licensing areas are in the following wards: 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Apr-19 - Mar-20 Apr-20 - Mar-21 Apr-21 - Mar-22 Apr-22 - Mar-23

Lancashire 12 All Crime Burnley All Crime

Lancashire 12 ASB Burnley ASB

Crime and ASB Burnley and Lancashire

Page 74



13 

• Trinity – Trinity  
• Queensgate – Queensgate and a small area of Bank Hall  
• Gannow – Gannow  
• Daneshouse and Stoneyholme – Daneshouse with Stoneyholme  
• Burnley Wood with Healey Wood – Rosehill with Burnley Wood and a small area 

of Trinity  
• Leyland Road Area – Bank Hall  
• Padiham – Gawthorpe  
• Lyndhurst Road Area – Bank Hall and Brunshaw 

 

Tenure 
5.3 Table 2 shows tenure types by ward across Burnley from 2021 Census. The top six 

ranked wards which are above the borough average all contain current or proposed 
licensing areas, and all have seen an increase in private renting since the 2011 
Census of between 4.4% and 13.5%. The highest ranking ward is Bank Hall at 
40.3%, significantly above the Burnley average of 24.3%. 

 
 
Table 2:Household Tenure by Ward (ONS Census 2021) 

 Owner 
Occupied 
(%) 

Social 
Landlord 
(%) 

Private 
Rented 
(%) 

Private 
Rented 
Change 
from 
2011 
Census 
(%) 

Ward 
Rank – 
Highest 
to Lowest 
PRS 

Bank Hall 38.6 20.7 40.3 +10.7 1 
Briercliffe 79.3 4.7 15.8 +5.2 12 
Brunshaw 52.5 29.1 17.9 +7.6 11 
Cliviger with Worsthorne 86.2 2.5 11.1 +3.6 14 
Coal Clough with Deerplay 67.8 20.8 11.2 +2.9 13 
Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme 

44.1 16 39.5 +13.5 2 

Gannow 60.7 13.3 25.6 +6.5 6 
Gawthorpe 51.3 17.8 30.8 +6.7 5 
Hapton with Park 64.5 15.8 19.1 +3.6 9 
Lanehead 63 18.5 18.3 +3 10 
Queensgate 56.9 7.7 35.2 +10.2 4 
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse 

55.5 20.6 23.6 +8.3 8 

Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood 

59.1 16.7 23.8 +4.4 7 

Trinity 44.9 15.4 39.1 +6.3 3 
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 81.1 8.7 10 +2 15 
Burnley 59.8 15.6 24.3 +4.9  
England 62.3 17.1 20.6 +3.8  

 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

5.4 HMOs are properties or parts of properties containing one or more units of living 
accommodation, with two or more households occupying living accommodation as 

Page 75



14 

their main residence and sharing basic amenities.  
 

5.5 Where a HMO is occupied by five or more people forming two or more households 
and those persons share basic amenities, the landlord is required to obtain a licence 
from the Council. 
 

5.6 HMOs form a vital part of the housing market, often providing cheaper 
accommodation to people whose housing options may be limited. Some HMOs are 
occupied by the most vulnerable in society. The risks of overcrowding and fire can be 
greater in HMOs that other types of property, therefore it is important to ensure that 
they are appropriately regulated, especially where they may fall under the threshold 
for licensable HMOs. 
 

5.7 BRE data shows there are an estimated 916 HMOs in Burnley; 2.17% of all 
properties. Table 3 shows the distribution by ward. 
 

5.8 The wards with the highest estimated rates of HMOs all contain current or proposed 
licensing areas. Properties in these areas tend to be rows of terraced houses; the 
impact of HMOs in these streets can be exacerbated by the high density of housing, 
and the position of the properties abutting the pavement or with short front gardens 
and lack of off-street parking. 
 

5.9 The majority of HMOs in Burnley are non-licensable; given the concentration of 
HMOs in areas where property condition is believed to be poorer than the wider 
borough, it is essential that the Council has the tools to proactively monitor these 
properties. 

 
Table 3: Estimated HMOs Burnley (BRE) 

 Licensable 
HMOs 

All HMOs HMOs as % of 
Households 

Rank High-
Low % 
HMOs 

Bank Hall 21 184 5.92% 1 
Briercliffe 0 22 0.86% 12 
Brunshaw 1 48 1.54% 9 
Cliviger with 
Worsthorne 

1 14 0.59% 14 

Coal Clough with 
Deerplay 

0 12 0.5% 15 

Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme 

7 68 2.77% 3 

Gannow 2 62 2.19% 6 
Gawthorpe 3 72 2.27% 5 
Hapton with Park 6 32 1.12% 11 
Lanehead 2 44 1.61% 8 
Queensgate 2 67 2.47% 4 
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse 

0 36 1.16% 10 

Rosehill with 
Burnley Wood 

5 58 1.93% 7 

Trinity 17 180 5.77% 2 
Whittlefield with 
Ightenhill 

0 17 0.66% 13 

BURNLEY 67 916 2.17%  

Page 76



15 

 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
 

5.10 The purpose of the EPC is to inform prospective tenants or purchasers the 
energy performance of the property and gives a good indication of property condition 
within an area. Since April 2020, landlords may not let a property to a new tenant if 
the rating on the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) is below “E”. Table 4 shows 
the number of properties across Burnley rated below “E”. 
 

 
Table 4: EPC Below "E" (EPC Register 2023) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward  
% of Properties 
Below Standard  

Bank Hall  3.6% 
Briercliffe  2.1% 
Brunshaw  2.1% 
Cliviger with Worsthorne  2.2% 
Coalclough with Deerplay  2.0% 
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme  4.3% 
Gannow  2.8% 
Gawthorpe  2.3% 
Hapton with Park  2.5% 
Lanehead  2.4% 
Queensgate  3.8% 
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse  2.1% 
Rosehill with Burnley Wood  3.1% 
Trinity  3.9% 
Whittlefield with Ightenhill  0.7% 
BURNLEY 2.7% 

Page 77



16 

 

5.11 2.7% of properties in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all tenures). The 
figures in Table 4 demonstrate a concentration of energy inefficient homes in the 
wards containing the current and proposed licensing areas. This is an indicator of 
poorer standard properties in these areas.  
 

5.12 Landlords are required to submit a valid EPC as part of their selective 
licensing application; the licensing schemes have allowed the Council to take a 
proactive approach to utilising EPC regulations, identifying energy inefficient homes 
and ensuring landlords are making the relevant improvements to be compliant with 
the law.  
 

Table 5: EPC Ratings Below “E” Licensing Areas (EPC Register) 

5.13 Table 5 shows the percentage of properties rated below “E” for all tenures, 
and separately for PRS stock in the current licensing areas. Levels of non-compliant 
properties (all tenures) are above average in the licensing areas, indicating a 
concentration of poor property conditions in this area. Within the licensing area 
however, levels are much lower in large part due to the proactive work of the 
licensing team. 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
5.14 Property condition, maintenance and repair is a fundamental aspect of 

property management in the private rented sector. The Council has considered 
evidence from the BRE housing stock modelling report which estimated the number 
of properties in the borough likely to be subject to a Category 1 Hazard, as defined 
by the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) as a hazard which poses 
a serious and immediate risk to a person’s safety. In addition, the Council has also 
analysed the number of disrepair complaints made to the Council in respect of 
privately rented properties. 
 

5.15 Table 6 shows the estimated distribution of Category 1 Hazards for all tenures 
across the borough. It also shows the percentage of the private rented sector in each 
ward estimated to have a Category 1 Hazard.  

 
Table 6: Estimated Cat 1 Hazards All Tenures (BRE 2023) 

Ward  No. Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Tenures 

Rank Total 
Cases 

No. Cat 1 
Hazard PRS 

Rank PRS 
Cases 

Bank Hall  514 2 284 2 
Briercliffe  388 9 74 11 
Brunshaw  352 11 63 12 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 

Page 78



17 

Cliviger with 
Worsthorne  

338 13 28 15 

Coalclough with 
Deerplay  

304 14 31 14 

Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme  

510 3 244 4 

Gannow  414 7 146 7 
Gawthorpe  493 6 247 3 
Hapton with Park  404 8 107 8 
Lanehead  350 12 98 9 
Queensgate  499 5 199 5 
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse  

357 10 88 10 

Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood  

507 4 163 6 

Trinity  607 1 295 1 
Whittlefield with 
Ightenhill  

175 15 37 13 

BURNLEY 6212  2104  
 

5.16 There are estimated to be 6212 properties with Category 1 Hazards across 
the borough (14.7% of all stock). The seven wards estimated to have the highest 
numbers of Category 1 Hazards are all those where the current and proposed 
licensing areas are located. The highest ranked ward for total cases was Trinity, 
followed by Bank Hall, Daneshouse with Stoneyholme, Rosehill with Burnley Wood, 
Queensgate, Gawthorpe and then Gannow.  
 

5.17 There are estimated to be 2104 privately rented properties with Category 1 
Hazards across the borough (22.5% of the PRS). Again, the wards with the highest 
number of estimated private rented properties with Category 1 Hazards are those 
where the licensing areas are located. As shown previously, levels of private renting 
do vary significantly across the wards. As such, it can be expected that wards with 
higher levels of private renting will have increased numbers of hazards.  
 

5.18 The modelling suggests a clear concentration of poorer quality housing within 
the wards where the current and proposed selective licensing areas are located; the 
Council is satisfied that the licensing areas are located in the most appropriate wards 
when it comes to concerns around property condition. 
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
 

5.19 Table 7 shows the numbers of disrepair complaints made to the Council’s 
Housing Standards team in the last five years. The number of reported cases rose 
sharply between 18/19 and 20/21. and has since fluctuated. The seven highest 
wards for disrepair complaints are those where the selective licensing areas are 
located, with the highest being Bank Hall and Trinity. 
 

5.20 The data again supports the Council’s view that the selective licensing areas 
are in the areas where there is a poorer standard of private rented houses.  

 

Page 79



18 

Table 7: Disrepair Complaints to BBC (BBC) 

Ward  2018/19  2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Rank 22/23 
Bank Hall  32 49 64 89 72 1 
Briercliffe  0 5 3 7 7 13 
Brunshaw  7 7 14 14 11 11 
Cliviger with Worsthorne  0 1 3 4 3 15 
Coalclough with Deerplay  1 7 10 10 12 10 
Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme  

17 23 54 28 31 4 

Gannow  10 6 7 21 23 =6 
Gawthorpe  16 17 27 27 23 =6 
Hapton with Park  5 14 14 21 16 9 
Lanehead  4 9 11 14 9 12 
Queensgate  23 31 43 41 40 3 
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse  

15 26 46 29 22 8 

Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood  

22 39 27 21 28 5 

Trinity  49 65 63 64 61 2 
Whittlefield with Ightenhill  3 7 7 9 6 14 
Burnley Total  204 306 393 399 364  

 

Housing Market 
5.21 Table 8 shows mean house values by ward across the borough since 

2018/19. Values range from Daneshouse with Stoneyholme with the lowest average, 
to the rural ward of Cliviger with Worsthorne which records the highest values. It is 
well documented how house prices in Burnley have been consistently some of the 
lowest in the country, and the option to buy cheap properties “unseen” at auction 
means a greater risk of some parts of Burnley suffering from absentee landlords. 

5.22 Five wards containing current or proposed licensing areas are ranked the 
lowest in terms of house values. The exceptions are Gannow (ranked 9) and Rosehill 
with Burnley Wood (ranked 11). Both areas contain a wider variety of property types 
at the ward level, but as later analysis will show, values within the licensing 
boundaries are much lower than the borough average. 

5.23 Mean house values in Burnley for all properties rose by around 33% between 
2018/19 and 2022/23; for terraced properties the increase was approximately 38%.  

 
Table 8: Mean House Values by Ward (ONS) 

 Ward March-
19 

March-
20 

March-
21 

March-
22 

March-
23 

Rank Low 
to High 
Mar-23 

Bank Hall 58,131 68,737 69,725 91,171 88,883 2 
Briercliffe 134,361 134,703 133,004 159,071 153,451 12 
Brunshaw 101,651 96,065 111,613 128,529 132,996 7 
Cliviger with Worsthorne 185,492 196,830 216,386 212,876 253,936 15 
Coal Clough with 
Deerplay 

129,109 152,389 150,607 161,213 173,931 13 

Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme 

64,004 70,236 70,010 79,747 72,603 1 

Page 80



19 

Gannow 83,971 111,286 149,073 141,222 143,860 9 
Gawthorpe 90,722 95,045 121,604 106,989 113,255 5 
Hapton with Park 139,647 139,139 150,093 147,255 149,441 10 
Lanehead 117,224 106,989 112,057 134,979 133,261 8 
Queensgate 63,871 79,134 74,355 99,355 95,991 4 
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse 

126,277 120,330 119,698 120,695 132,845 6 

Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood 

95,536 108,334 122,722 126,063 151,398 11 

Trinity 77,206 71,373 76,720 89,395 92,148 3 
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 144,738 155,311 173,509 189,033 218,405 14 
Burnley All Properties 106,274 114,189 126,187 135,584 140,808   
Burnley Terraced  70,291 74,321 80,261 93,918 97,327  

 

Empty Homes 
5.24 Table 9 shows the number of empty properties in Burnley by ward. Bank Hall 

and Trinity contained the most empty properties at year end March 2023, and the 
seven highest ranked wards for empty properties are where the current and 
proposed selective licensing areas are situated. 
 

5.25 Over the last ten years the number of empty homes in Burnley has continued 
to reduce. The number of long term empty properties (vacant for over two years) in 
2022/23 across Burnley was 1.2%.  
 

 

Table 9: Empty Properties by Ward (BBC Empty Homes) 
 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Rank 
2023 

Bank Hall 408 326 255 253 272 328 252 215 280 271 259 1 
Briercliffe 100 87 102 124 84 89 87 88 75 79 86 12 
Brunshaw 83 84 112 110 124 113 123 104 108 116 98 11 
Cliviger with 
Worsthorne 

94 84 85 89 93 80 90 63 79 78 72 13 

Coal Clough Lane with 
Deerplay 

135 117 103 88 88 78 73 63 77 49 52 15 

Danehouse with 
Stoneyholme 

319 274 223 225 234 204 186 157 139 138 132 6 

Gannow 165 150 165 166 171 153 163 134 125 144 167 3 
Gawthorpe 217 211 189 223 182 198 198 206 162 150 141 5 
Hapton with Park 190 170 143 138 129 113 102 112 108 91 111 8 
Lanehead 136 145 119 129 109 93 92 101 97 97 106 9 
Queensgate 239 231 262 264 250 240 204 181 164 157 142 4 
Rosegrove with Lower 
House 

165 160 165 141 127 122 168 124 115 99 105 10 

Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood 

123 125 214 199 203 205 176 166 155 134 127 7 

Trinity 320 288 345 350 307 302 265 255 233 222 204 2 
Whittlefield with 
Ightenhill 

93 82 85 94 93 88 79 77 78 65 56 14 

Page 81



20 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
5.26 Significant levels of crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) can be a 

contributing factor to low demand. Table 10 shows all crime recorded by police from 
April 2020 to present. Levels of recorded crime across Burnley fluctuated during this 
period, which was reflected in many of the wards. The highest ranking ward for all 
crime was Daneshouse with Stoneyholme, though this ward does contain the town 
centre, and so a significant proportion of recorded crimes here will relate to the night 
time economy. 
 

5.27 All of the current and proposed licensing areas are located in the highest 
ranked six wards, with the exception of Gannow which was ranked ninth. 

 
Table 10: Recorded All Crime by Ward (Lancashire Insight) 

  Apr-20 - 
Mar-21 

  Apr-21 - 
Mar-22 

  Apr-22 - 
Mar-23 

  Rank 
March 
2023 

Area Per 1000 
Population 

% change 
on 
previous 
year 

Per 1000 
Population 

% change 
on 
previous 
year 

Per 1000 
Population 

% change 
on 
previous 
year 

  

Bank Hall 146.5 -16% 196.49 34% 168.36 -14% 3 
Briercliffe 38.3 -7% 44.11 15% 39.02 -12% 14 
Brunshaw 72.6 -14% 81.91 13% 80.87 -1% 10 
Cliviger With 
Worsthorne 

22.9 -16% 22.72 -1% 33.17 46% 15 

Coal Clough With 
Deerplay 

98.5 -3% 107.37 9% 89.23 -17% 8 

Daneshouse With 
Stoneyholme 

191.5 -33% 276.74 45% 234.45 -15% 1 

Gannow 95.5 3% 103.69 9% 88.4 -15% 9 
Gawthorpe 110.6 1% 115.39 4% 129.74 12% 5 
Hapton With Park 81.3 9% 90.57 11% 80.53 -11% 11 
Lanehead 87.4 25% 79.98 -8% 57.77 -28% 12 
Queensgate 155.3 5% 172.04 11% 133 -23% 4 
Rosegrove With 
Lowerhouse 

123.3 17% 110.11 -11% 99.73 -9% 7 

Rosehill With 
Burnley Wood 

142.7 0% 139 -3% 116.14 -16% 6 

Trinity 197.0 -15% 223.05 13% 210.23 -6% 2 
Whittlefield With 
Ightenhill 

46.6 -4% 57.12 23% 45.06 -21% 13 

Burnley 112.6 -8% 126.51 12% 112.93 -11%   
 

5.28 Table 11 shows levels of ASB recorded by Police across Burnley from April 
2020 to present. Rates of recorded ASB rose significantly in 2020/21, due in part to 
the restrictions in place during the Covid 19 Pandemic. Breaches of restrictions were 
recorded by police as ASB, and larger numbers of people at home may have resulted 
in increased neighbourhood tensions.  
 

5.29 Daneshouse with Stoneyholme recorded the highest level of ASB in March 
2022/23; again this is likely to be due in part to the influence of the town centre and 

Page 82



21 

night time economy.  
 

5.30 Similarly to all crime levels, all of the current and proposed licensing areas 
are ranked in the highest six wards for recorded ASB with the exception of Gannow. 
 

Table 11: Recorded ASB by Ward (Lancashire Insight) 

  Apr -20 - 
Mar - 21 

 
Apr-21 - 
Mar-22 

 
Apr-22 - 
Mar-23 

    

Area Per 1000 
population 

% 
change 
on 
previous 
year 

Per 1000 
population 

% 
change 
on 
previous 
year 

Per 1000 
population 

% change 
on 
previous 
year 

Rank March 
2023 

Bank Hall 122.08 56% 84.96 -30% 70.93 -17% 2 
Briercliffe 58.64 133% 25.48 -57% 21.76 -15% 13 
Brunshaw 63.25 113% 36.85 -42% 28.71 -22% 11 
Cliviger With 
Worsthorne 

25.47 115% 11.76 -54% 10.07 -14% 15 

Coal Clough 
With 
Deerplay 

82.33 144% 44.74 -46% 35.2 -21% 8 

Daneshouse 
With 
Stoneyholme 

133.18 18% 132.17 -1% 99.94 -24% 1 

Gannow 72.79 76% 52.46 -28% 34.48 -34% 9 
Gawthorpe 86.89 70% 71.64 -18% 57.04 -20% 6 
Hapton With 
Park 

78.35 148% 54.58 -30% 32.59 -40% 10 

Lanehead 73.53 104% 30.76 -58% 19.31 -37% 14 
Queensgate 99.02 72% 97.64 -1% 60.14 -38% 4 
Rosegrove 
With 
Lowerhouse 

93.3 160% 52.62 -44% 40.15 -24% 7 

Rosehill With 
Burnley 
Wood 

120.85 80% 91.78 -24% 59.34 -35% 5 

Trinity 161.79 80% 95.59 -41% 69.31 -27% 3 
Whittlefield 
With 
Ightenhill 

41.73 80% 25.8 -38% 27.31 6% 12 

Burnley 88.11 80% 62.35 -29% 46.21 -26%   

Environmental Crime 
5.31 Environmental crime includes fly tipping of back streets, and residents failing 

to keep their yards free of waste and dog fouling. Accumulations of waste have a 
detrimental effect on neighbourhoods, making an area look unattractive and run 
down, attracting vermin, and posing a risk of deliberate fires. Table 12 shows the 
number of incidents of dirty back yards reported to the Council be residents since 
2018/19.  
 

5.32 The wards containing current and proposed licensing areas are all in the top 

Page 83



22 

eight ranked wards for resident complaints of dirty back yards in 2022/23.  
 
Table 12: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints (BBC Streetscene) 

Ward Resident Complaints 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Rank 
22/23 

Bank Hall Ward 23 33 56 66 66 3 
Briercliffe Ward 6 13 30 25 22 13 
Brunshaw Ward 7 11 51 31 27 10 
Cliviger with Worsthorne Ward 1 0 3 2 5 14 
Coal Clough with Deerplay 
Ward 

4 9 21 16 28 9 

Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 
Ward 

8 15 30 22 44 6 

Gannow Ward 8 21 38 36 36 8 
Gawthorpe Ward 12 16 51 71 52 4 
Hapton with Park Ward 8 11 20 26 14 14 
Lanehead Ward 10 7 37 28 23 12 
Queensgate Ward 23 28 49 45 37 7 
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 
Ward 

7 16 38 38 46 5 

Rosehill with Burnley Wood 
Ward 

18 17 85 56 82 1 

Trinity Ward 17 37 155 82 71 2 
Whittlefield with Ightenhill Ward 3 13 12 23 25 11 

 
  

Page 84



23 

6 The Trinity Proposed Designation 
Background 
 

6.1 The Trinity area was first designated as an area subject to selective licensing in 
2008; it has since been subject to two further designations, the most recent being the 
period of 2019-2024. Figure 5 shows the boundary of the current designation. 

 
Figure 5: Trinity 2019-24 Boundary 

 
 
6.2 The current designation covers a large residential area of over 1300 properties, of 

which 55.2%% are privately rented (SL Database 2023). The majority of the 
designation is situated in Trinity ward. 
 

6.3 Throughout the designation, the Council has monitored several key indicators of low 
housing demand. The scheme is now in its final year, and the Council has assessed 
these indicators to determine the effectiveness of the scheme, and whether this area, 
or other similar areas, would benefit from a further selective licensing designation. 
 

6.4 The Council has also considered whether the following neighbouring areas would 
benefit from selective licensing: 

6.4.1.1 Zone 1: Clifton Street Area 
6.4.1.2 Zone 2: Westgate 
6.4.1.3 Zone 3: Waverley/Dean Street Area 
6.4.1.4 Zone 4: Florence/Villiers Street Area 

 
6.5 Zones 1, 2 and 3 are located to the north-west of the current Trinity boundary, whilst 

Zone 4 is located to the West. Zones 1, 2 and 4 consist typically of blocks of terraced 
properties which the Council believes to contain high levels of private rented 

Page 85



24 

properties. Zone 2, Westgate, is a main thoroughfare into Burnley town centre, and 
consists of larger terraced properties, the majority of which have been converted into 
individual flats or HMOs.  
 

6.6 A map of the proposed boundary, consisting of the current designation plus the 
additional areas listed above, is attached as Appendix 2. 
 

6.7 Table 13 summarises the key indicators of low housing demand which the Council 
has considered in relation to the current and proposed licensing areas. 

 
Table 13: Key Indicators: Trinity and Surrounding Areas 2022/23 

 Trinity 
Current 
Boundary 

Zone 1: 
Clifton St  

Zone 2: 
Westgate 

Zone 3: 
Waverley/ 
Dean St 

Zone 4: 
Florence/ 
Villiers St 

Burnley 
Borough 

Total Properties 1348 81 56 133 142 44,123 
Private Rented 55.2% 74.1%  80.4%  60.9%  61.3%  24.3% 
Owner Occupied 32.3% 23.5%  19.6%  32.3%  33.9%  59.8%  
EPC Below 
Minimum 
Standard in PRS 
(EPC Register 
2023) 

0.4% 1.67% 6.67% 1.23% 0% Figure 
unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 
hazards in PRS 
(BRE 2023, PRS 
cases as % of 
PRS) 

22.6% 3.33% 40% 19.75% 23% 22.5% 

Disrepair 
Complaints to 
BBC as % of 
PRS (22/23) 

7.3% 3.3% 4.4% 2.5% 5.8% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs 
(BRE 2023) 

5.9% 9.9% 28.6% 9% 2.4% 2.17% 

Mean House 
Value (Land 
Registry 22/23) 

£60,826 £67,750 £129,000 £64,571 £57,889 All: 
£140,808 
Terraced: 
£97,327 

Vacant Homes 
2yr+ (March 23) 

3% 2.5% 1.8% 0.9% 1.6% 1.2% 

ASB Complaints 
to BBC (22/23) 

0.8% 0% 0% 0% 0.7% 0.6% 

DBY Resident 
Complaints to 
BBC (22/23)  

3.1% 2.5% 1.8% 2.8% 3.3% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS 
Households in 
Fuel Poverty 
(BRE 23) 

21.2% 6.7% 35.6% 18.5% 28.7% 23.5% 

 
 

Housing Tenure 
6.8 Trinity ward has the third highest percentage of private rented properties at 39.1%, 

notably above the Burnley and England averages. The rate of increase from the 2011 
census is also above the rate for Burnley as a whole. Levels of social renting are 
similar to Burnley as a whole and below the average for England, whilst owner 
occupiers are lower (Table 2). 

Page 86



25 

 
6.9 Table 14 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing areas. 

The proposed licensing area would extend the boundary by an estimated 273 private 
rented properties and is estimated to be 57.8% private rented. There is a significant 
concentration of the PRS within the boundary. 

 
 
Table 14: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 
Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
6.10 According to BRE data, Trinity ward is estimated to have the second highest 

rate of HMOs in the borough at 5.77% compared to 2.17% for Burnley (Table 3). 
 

6.11 Table 15 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing 
areas.  
 

6.12 The current Trinity licensing area has a much higher concentration of HMOs 
than the borough, and the proposed area has an even higher rate at 6.6%. This is 
partly due to the proposed inclusion of Westgate, which consists of larger terraced 
properties on three or four levels, many of which have been converted into individual 
flats or HMOs.  

 
Table 15: Estimated HMOs Current and Proposed Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Page 87



26 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
6.13 2.7% of properties (all tenures) in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all 

tenures), compared to 4.8% of properties in the current Trinity designation (Table 4 
and Table 16). However, of those properties, those that are privately rented are much 
lower at 0.4%. 
 

6.14 The figures in Table 16 clearly show the positive impact that the licensing 
schemes have had; of the three privately rented properties in the current Trinity 
scheme rated below “E”, two are occupied by long term tenants (the landlord is not 
required to increase the rating until a new tenancy or renewal) and the other is a 
landlord who is not currently compliant with the licensing scheme. The Council is 
working to secure a valid application from them, which will include ensuring the 
property meets the minimum energy efficiency standard. Without the licensing 
schemes proactively investigating EPC ratings, it’s possible for landlords to operate 
below standard under the radar. 
 

6.15 There are 13 properties in the additional zones which the Council is proposing 
to add to the Trinity designation which have recorded EPC ratings below “E”. Of 
those, five are believed to be privately rented. From experience of previous schemes, 
the Council often finds there are more privately rented properties in a designated 
area than initially estimated. The Council is confident that a further designation in the 
Trinity area will allow us to continue to monitor new privately rented properties to 
ensure they are meeting the required standard, and that extending the boundary of 
the scheme will allow us to address the issue in neighbouring zones.  
 

Table 16: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

 
Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 

Page 88



27 

 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
 

6.16 BRE data estimates that Trinity ward has the highest level of Category 1 
Hazards in the PRS in the borough (Table 6). 
 

6.17 Table 17 shows the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the current 
and proposed licensing areas. The percentage of properties in the current and 
proposed licensing areas estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly 
above the Burnley average of 14.7%. When taken together, the estimated rates at 
privately rented properties for the current and proposed licensing areas is above the 
average for Burnley of 22.5%, though there is variation between the areas.  

 
 
Table 17: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate 2025-
30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 
BURNLEY     

Page 89



28 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
6.18 The current Trinity selective licensing area is estimated to have Category 1 

Hazards at 22.5% of all properties and 21.4% of private rented properties; the rate for 
all properties is considerable above the Burnley average, whilst the rate at private 
rented properties is below the Burnley average. This shows that the licensing 
schemes are having a positive impact on property conditions in Trinity. The Council is 
satisfied that continuing and extending the scheme here would result in further 
reductions of properties with serious disrepair.  
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
 

6.19 Trinity ward was ranked second highest in the borough for disrepair 
complaints made to the Council in 2022/23 (Table 7). 
 

6.20 Table 18 and Figure 6 show the numbers of disrepair complaints within the 
current and proposed licensing areas. Despite a significant increase in disrepair 
complaints across the borough between 19/20 and 20/21, rates in the Trinity 
designation have remained fairly static, with a slight overall reduction in the last four 
years. The number of complaints as a percentage of the private rented stock is still 
significantly above average for the borough. By incorporating additional zones, this 
has reduced slightly, though this may be explained by the fact that residents of some 
areas, particularly those not immediately adjacent to an existing designation, may not 
be aware of the assistance the Council can provide when issues of disrepair have not 
been addressed by their landlord. The Council is satisfied that there is further work to 
be done to address poor property condition in the Trinity area. 

 
Table 18: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous 
Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-
24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 2022-
27 

7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Leyland Road 2022-
27 

6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 

Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 2025-30    4.7% 
Gannow 2025-30    6.1% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-

   4.8% 

Page 90



29 

30 
Padiham 2025-30    2.5% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

   6% 

BURNLEY    3.8% 
 
 
Figure 6: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

 
 
 

Housing Market 
6.21 Mean house values in Trinity ward are the third lowest in the borough for 

2022/23 at £92,148 (Table 8). 
 
 

6.22 Table 19 and Figure 7 show trends in house values in the current licensing 
areas for the last four years, as well as the most recent data for the proposed new 
designations.  

 
Table 19: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous 
Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 
 

£60,826 
 

Queensgate 2019-24 £40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 
 

£63,860 
 

Gannow 2019-24 £47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 
 

£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

£38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 2022-27 

£40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 2022-27 £39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 £60,810 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Trinity 19-24

Queensgate 19-24

Gannow 19-24

Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 19-24

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 22-27

Leyland Road 22-27

Disrepair Complaints SL Areas 19/20-22/23

Page 91



30 

  
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

     

Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 
 

Queensgate 2025-30     £67,666 
 

Gannow 2025-30     £73,043 
 

Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    £63,607 
 

Padiham 2025-30     £75,671 
 

Lyndhurst Road 2025-
30 

    £82,081 
 

BURNLEY ALL 
PROPERTIES 

£106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 

BURNLEY TERRACED 
PROPERTIES 

£70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

 
Figure 7:Mean House Values (ONS) 

 
 

6.23 Mean house values in Burnley for all properties rose by around 33% between 
2018/19 and 2022/23; for terraced properties the increase was approximately 38%.  
 

6.24 In Trinity licensing area, values rose by around 51% over the same period, 
after an initial period of slow growth there was a significant increase between 
2020/21 and 2021/22. This is a significant rate of increase compared to the borough, 
which may indicate increasing confidence in the housing market within the licensing 
area. 
 

£30,000

£50,000

£70,000

£90,000

£110,000

£130,000

£150,000

Trin
ity

Que
en

sg
ate

Gan
no

w

Dan
es

ho
us

e &
 Ston

ey
ho

lm
e

Burn
ley

 W
oo

d w
ith

 H
ea

ley
 W

oo
d

Le
yla

nd
 R

oa
d A

rea

BURNLE
Y ALL

 PROPERTIES

BURNLE
Y TERRACED 

PROPERTIES

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Mean House Values 2017/18-2022/23

Page 92



31 

6.25 However, property values in Trinity remain significantly below the borough 
average for all property types and terraces. They are also below the average for 
Trinity ward. The rate of increase is promising, but lower house values continue to 
indicate a problem of low demand in this area.  
 

6.26 Values for the proposed licensing area are slightly higher than the current 
boundary but remain well below average.  

 

Empty Homes 
 

6.27 Empty homes in Trinity ward have continued to reduce in line with the trend 
across the borough, but still remain high.  

 
6.28 Table 20 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 

current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 
Table 20: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 
2018 

March 
2019 

March 
2020 

March 
2021 

March 
2022 

March 
2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 2019-24 12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 
Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    8% 9% 8% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 2025-30      7% 
Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

     6% 

Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30      7% 

 
6.29 The data shows a decrease in vacant properties in Trinity between 2018 and 

2021, which has then held at 10% for the last two years. The Council accepts that 
there will always be a number of vacant properties in the borough and licensing 
areas as properties are bought and sold, and tenancies change. The rates in the 
licensing areas are reducing but remain above average, which suggests more of an 
issue with low demand and high tenant turnover.  
 

6.30 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 21 shows the number of long term 
empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

6.31 Both the current and proposed Trinity licensing areas have higher than 
average levels of long term empty homes, indicating there continues to be an issue 
of low demand, despite improvements made in recent years. 

 

Page 93



32 

Table 21: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 
Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
 

6.32 Rates of all crime recorded by Police in Trinity ward reduced from 20/21 to 
21/22 before recording a slight increase in 22/23 (Table 10). Trinity was still ranked 
as the second highest ward for all recorded crime in 2022/23. 

 
6.33 Trinity ward was the third highest ranking ward for ASB, despite reductions in 

the previous two years, and a greater than borough average reduction in 2021/22 
(Table 11). 

 
6.34 Table 22 shows the number of ASB cases recorded by Police for the current 

selective licensing areas by calendar year.  Trinity has recorded a reduction in ASB 
2021 and 2022, following a spike in 2020, which may in part be attributed to Covid 
breaches and increased neighbour intolerance during lockdown periods. 2023 saw a 
slight rise in recorded cases. Analyst data is not currently available for the proposed 
boundary. 

 
Table 22: ASB Recorded by Police (Lancashire Police Analyst) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 12.7% 26.3% 18.6% 11.5% 13.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 11.6% 20.5% 25% 20% 11% 
Gannow 2019-24 14.6% 20.6% 23.4% 12.1% 11% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

8.7% 12.1% 11.8% 2.9% 3.7% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   17.7% 14.6% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    14.6% 15.3% 
 
 

6.35 Table 23 shows the numbers of cases reported to the Council in the licensing 
areas since 2018/19 as a percentage of properties. These figures differ from those 
recorded by Police, as not every incident is reported to both agencies. Cases 
recorded by the Council in Trinity have reduced notably since 2018, which shows a 

Page 94



33 

promising trend, although it does remain above average for the borough for 2022/23. 
 

6.36 Cases recorded in the proposed area are slightly lower than the current 
boundary, suggesting that the issue is more concentrated in the current boundary. 
However, the rate for the proposed area remains above the borough average. 

 
Table 23: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas Cases as Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

Environmental Crime 
6.37 Trinity ward recorded the second highest number of dirty back yard 

complaints in 2022/23, although the figure has reduced since 2020/21 (Table 12). 
 

6.38 Table 24 examines the number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 
current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

6.39 Cases in Trinity rose sharply between 2019/20 and 2020/21, and have since 
reduced, but still remain well above the average for the borough. Environmental 
crime is clearly an issue for residents in this area.  
 

6.40 Complaints for the proposed area are comparable with the current 
designation, indicating a similar problem in the proposed additional zones. 
 

 
Table 24: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 

Page 95



34 

Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

 
Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 

6.41 The Council has seen some positive improvements in the Trinity area 
throughout the current scheme. Property values have increased from a mean value 
of £40,240 in 18/19 to £60,826 in 22/23 for the current scheme, and the mean for the 
proposed boundary for 22/23 is comparable at £62,528. This represents an increase 
of around 51% in the current scheme, compared to an increase across the borough 
for the same period of 33%. This shows increasing confidence in the housing market 
in this area as values rise at a faster rate. Despite this improvement, values remain 
well below the borough mean of £140,808 for all properties and £97,327 for terraced 
properties in 22/23. 
 

6.42 In addition, the number of empty homes in the current designation has 
reduced from 15% of the area in 2018 to 10% in 2023, suggesting increasing 
stabilisation of the community. This is however still above the borough average of 
4.4%. There are also more long term vacant properties in this area; 3% of the current 
area and 3.5% of the proposed area have been empty for two years or more, 
compared to a borough rate of 1.2% (22/23). The licensing team are working 
proactively with the Empty Homes team to bring as many empty properties back into 
use as possible, and the Council believes that continuing and expanding the 
licensing scheme will allow this proactive work to continue. 
 

6.43 The Council has also seen the positive impact of the schemes when it comes 
to property condition. Just 0.4% of the privately rented properties in the current 
scheme have an EPC which does not meet the required standard; this small number 
of properties are those where the landlord has not been compliant with the licensing 
scheme and the Council is taking steps to enforce in these cases. Selective licensing 
has allowed the Council to proactively insist upon improvements to energy efficiency 
in properties and obtain the correct paperwork to reflect this (a licence will not be 
granted at a property with an EPC rated below “E”). Without the resources licensing 
provides, landlords could continue to operate below the required standard.  
 

6.44 The evidence shows, however, that there is a significant number of properties 
in the current and proposed licensing area across all tenures where the EPC is rated 
below “E” (4.8% for the current area and 4.4% for the proposed boundary, compared 
to 2.7% for the borough). This shows a clear concentration of energy inefficient 
homes within this area and is a strong indicator of poor property condition.  
 

6.45 Data from the BRE shows that Trinity ward has the highest rate of estimated 
serious hazards in the borough. 22% of all tenures are estimated to have a category 

Page 96



35 

1 hazard, compared to 14% for the borough, and 27.3% of the private rented sector 
is estimated to have a serious hazard, compared to 22.5% for the borough. The 
current licensing area is estimated to have hazards at 23.2% of all properties, higher 
than both the borough and ward average. However, within the private rented sector 
in the current licensing area this reduces to 21.8%, just below the borough average. 
This shows the positive impact of licensing in tackling poor property condition. 
 

6.46 The EPC and BRE data both show that the current and proposed licensing 
areas have significant levels of properties in poor condition across all tenures, and 
from the Council’s experience we expect that a number of these properties will move 
into the private rented sector. It is crucial that the Council is able to monitor these 
properties closely to ensure they then meet the required standards. 
 

6.47 Levels of disrepair complaints to the Council in the current licensing area 
have fluctuated throughout the scheme, from 8% of the private rented sector in 19/20 
reducing slightly to 7.3% in 22/23. The level of complaints has remained consistently 
above the borough average (3.8% in 22/23). The Council received complaints about 
6.4% of the private rented sector in the proposed boundary. The Council is satisfied 
that whilst small reductions in complaints are being seen, there is still further work to 
do to tackle poor property condition in this area. 
 

6.48 The current and proposed licensing areas are estimated to contain a high 
number of HMOs; 5.93% and 6.6% respectively compared to 2.17% for the borough. 
HMOs form a vital part of the housing market, but they do carry greater risks than 
other property types, including risk of overcrowding and higher fire risks. A significant 
number of HMOs in the current and proposed licensing areas do not meet the 
threshold for mandatory HMO licensing; therefore it is important that the Council 
considers other ways to proactively monitor standards at these properties. Selective 
licensing gives the Council the tools to do this. 
 

6.49 Complaints of ASB to the Council in the current scheme have reduced from 
1.9% of all properties in 18/19 to 0.82% in 22/23, just slightly above the borough 
average of 0.55% for 22/23. Complaints to police have fluctuated over the same 
period, with increases in 2020/21 largely attributed to pandemic related breaches 
being recorded as ASB and increased neighbourhood tensions. Figures have now 
started to reduce closer to expected levels, but the current licensing area recorded a 
slightly higher rate in 2023 (13.4%) than in 2019 (12.7%).  
 

6.50 The licensing team works closely with the neighbourhood policing teams and 
the Council’s community safety team to tackle instances of ASB; representatives 
from the team attend various multi agency meetings and individual officers are in 
contact with the neighbourhood policing teams for their areas. The Council believes it 
is important to continue strengthening these relationships to ensure that all parties 
are sharing information, knowledge and skills to tackle ASB. The conditions of the 
selective licence require landlords to take steps to prevent and tackle ASB; this offers 
a unique tool which would not otherwise be available, strengthening the multi agency 
approach to tackling ASB. 
 

6.51 Instances of residents complaining about dirty back yards have risen 
considerably in the licensing area from 0.82% of all properties in 18/19 to 3.12% in 
22/23. Rates for 22/23 are comparable in the proposed boundary. There have been 

Page 97



36 

fluctuations during this period; there was a significant increase in 20/21 which has 
now started to reduce, but overall levels remain high, compared to the borough 
average of 1.37%. The licensing team work closely with colleagues in Streetscene to 
tackle this blight on neighbourhoods, by undertaking proactive audits and sharing of 
data to try to identify repeat offenders. Licensing officers are able to utilise the 
conditions of the licence to ensure landlords are also playing their part to tackle 
environmental crime.  
 

6.52 In summary, whilst the Council is satisfied that improvements are being made 
in the Trinity area, it believes that there is still work to be done on tackling low 
demand for housing. The Council is satisfied that selective licensing gives the 
Council the tools it needs, working with other partners, to ensure better outcomes for 
residents in this area. The Council is also satisfied that the evidence suggests the 
expansion of the licensing scheme in this area would ensure greater benefits to a 
larger number of residents.  

  

Page 98



37 

7 The Queensgate Proposed Designation 
Background 

7.1 The Queensgate area was first designated as an area subject to selective licensing 
in 2014; it has since been subject to a further designation from 2019-2024. Figure 8 
shows the boundary of the current designation. The designation is primarily located 
in the Queensgate ward, with a small area to the south located in Bank Hall. 
 

Figure 8: Queensgate 2019-2024 Selective Licensing Boundary 

 
 
7.2 The current designation covers a large residential area of over 1600 properties, of 

which 48.7%% are privately rented (SL Database 2023). 

Page 99



38 

 
7.3 Throughout the designation, the Council has monitored several key indicators of low 

housing demand. The scheme is now in its final year, and the Council has assessed 
these indicators to determine the effectiveness of the scheme, and whether this area, 
or other similar areas, would benefit from a further selective licensing designation. 
 

7.4 The Council has also considered whether the following neighbouring areas would 
benefit from Selective Licensing: 

7.4.1.1 Zone 1: Kyan/Grasmere Street Area 
7.4.1.2 Zone 2: Heasanford Area 

 
7.5 Zone 1 is a residential area situated to the north of the current Queensgate boundary 

and consists of 177 properties of which 41.8% are estimated to be privately rented 
(BRE 2023). 
 

7.6 Zone 2 is primarily a residential area, with some commercial properties along 
Briercliffe Road, some of which have accommodation above, and is situated to the 
south-east of the current Queensgate boundary. It consists of 1084 properties of 
which 47.1% are estimated to be privately rented (BRE 2023). 
 

7.7 The Council is proposing to designate the existing Queensgate area, plus the 
additional areas described above. A map of the proposed boundaries can be found in 
Appendix 4. 

 
Table 25: Key Indicators: Queensgate and Surrounding Areas 2022/23 

 Queensgate 
Current 
Boundary 

Zone 1: 
Kyan/Grasmere 
St 

Zone 2: 
Heasanford 

Burnley Borough 

Total Properties 1612 177 1084 44,123 
Private Rented 48.7% 41.8%  47.1% 24.3% 
Owner Occupied 37.7% 57.6% 51.2% 59.8%  
EPC Below Minimum 
Standard in PRS (EPC 
Register 2023) 

0.5% 4.1% 3.3% Figure unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 
hazards in PRS (BRE 
2023, as % of PRS) 

23.2% 27% 28.2% 22.5% 

Disrepair Complaints to 
BBC as % of PRS 
(22/23) 

6.5% 1.35% 2.4% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs (BRE 
2023) 

5.5% 1.7% 4.9% 2.17%  

Mean House Value 
(Land Registry 22/23) 

£63,860 £74,539 £75,154 All: £140,808 
Terraced: 
£97,327 

Vacant Homes 2yr+ 
(March 23) 

2% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2% 

ASB Complaints to BBC 
(22/23) 

0.7% 2.8% 0.4% 0.6% 

DBY Resident 
Complaints to BBC 
(22/23)  

2.1% 0.6% 1.4% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS 
Households in Fuel 
Poverty (BRE 23) 

21% 21.6% 28.6% 23.5% 

 

Page 100



39 

Housing Tenure 
7.8 Queensgate ward has the fourth highest level of private renting in the borough. A 

small part of the Queensgate designation falls into Bank Hall ward; which has the 
highest levels, and has also seen a significant increase since the 2011 census (Table 
2). 

 
7.9 Table 26 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing areas. 

The proposed licensing area would extend the boundary by an estimated 584 private 
rented properties and is estimated to be 47.7% PRS. There is a significant 
concentration of the PRS within the proposed boundary. 

 
Table 26: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 
Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
7.10 According to BRE data, Queensgate ward is estimated to have the fourth 

highest rate of HMOs in the borough at 2.47% compared to 2.17% for Burnley (Table 
3). 
 

7.11 Table 27 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing 
areas. The current Queensgate licensing area has a much higher concentration of 
HMOs than the borough and the ward in which it is situated, and the proposed area 
has a comparable rate.  

 
Table 27: Estimated HMOs Current and Proposed Selective Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 

Page 101



40 

Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
 
8.12  2.7% of properties (all tenures) in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all tenures), 
compared to 5.2% of properties in the current Queensgate designation. However, of those 
properties, those that are privately rented are much lower, at 0.5%. 
 
Table 28: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 
Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 

 
7.12 The figures clearly show the positive impact that the licensing schemes have 

had; of the four privately rented properties in the current Queensgate scheme rated 
below “E”, two are subject to ongoing applications where the Council is working with 
the landlords to ensure they meet the required standard, whilst the other two are 
currently non compliant with the scheme. The Council will take appropriate legal 
action regarding both the offence of operating without a licence and failure to adhere 
to energy efficiency regulations. Without the licensing schemes proactively 
investigating EPC ratings, it’s possible for landlords to operate below standard under 
the radar.  

7.13 There are 65 properties in the additional zones which the Council is proposing 
to add to the Queensgate designation which have recorded EPC ratings below “E”. 
Of those, 20 are estimated to be privately rented. This is a significant number of 

Page 102



41 

properties which do not appear to meet the current efficiency standards and from 
experience of previous schemes, the Council often finds there are more privately 
rented properties in a designated area than initially estimated. The Council is 
confident that a further designation and extension of the Queensgate area will allow 
us to proactively address this issue of non-compliance in the additional zones, as 
well as continuing to monitor new rental properties coming on stream in the existing 
areas to ensure they also meet the standard. 

 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
7.14 The percentage of properties in the current and proposed licensing areas 

estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly above the Burnley average of 
14.7%. When taken together, the estimated rates at privately rented properties for 
the current and proposed licensing areas is above the average for Burnley of 22.5%, 
though there is variation between the areas.  

 
7.15 BRE data estimates that Queensgate ward has the fifth highest level of 

Category 1 hazards in the PRS in the borough (Table 6). 
 

7.16 Table 29 examines the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the 
current and proposed licensing areas.  

 
Table 29: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate 2025-
30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 

Page 103



42 

Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
7.17 The current Queensgate selective licensing area is estimated to have 

Category 1 Hazards at 20.2% of all properties and 21% of private rented properties; 
the rate for all properties is considerable above the Burnley average, whilst the rate 
at private rented properties is just below the Burnley average. This suggests that the 
licensing schemes are having a positive impact on property conditions in 
Queensgate.  
 

7.18 There are estimated to be an additional 164 privately rented properties in the 
proposed extended boundaries to Queensgate; when incorporated with the existing 
boundary this increases the percentage of privately rented properties estimated to 
have a serious hazard to 24%, higher than the Burnley average. The Council is 
satisfied that it is appropriate to consider extending the boundary to address issues 
of poor property condition in the wider area. 

 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
 

7.19 Queensgate ward ranked third highest in the borough for disrepair complaints 
made to the Council in 2022/23 (Table 7). 
 

7.20 Table 30 and Figure 9 show the numbers of disrepair complaints within the 
current and proposed licensing areas. The number of complaints in the Queensgate 
designation rose slightly from 19/20 and have since remained static. The number of 
complaints as a percentage of the private rented stock is still significantly above 
average for the borough. By incorporating additional zones, this has reduced slightly, 
though this may be explained by the fact that residents of some areas may not be 
aware of the assistance the Council can provide when issues of disrepair have not 
been addressed by their landlord. The Council is satisfied that there is further work to 
be done to investigate and address poor property condition in the Queensgate and 
wider area. 

 
Table 30: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous 
Selective Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 2022-27 

7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 2025-30    4.7% 
Gannow 2025-30    6.1% 

Page 104



43 

Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

   4.8% 

Padiham 2025-30    2.5% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30    6% 
BURNLEY    3.8% 

 
 
Figure 9: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

 

Housing Market 
 

7.21 Mean house values in Queensgate and Bank Hall ward are the fourth and 
second lowest respectively in the borough for 2022/23 at £95,991 and £88,883 
respectively compared to a borough average of £140, 808 (Table 8). 

 
 

7.22 Table 31 and Figure 10 show trends in house values in the current licensing 
areas for the last four years, as well as the most recent data for the proposed new 
designations.  

 
Table 31: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 
 

£60,826 
 

Queensgate 2019-24 £40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 
 

£63,860 
 

Gannow 2019-24 £47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 
 

£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

£38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

£40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 2022-27 £39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 
 

£60,810 
 

Proposed Selective Licensing      

0

20

40

60

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Trinity 19-24

Queensgate 19-24

Gannow 19-24

Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 19-24

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 22-27

Leyland Road 22-27

Disrepair Complaints SL Areas 19/20-22/23

Page 105



44 

Areas 
Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 

 
Queensgate 2025-30     £67,666 

 
Gannow 2025-30     £73,043 

 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

    £63,607 
 

Padiham 2025-30     £75,671 
 

Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     £82,081 
 

BURNLEY ALL PROPERTIES £106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 
BURNLEY TERRACED 
PROPERTIES 

£70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

 
Figure 10: Mean House Values (ONS) 

 
 

7.23 Mean house values in Burnley for all properties rose by around 33% between 
2018/19 and 2022/23; for terraced properties the increase was approximately 38%.  
 

7.24 In Queensgate licensing area, values rose by around 59% over the same 
period, steadily increasing year on year. This is a significant rate of increase 
compared to the borough, which may indicate increasing confidence in the housing 
market within the licensing area. 
 

7.25 However, property values in Queensgate and Bank Hall remain significantly 
below the borough average for all property types and terraces. The rate of increase is 

£30,000

£50,000

£70,000

£90,000

£110,000

£130,000

£150,000

Trin
ity

Que
en

sg
ate

Gan
no

w

Dan
es

ho
us

e &
 Ston

ey
ho

lm
e

Burn
ley

 W
oo

d w
ith

 H
ea

ley
 W

oo
d

Le
yla

nd
 R

oa
d A

rea

BURNLE
Y ALL

 PROPERTIES

BURNLE
Y TERRACED 

PROPERTIES

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Mean House Values 2017/18-2022/23

Page 106



45 

promising, but lower house values continue to indicate a problem of low demand in 
this area.  
 

7.26 Values for the proposed licensing area are higher than the current boundary, 
but remain well below average.  

 

Empty Homes 
 

7.27 Over the last ten years the number of empty homes in Burnley has reduced. 
Empty homes in Queensgate ward have continued to reduce significantly, but still 
remain high (Table 9) 

 
7.28 Table 32 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 

current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 
Table 32: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 2018 March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 

Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

   8% 9% 8% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

     7% 

Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

     6% 

Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

     7% 

 
7.29 The data shows a steady decrease in vacant properties in Queensgate 

licensing area. The Council accepts that there will always be a number of vacant 
properties in the borough and licensing areas as properties are bought and sold, and 
tenancies change. The rates in the licensing areas are reducing but remain above 
average, which suggests more of an issue with low demand and high tenant 
turnover, though the picture is improving in this area. 
 

7.30 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 33 shows the number of long term 

Page 107



46 

empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

7.31 Long term empty properties in Queensgate remain above average, despite a 
reduction in recent years of overall vacant properties. The proposed boundary with 
additional zones has a lower rate of long term empty properties, demonstrating less 
of an issue in the wider zones that the current designation, however the total rate 
remains above the borough average. The Council believes that further intervention 
via selective licensing will support the work of the Empty Homes team in further 
reducing long term empty properties in the Queensgate and Bank Hall area. 

 
Table 33: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 
 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
7.32 Rates of all crime recorded by Police in Queensgate ward increased from 

20/21 to 21/22 before recording a notable decrease in 22/23 (Table 10). Queensgate 
ward was ranked as the fourth highest ward for all recorded crime in 2022/23. 

 
7.33 Queensgate ward was the fourth highest ranking ward for ASB, despite a 

significant reduction between 2021/22 and 2022/23, and a greater than borough 
average reduction in 2022/23 (Table 11). 

 
7.34 Table 34 shows the number of ASB cases recorded by Police for the current 

selective licensing areas by calendar year.  Queensgate has recorded a significant 
reduction in ASB in the last year, following a spike in 2020 and 2021, which may in 
part be attributed to Covid breaches and increased neighbour intolerance during 
lockdown periods. Levels have since returned to 2019 levels. Analyst data is not 
currently available for the proposed boundaries. 

 
Table 34: ASB Recorded by Police (Lancashire Police Analyst) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 12.7% 26.3% 18.6% 11.5% 13.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 11.6% 20.5% 25% 20% 11% 
Gannow 2019-24 14.6% 20.6% 23.4% 12.1% 11% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

8.7% 12.1% 11.8% 2.9% 3.7% 

Page 108



47 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   17.7% 14.6% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    14.6% 15.3% 
 
 

7.35 Table 35 shows the numbers of cases reported to the Council in the licensing 
areas since 2018/19. These figures differ from those recorded by Police, as not every 
incident is reported to both agencies. Cases recorded by the Council in Queensgate 
have reduced notably since 2018, which shows a promising trend, although it does 
remain above average for the borough for 2022/23. 

 
7.36 Cases recorded in the proposed area are comparable with the current 

boundary, suggesting a similar level of concern with ASB, and the proposed 
boundary remains above the borough average for 2022/23. 

 
Table 35: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas Cases as Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

 
 

Environmental Crime 
7.37 Queensgate ward is ranked seventh for resident complaints of dirty back 

yards in 2022/23, with Bank Hall ward ranked third. Queensgate has followed a 
similar trajectory to the borough, with increases in 2020/21 followed by reductions in 
the last two years (Table 12). 

 
7.38 Table 36 examines number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 

current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

7.39 Cases in Queensgate rose between 2018/19 and 2020/21, and have since 
reduced but still remain above the average for the borough. Environmental crime 
remains an issue for residents in this area.  
 

7.40 Cases in the proposed boundary reduce the total to 1.7%, which whilst lower 
is still above the borough average. This suggests environmental crime is still an issue 

Page 109



48 

for the proposed wider boundary.  
 

Table 36: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

 
 

Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 
7.41 The Council has seen some positive improvements in the Queensgate area 

throughout the current scheme. Property values have increased from a mean value 
of £40,146 in 18/19 to £63,860 in 22/23 for the current scheme; the mean for the 
proposed boundary for 22/23 is slightly higher at £67,666. This represents an 
increase of around 59% in the current scheme, compared to an increase across the 
borough for the same period of 33%. This shows increasing confidence in the 
housing market in this area as values rise at a faster rate. Despite this improvement, 
values remain well below the borough mean of £140,808 for all properties and 
£97,327 for terraced properties in 22/23. 
 

7.42 In addition, the number of empty homes in the current designation has 
reduced from 12% of the area in 2018 to 7% in 2023, suggesting increasing 
stabilisation of the community. This is however still above the borough average of 
4.4%. There are also more long term vacant properties in this area; 2.2% of the 
current area and 1.7% of the proposed area have been empty for two years or more, 
compared to a borough rate of 1.2% (22/23). The licensing team are working 
proactively with the Empty Homes team to bring as many empty properties back into 
use as possible, and the Council believes that continuing and expanding the 
licensing scheme will allow this proactive work to continue. 
 

7.43 The Council has also seen the positive impact of the schemes when it comes 
to property condition. Just 0.5% of the privately rented properties in the current 
scheme have an EPC which does not meet the required standard; this small number 
of properties are those where the landlord has not been compliant with the licensing 
scheme and the Council is taking steps to enforce in these cases. Selective licensing 
has allowed the Council to proactively insist upon improvements to energy efficiency 

Page 110



49 

in properties and obtain the correct paperwork to reflect this (a licence will not be 
granted at a property with an EPC rated below “E”). Without the resources licensing 
provides, landlords could continue to operate below the required standard.  
 

7.44 In addition, the evidence shows that there is a significant number of 
properties in the current and proposed licensing area across all tenures where the 
EPC is rated below “E” (4.8% for the current area and 4.4% for the proposed 
boundary, compared to 2.7% for the borough). This shows a clear concentration of 
energy inefficient homes within this area and is a strong indicator of poor property 
condition.  
 

7.45 Data from the BRE shows that Queensgate ward has the fifth highest rate of 
estimated serious hazards in the borough. 19.7% of all tenures are estimated to have 
a category 1 hazard, compared to 14% for the borough, and 22.3% of the private 
rented sector is estimated to have a serious hazard, comparable with 22.5% for the 
borough. The current licensing area is estimated to have hazards at 20.2% of all 
properties, higher than both the borough and ward average. However, within the 
private rented sector in the current licensing area this reduces to 21%, just below the 
borough average. This shows the positive impact of licensing in tackling poor 
property condition. 
 

7.46 The EPC and BRE data both show that the current and proposed licensing 
areas have significant levels of properties in poor condition across all tenures, and 
from the Council’s experience we expect that a number of these properties will move 
into the private rented sector. It is crucial that the Council is able to monitor these 
properties closely to ensure they then meet the required standards. 
 

7.47 Levels of disrepair complaints to the Council in the current licensing area 
have increased throughout the scheme, from 5% of the private rented sector in 19/20 
to 6.5% in 22/23. The level of complaints has remained consistently above the 
borough average (3.8% in 22/23). The Council received complaints about 4.7% of the 
private rented sector in the proposed boundary. This could indicate that the problems 
of disrepair are concentrated in the current boundary; but it could also be argued that 
as the additional zones have not yet been subject to selective licensing, residents are 
less aware that they can approach the Council to make a complaint. The Council 
believes that there is still significant work to be done in the Queensgate area to tackle 
property condition, and is keen to empower more residents to come forward with 
complaints if their landlord is not operating to the required standard. 
 

7.48 The current and proposed licensing areas are estimated to contain a high 
number of HMOs; 5.52% and 5.01% respectively compared to 2.17% for the 
borough. HMOs form a vital part of the housing market, but they do carry greater 
risks than other property types, including risk of overcrowding and higher fire risks. A 
significant number of HMOs in the current and proposed licensing areas do not meet 
the threshold for mandatory HMO licensing; therefore it is important that the Council 
considers other ways to proactively monitor standards at these properties. Selective 
licensing gives the Council the tools to do this. 
 

7.49 Complaints of ASB to the Council in the current scheme have reduced from 
2.1% of all properties in 18/19 to 0.74% in 22/23, just above the borough average of 
0.55% for 22/23. Complaints to police have fluctuated over the same period, with 

Page 111



50 

increases in 2020/21 largely attributed to pandemic related breaches being recorded 
as ASB and increased neighbourhood tensions. Figures have since reduced 
following this peak, and are now back to 2019 levels (11.6% in 2019 compared to 
11% in 2023).  
 

7.50 The licensing team works closely with the neighbourhood policing teams and 
the Council’s community safety team to tackle instances of ASB; representatives 
from the team attend various multi agency meetings and individual officers are in 
contact with the neighbourhood policing teams for their areas. The Council believes it 
is important to continue strengthening these relationships to ensure that all parties 
are sharing information, knowledge and skills to tackle ASB. The conditions of the 
selective licence require landlords to take steps to prevent and tackle ASB; this offers 
a unique tool which would not otherwise be available, strengthening the multi agency 
approach to tackling ASB. 
 

7.51 Instances of residents complaining about dirty back yards have risen slightly 
in the licensing area from 1.55% of all properties in 18/19 to 2.05% in 22/23. Rates 
for 22/23 are lower in the proposed boundary (1.7%). There have been fluctuations 
during this period; there was a significant increase in 20/21 which has now started to 
reduce, but overall levels remain high, compared to the borough average of 1.37%. 
The licensing team work closely with colleagues in Streetscene to tackle this blight 
on neighbourhoods, by undertaking proactive audits and sharing of data to try to 
identify repeat offenders. Licensing officers are able to utilise the conditions of the 
licence to ensure landlords are also playing their part to tackle environmental crime.  
 

7.52 In summary, whilst the Council is satisfied that improvements are being made 
in the Queensgate area, it believes that there is still work to be done on tackling low 
demand for housing. The Council is satisfied that selective licensing gives the 
Council the tools it needs, working with other partners, to ensure better outcomes for 
residents in this area. The Council is also satisfied that the evidence suggests the 
expansion of the licensing scheme in this area would ensure greater benefits to a 
larger number of residents.  

 
 

  

Page 112



51 

8 The Gannow Proposed Designation 
Background 

8.1 The Gannow area was first designated as an area subject to selective licensing in 
2014; it has since been subject to a further designation from 2019-2024. Figure 11 
shows the boundary of the current designation. The designation is primarily located 
in the Gannow ward. 
 

Figure 11: Gannow 2019-2024 Selective Licensing Boundary 

 
 
8.2 The current designation covers a residential area of just under 1000 properties, of 

which 51.7%% are privately rented (SL Database 2023). 
 

8.3 Throughout the designation, the Council has monitored several key indicators of low 
housing demand. The scheme is now in its final year, and the Council has assessed 
these indicators to determine the effectiveness of the scheme, and whether this area, 
or other similar areas, would benefit from a further selective licensing designation. 
 

8.4 The Council has also considered whether a small neighbouring area to the north of 
the current designation would benefit from Selective Licensing: the Carter/Palace 
Street area. This is a small residential area of typical terraced houses, with the 
exception of some properties on Padiham Road which are larger terraces with higher 
property values. Whilst the area does have above average levels of owner occupiers, 
private renting is also above the Burnley average, there are higher than average 
complaints to the Council of property disrepair, and the BRE estimates that 30.5% of 
rented properties in this area have a category 1 hazard. Vacant homes and 
estimated HMOs are also above average. The Council is satisfied that further 
investigation into property condition is appropriate in this area. 
 

8.5 The Council proposes to designate the current Gannow licensing area, with the 

Page 113



52 

additional area described above. A map of the proposed boundary is attached as 
Appendix 6. 

 
 
Table 37: Key Indicators: Gannow and Surrounding Area 2022/23 

 Gannow Current 
Boundary 

Carter Palace St  Burnley 
Borough 

Total Properties 960 185 44,123 
Private Rented 51.7% 31.9%  24.3% 
Owner Occupied 33.4% 67%  59.8%  
EPC Below Minimum Standard 
in PRS (EPC Register 2023) 

0.6% 1.7% Figure unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 hazards in 
PRS (BRE 2023, as % of 
PRS) 

24% 30.5% 22.5% 

Disrepair Complaints to BBC 
as % of PRS (22/23) 

3.4% 11.9% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs (BRE 2023) 4.5% 3.8% 2.17%  
Mean House Value (Land 
Registry 22/23) 

£68,843 £103,585 All: £140,808 
Terraced: 
£97,327 

Vacant Homes 2yr+ (March 
23) 

2.2% 1.6% 1.2% 

ASB Complaints to BBC 
(22/23) 

1.9% 0% 0.6% 

DBY Resident Complaints to 
BBC (22/23)  

3.4% 0.5% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS Households in 
Fuel Poverty (BRE 23) 

20% 45.8% 23.5% 

 

Housing Tenure 
8.6 Gannow ward has the sixth highest percentage of private rented properties at 25.6%, 

which is above the Burnley and England averages, though closer to the Burnley 
average than other wards where licensing areas are located (Table 2). As with all 
parts of Burnley, levels of private renting increased at the ward level between the last 
two censuses. Levels of social renting are below the Burnley and England average, 
whilst owner occupiers are just higher than the Burnley average. 

 
8.7 Table 38 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing areas. 

There is a clear concentration of private rented properties within the proposed 
boundary; the rate is much higher than that for Gannow ward as a whole. The 
proposed licensing area would extend the boundary a small amount by an estimated 
59 private rented properties; the proposed licensing area is estimated to be 48.5% 
private rented.  

 
Table 38: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 

Page 114



53 

Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30/Bank Hall??? 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
8.8 According to BRE data, Gannow ward is estimated to have the sixth highest rate of 

HMOs in the borough at 2.19% comparable with 2.17% for Burnley (Table 3). 
 

8.9 Table 39 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing areas. 
The current Gannow licensing area has a much higher concentration of HMOs than 
the borough and the ward in which it is situated, and the proposed area has a 
comparable rate.  

 
Table 39: Estimated HMOs Current and Proposed Selective Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

 
 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
8.10 2.7% of properties (all tenures) in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all 

tenures), the figure for Gannow is comparable at 2.8%. However, of those properties, 
those that are privately rented are much lower, at 0.6%. 
 

Page 115



54 

Table 40: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 
Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 

 
8.11 The figures clearly show the positive impact that the licensing schemes have 

had; of the three privately rented properties in the current Gannow scheme rated 
below “E”, all belong to landlords who are not currently compliant with the licensing 
scheme, and whom the Council is actively pursuing. Without the licensing schemes 
proactively investigating EPC ratings, it’s possible for landlords to operate below 
standard under the radar. 
 

8.12 The proposed extension to the Gannow designation is relatively small, and as 
such there are only 4 additional properties which have recorded EPC ratings below 
“E”. Of those, just one is believed to be privately rented. The issue of non-compliance 
with efficiency legislation is clearly less of a problem in this area. However, from 
experience of previous schemes, the Council often finds there are more privately 
rented properties in a designated area than initially estimated. The Council is 
confident that a further designation in the Gannow area will allow us to continue to 
monitor new privately rented properties to ensure they are meeting the required 
standard. 

 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
 
8.13 The percentage of properties in the current and proposed licensing areas 

estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly above the Burnley average of 
14.7%. When taken together, the estimated rates at privately rented properties for 
the current and proposed licensing areas is above the average for Burnley of 22.5%, 
though there is variation between the areas. 
 

8.14 BRE data estimates that Gannow ward has the seventh highest level of 
Category 1 hazards in the PRS in the borough (Table 6). 

 

Page 116



55 

8.15 Table 41 examines the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the 
current and proposed licensing areas.  

 
Table 41: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate 2025-
30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
8.16 Gannow ward was ranked joint sixth for disrepair complaints to the Council in 

22/23. 
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
8.17 Gannow ward tanked joint sixth highest for disrepair complaints made to the 

Council in 2022/23 (Table 7). 
 

8.18 Table 42 and Figure 12 show the numbers of disrepair complaints within the 
current and proposed licensing areas. Numbers of disrepair complaints in Gannow 
rose noticeably in 21/22, before returning to more expected levels in 22/23. The 
number of complaints as a percentage of the private rented stock is now below 
average for the borough. The incorporation of a small additional area has increased 
the number of recorded cases to 6.1%, which is a significant increase. The Council is 

Page 117



56 

therefore satisfied that it is appropriate to investigate further the condition of 
properties in the neighbouring Carter Street/Palace Street area, in order to improve 
property conditions to the same level as the existing designation. 

 
Table 42: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous 
Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 2022-27 

7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 2025-30    4.7% 
Gannow 2025-30    6.1% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

   4.8% 

Padiham 2025-30    2.5% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-
30 

   6% 

BURNLEY    3.8% 
 
 
Figure 12: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Trinity 19-24 Queensgate 19-24

Gannow 19-24 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 19-24

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 22-27 Leyland Road 22-27

Disrepair Complaints SL Areas 19/20-22/23

Page 118



57 

Housing Market 
8.19 Mean house values in Gannow ward are the ninth lowest in the borough for 

2022/23 (Table 8) Gannow ward contains more variation in housing than many of the 
other wards where licensing schemes are situated, with many areas of new builds 
and larger, higher value properties. These are largely located outside of the licensing 
area.  

 
8.20 Table 43 and Figure 13 show trends in house values in the current licensing 

areas for the last four years, as well as the most recent data for the proposed new 
designations.  

 
Table 43: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 
 

£60,826 
 

Queensgate 2019-24 £40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 
 

£63,860 
 

Gannow 2019-24 £47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 
 

£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 £38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

£40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 2022-27 £39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 
 

£60,810 
 

Proposed Selective Licensing Areas      
Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 

 
Queensgate 2025-30     £67,666 

 
Gannow 2025-30     £73,043 

 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-
30 

    £63,607 
 

Padiham 2025-30     £75,671 
 

Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     £82,081 
 

BURNLEY ALL PROPERTIES £106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 
BURNLEY TERRACED 
PROPERTIES 

£70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

Page 119



58 

 
Figure 13: Mean House Values (ONS) 

 
 

8.21 Mean house values in Burnley for all properties rose by around 33% between 
2018/19 and 2022/23; for terraced properties the increase was approximately 38%.  
 

8.22 In Gannow licensing area, values rose by around 45% over the same period, 
steadily increasing year on year with a notable jump between 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
House values in Gannow remain the highest of the current licensing schemes.  
 

8.23 However, property values in Gannow still remain significantly below the 
borough average for all property types and terraces. The rate of increase is 
promising, but lower house values continue to indicate a problem of low demand in 
this area.  
 

8.24 Values for the proposed licensing area are notably higher than the current 
boundary for 2022/23, but remain below average. Land registry data shows one 
significantly high value sale for a large property within the proposed additional 
boundary which has increased the total mean value for this year.  

 

Empty Homes 
 

8.25 Empty homes in Gannow ward have fluctuated in the last ten years; 
reductions in 2020 and 2021 were followed by increases in 2022 and 2023 (Table 9). 
 

8.26 Table 44 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 
current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 

£30,000

£50,000

£70,000

£90,000

£110,000

£130,000

£150,000

Trin
ity

Que
en

sg
ate

Gan
no

w

Dan
es

ho
us

e &
 Ston

ey
ho

lm
e

Burn
ley

 W
oo

d w
ith

 H
ea

ley
 

Woo
d

Le
yla

nd
 R

oa
d A

rea

BURNLE
Y ALL

 PROPERTIES

BURNLE
Y TERRACED 

PROPERTIES

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Mean House Values 2017/18-2022/23

Page 120



59 

Table 44: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 2018 March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 

Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

   8% 9% 8% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

     7% 

Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

     6% 

Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

     7% 

 
8.27 In line with the ward trends, rates of empty properties in Gannow licensing 

area reduced in 2020 and 2021, before increasing to 10% in 2022 and 2023. This 
remains well above the borough average of 4.4% and is the joint highest level of 
empty properties amongst the current licensing areas. 
 

8.28 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 45 shows the number of long term 
empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

8.29 Long term empty properties in Gannow remain above average. The proposed 
boundary contains a very similar level of long term empty properties. The Council 
believes that further intervention via selective licensing will support the work of the 
Empty Homes team in reducing long term empty properties in the Gannow area. 

 
Table 45: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate2025-30 1.7% 

Page 121



60 

Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
8.30 Rates of all crime recorded by Police in Gannow ward increased in 20/21 and 

21/22 before decreasing again in 22/23 (Table 10). Gannow ward was ranked as the 
ninth highest ward for all recorded crime in 2022/23, indicating levels of all crime are 
less of a concern in this ward. 

 
8.31 Gannow ward was also the ninth highest ranking ward for ASB, despite a 

significant reduction increase in 2020/21. This was followed by notable decreases 
from 2021/22 to 2022/23 (Table 11). Rates for 2022/23 at the ward level are lower 
than the Burnley rate. 

 
8.32 Table 46 shows the number of ASB cases recorded by Police for the current 

selective licensing areas by calendar year.  Gannow has recorded a significant 
reduction in ASB in 2022, following a spike in 2020 and 2021, which may in part be 
attributed to Covid breaches and increased neighbour intolerance during lockdown 
periods. This was followed by a further slight decrease in 2023. Rates overall have 
reduced since 2019. Analyst data is not currently available for the proposed areas. 

 
Table 46: ASB Recorded by Police (Lancashire Police Analyst) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 12.7% 26.3% 18.6% 11.5% 13.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 11.6% 20.5% 25% 20% 11% 
Gannow 2019-24 14.6% 20.6% 23.4% 12.1% 11% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

8.7% 12.1% 11.8% 2.9% 3.7% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   17.7% 14.6% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    14.6% 15.3% 
 
 

8.33 Table 47 shows the numbers of cases reported to the Council in the licensing 
areas as a percentage of properties since 2018/19. These figures differ from those 
recorded by Police, as not every incident is reported to both agencies. Cases 
recorded by the Council in Gannow have fluctuated, with a slight increase recorded 
in 2022/23, and remain above the borough average. 

 
8.34 Cases recorded in the proposed licensing area are lower than the current 

boundary, suggesting a concentration of ASB within the current boundary; the 
proposed boundary remains above the borough average for 2022/23. 

 
Table 47: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas Cases as Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 

Page 122



61 

Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

 

Environmental Crime 
8.35 Gannow ward is ranked eighth for resident complaints of dirty back yards in 

2022/23 (Table 12). Gannow had a similar increase to the borough in 2022/21 and 
has remained static since.  

 
8.36 Table 48 examines number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 

current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

8.37 Cases in Gannow reduced between 2019/20 and 2020/21, contrary to the 
other licensing areas, but then rose again by a notable amount in 2021/22. Levels 
have since reduced again but remain above the borough average. Environmental 
crime remains an issue for residents in this area.  
 

8.38 Cases in the proposed area are slightly lower, indicating there is less of a 
concern in the additional proposed zones, however the figure is still well above the 
borough average and requires further intervention.  

 
Table 48: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

Page 123



62 

Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 
8.39 There have been many improvements seen in the Gannow area in recent 

years. Property values in the current licensing area have continued to rise from a 
mean value of £47,327 in 18/19 to £68,843. This represents an increase of around 
45%. Property values across Burnley rose by 33% across the same period. This 
shows a continued and improving confidence in the housing market in the licensing 
area. Mean property values in the proposed area for 22/23 are higher, at £73,043. 
Despite this improvement, values remain well below the borough mean of £140,808 
for all properties and £97,327 for terraced properties in 22/23. The Council believes 
that by continuing to support these areas by improving property management and 
condition, we will continue to see improvements in the housing market.  
 

8.40 Empty homes in the current licensing area have reduced from 12% in 2018 to 
10% in 2023. Levels for the proposed area are similar, at 9% for 22/23. This shows a 
positive reduction in empty properties which can blight a neighbourhood, and 
indicates a stabilisation of the community. However despite these improvements, 
levels of empty properties remain above the average of 4.4% for the borough. Long 
term empty properties are also higher in the current and proposed licensing areas, at 
2.2% and 2.1% respectively compared to 1.2% for the borough in 2023. The 
licensing team are working proactively with the Empty Homes team to bring as many 
empty properties back into use as possible, and the Council believes that continuing 
and expanding the licensing scheme will allow this proactive work to continue.  
 

8.41 The Council has also seen the positive impact of the schemes when it comes 
to property condition. Just 0.6% of the privately rented properties in the current 
scheme have an EPC which does not meet the required standard; this small number 
of properties are those where the landlord has not been compliant with the licensing 
scheme and the Council is taking steps to enforce in these cases. Selective licensing 
has allowed the Council to proactively insist upon improvements to energy efficiency 
in properties and obtain the correct paperwork to reflect this (a licence will not be 
granted at a property with an EPC rated below “E”). Without the resources licensing 
provides, landlords could continue to operate below the required standard.  
 

8.42 Rates of properties across all tenures with below standard EPCs in the 
licensing area are consistent with the borough average; 2.8% of the current boundary 
and 2.7% of the proposed boundary are below “E”, compared to 2.7% for the 
borough. Whilst there is still work to be done to improve energy efficiency for all 
residents, the Council is satisfied that the inefficient properties are not a significant 
concern in this area.  
 

8.43 Data from the BRE shows that Gannow ward has the seventh highest level of 
estimated category 1 hazards in the borough; the lowest of all the wards containing 
licensing areas.  15.8% of properties are thought to have serious disrepair across all 
tenures, and 21.7% of the PRS is estimated to have a serious hazard. This is 
comparable with the rates for the borough at all tenures (14.7%) and is just lower in 
the PRS (22.5% for the borough).  
 

8.44 However within the licensing areas, the figures are higher: at 20% and 20.5% 
for current and proposed areas for all tenures, and 21.6% and 22.5% for the PRS. 
This shows that the poorer properties are concentrated within the current and 
proposed boundaries, but that estimated serious hazards are below the average for 

Page 124



63 

the borough; a positive indicator for property condition in this area.  
 

8.45 There has been fluctuation in recent years in disrepair complaints to the 
Council; in 19/20 the Council received complaints about 4% of properties, this 
peaked at 7.1% in 21/22 but has since reduced to 3.4% in 22/23 which was just 
below the borough average for that year of 3.8%. Despite the fluctuations, there has 
been a significant improvement in property condition in this area. However, the 
percentage of complaints is greater in the proposed boundary, at 6.1%, indicating 
that there are issues with property condition in the surrounding proposed areas. 
  

8.46 The current and proposed licensing areas are estimated to contain a high 
number of HMOs; 4.48% and 4.37% respectively compared to 2.17% for the 
borough. HMOs form a vital part of the housing market, but they do carry greater 
risks than other property types, including risk of overcrowding and higher fire risks. A 
significant number of HMOs in the current and proposed licensing areas do not meet 
the threshold for mandatory HMO licensing; therefore it is important that the Council 
considers other ways to proactively monitor standards at these properties. Selective 
licensing gives the Council the tools to do this. 
 

8.47 Complaints of ASB to the Council in the current scheme have reduced slightly 
from 2% of all properties in 18/19 to 1.89% in 22/23, above the borough average of 
0.55% for 22/23. Complaints to police have fluctuated over the same period, with 
increases in 2020/21 largely attributed to pandemic related breaches being recorded 
as ASB and increased neighbourhood tensions. Figures have since reduced 
significantly following this peak, and are now lower than 2019 levels (14.6% in 2019 
compared to 11% in 2023).  
 

8.48 The licensing team works closely with the neighbourhood policing teams and 
the Council’s community safety team to tackle instances of ASB; representatives 
from the team attend various multi agency meetings and individual officers are in 
contact with the neighbourhood policing teams for their areas. The Council believes it 
is important to continue strengthening these relationships to ensure that all parties 
are sharing information, knowledge and skills to tackle ASB. The conditions of the 
selective licence require landlords to take steps to prevent and tackle ASB; this offers 
a unique tool which would not otherwise be available, strengthening the multi agency 
approach to tackling ASB. Whilst the trends are encouraging, complaints to the 
Council remain above the borough average. 
 

8.49 Instances of residents complaining about dirty back yards have risen 
considerably in the licensing area from 0.52% of all properties in 18/19 to 3.33% in 
22/23. Rates for 22/23 are slightly lower in the proposed boundary at 2.9%; both 
areas remain above average for the borough average of 1.37%. The licensing team 
work closely with colleagues in Streetscene to tackle this blight on neighbourhoods, 
by undertaking proactive audits and sharing of data to try to identify repeat offenders. 
Licensing officers are able to utilise the conditions of the licence to ensure landlords 
are also playing their part to tackle environmental crime.  

 
 

 

Page 125



64 

 

8.50 In summary, whilst the Council is satisfied that improvements are being made 
in the Gannow area, particularly concerning property condition, it believes that there 
is still work to be done to build on and strengthen progress on tackling low demand 
for housing; stepping away from the area prematurely risks undoing the positive work 
that has been done so far. The Council is satisfied that selective licensing gives the 
Council the tools it needs, working with other partners, to ensure better outcomes for 
residents in this area. The Council is also satisfied that the evidence suggests the 
expansion of the licensing scheme in this area would ensure greater benefits to a 
larger number of residents.  
 
 
 

 

Page 126



65 

 
 

9 The Daneshouse & Stoneyholme Proposed 
Designation  

Background 
 

9.1 The Daneshouse and Stoneyholme area was first designated as an area subject to 
selective licensing in 2014; it has since been subject to a further designation from 
2019-2024. Figure 14 shows the boundary of the current designation. The 
designation is located in the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward.  

 
Figure 14: Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2019-23 Selective Licensing Boundary 

 
 
9.2 The current designation covers a large area of over 1700 properties, of which 

33.8%% are privately rented (SL Database 2023). The area is primarily residential, 
but does have significant volumes of commercial properties along Colne Road and 
Abel Street.  
 

Page 127



66 

9.3 Whilst other licensing areas in Burnley have been designated on the basis of low 
demand for housing, Daneshouse and Stoneyholme was also designated on the 
basis of poor property condition. 
 

9.4 Throughout the designation, the Council has monitored several key indicators of low 
housing demand. The scheme is now in its final year, and the Council has assessed 
these indicators to determine the effectiveness of the scheme, and whether this area, 
or other similar areas, would benefit from a further selective licensing designation. 
 

9.5 The Council is satisfied that the current boundary is appropriate to consult on a 
second designation, and does not propose to add any areas. A map of the proposed 
boundary is attached as Appendix 8. 

 
Table 49: Key Indicators: Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2022/23 

 Daneshouse & Stoneyholme Current 
Boundary 

Burnley 
Borough 

Total Properties 1783 44,123 
Private Rented 33.8% 24.3% 
Owner Occupied 46.3% 59.8%  
EPC Below Minimum Standard in 
PRS (EPC Register 2023) 

0.3% Figure unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 hazards in PRS 
(BRE 2023, as % of PRS) 

34.8% 22.5% 

Disrepair Complaints to BBC as % 
of PRS (22/23) 

4.8% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs (BRE 2023) 2.8% 2.17% PW 
report?? 

Mean House Value (Land Registry 
22/23) 

£63,607 All: £140,808 
Terraced: 
£97,327 

Vacant Homes 2yr+ (March 23) 1.8% 1.2% 
ASB Complaints to BBC (22/23) 0.5% 0.6% 
DBY Resident Complaints to BBC 
(22/23)  

1.6% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS Households in Fuel 
Poverty (BRE 23) 

27.4% 23.5% 

 
 

Housing Tenure 
9.6 Table 2 shows that Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward has the second highest 

percentage of private rented properties at 39.5%, notably above the Burnley and 
England averages. Levels of owner occupiers are also lower. The ward has also 
seen the greatest rate of increase in private rented properties since the 2011 census. 
Levels of social renting are similar to Burnley and England. 

 
9.7 Table 50 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing areas. 

The proposed boundary has the lowest level of private renting of all the licensing 
areas, however this is still above the average for Burnley and England. 

 
 
Table 50: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Page 128



67 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 
Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30/Bank Hall??? 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
9.8 According to BRE data, Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward is estimated to have the 

third highest rate of HMOs in the borough at 2.77% compared with 2.17% for Burnley 
(Table 3). 
 

9.9 Table 51 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing areas. 
The current Daneshouse and Stoneyholme licensing area has a similar concentration 
of HMOs to the borough and the ward in which it is situated.  

 
Table 51: Estimated HMOs in the Current and Proposed Selective Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

 
  

Page 129



68 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
 
Table 52: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 
Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 

 
9.10 2.7% of properties in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all tenures) 

compared to 5.4% in Daneshouse and Stoneyholme licensing area. This suggests a 
concentration of poor property condition in this area. The rates for the private rented 
properties in this area is much lower however, at 0.3%. 
 

9.11 The figures clearly show the positive impact that the licensing schemes have 
had; both privately rented properties in the current Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 
scheme currently rated “E” are owned by landlords who are currently non-compliant 
with the licensing scheme. The Council is working to secure complete applications 
and associated valid documentation, and will seek to take legal action where 
necessary for operating contrary to the law.  
 

9.12 The Council is not proposing to make any changes to the current 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme boundary, however throughout the schemes the 
Council continues to identify newly rented properties which must meet the required 
standard. There is a high number of properties in this area rated below “E” (5.4% 
compared to a borough average of 4.3%). The Council believes it is important to 
continue working in this area to ensure any of these properties which become 
privately rented are meeting the required efficiency standards.  

 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
 

9.13 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme ward is estimated to have the fourth highest 
number of category 1 hazards in the borough (Table 6). 
 

Page 130



69 

9.14 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme was designated as a selective licensing area 
on the basis that it was both an area suffering from low demand for housing, and also 
that it suffered from poor property condition. 

 
9.15 Table 52 examines the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the 

current and proposed licensing areas.  It is estimated that 31.2% of the PRS in the 
proposed licensing area has one or more category 1 hazard, much higher than the 
estimated figure for Burnley (22.5%). 

 
Table 53: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate/ Bank 
Hall 2025-30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
9.16 The percentage of properties in the current and proposed licensing areas 

estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly above the Burnley average. 
When taken together, the estimated rates at privately rented properties for the 
current and proposed licensing areas is above the average for Burnley of 22.5%, but 
there is variation between the areas.  
 

9.17 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme current designation is estimated to have the 
highest level of private rented Category 1 Hazards of all the licensing areas, and is 

Page 131



70 

significantly above the average for Burnley.  
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints and Proactive 
Inspections  

9.18 Table 7 shows Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward to have the fourth 
highest number of disrepair complaints to the Council in 2022/23. 
 

9.19 In September 2016, the Council undertook a private sector improvement 
scheme within what is now the licensing area; the Council inspected 93 properties. 
The results are summarised in Table 54: 

 
Table 54: Daneshouse Private Sector Improvement Results (Housing Standards, BBC) 

Daneshouse Private Sector Improvement Scheme Outcomes 
44 (47%) Properties were found to have category 1 hazards 
46 (49%) Properties did not have adequate smoke detection 
73 (78%) Gas safety certificates had not been completed prior to booking of inspection 
49 (43%) Properties did not have an Energy Performance Certificate 

 
 

9.20 This estimated number of properties with a category 1 hazard as modelled by 
the BRE in 2023 is now lower than the number found during the improvement 
scheme. The existence of the licensing scheme also means that all landlords must 
ensure their property has a gas safety certificate and valid EPC. They must also 
declare that their property has adequate smoke detection. The application process 
proactively ensures that landlords are compliant with these requirements. 
 

9.21 The Council is aware that some landlords are still not compliant, however 
licensing allows us to monitor and undertake proactive inspections in order to detect 
instances of non-compliance.  
 

9.22 Table 55 and Figure 15 show the numbers of disrepair complaints within the 
current and proposed licensing areas. There was a significant increase in complaints 
in 20/21, shortly after the introduction of the first licensing scheme in Daneshouse 
and Stoneyholme. The Council believes that this could be due to some tenants not 
previously being aware that they could report issues of unaddressed disrepair to the 
Council. However since then, the rates have decreased, though they remain above 
the average rate for the borough.  
 

9.23 The Council is satisfied that based on the BRE data and evidence of disrepair 
complaints, it is still appropriate to continue working in Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme to address issues of poor property condition. 

 
Table 55: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Page 132



71 

Wood 2022-27 
Leyland Road 2022-27 6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 2025-30    4.7% 
Gannow 2025-30    6.1% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

   4.8% 

Padiham 2025-30    2.5% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30    6% 
BURNLEY    3.8% 

 
 
Figure 15: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

 
 
 

Housing Market 
9.24 Mean house values in Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward are the lowest 

recorded for 2022/23. Contrary to the trend across Burnley, values decreased 
between 2021/22 and 2022/23 (Table 8). 

 
9.25 Table 56 and Figure 16 show trends in house values in the current licensing 

areas for the last four years, as well as the most recent data for the proposed new 
designations.  

 
Table 56: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing Areas 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 

 
£60,826 
 

Queensgate 2019-24 £40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 £63,860 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Trinity 19-24 Queensgate 19-24

Gannow 19-24 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 19-24

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 22-27 Leyland Road 22-27

Disrepair Complaints SL Areas 19/20-22/23

Page 133



72 

  
Gannow 2019-24 £47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 

 
£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 £38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 £40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 2022-27 £39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 
 

£60,810 
 

Proposed Selective Licensing Areas      
Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 

 
Queensgate 2025-30     £67,666 

 
Gannow 2025-30     £73,043 

 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30     £63,607 

 
Padiham 2025-30     £75,671 

 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     £82,081 

 
BURNLEY ALL PROPERTIES £106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 
BURNLEY TERRACED PROPERTIES £70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

 
Figure 16: Mean House Values (ONS) 

 
 

9.26 Mean house values in Burnley for all properties rose by around 33% between 
2018/19 and 2022/23; for terraced properties the increase was approximately 38%. 
  

£30,000

£50,000

£70,000

£90,000

£110,000

£130,000

£150,000

Trin
ity

Que
en

sg
ate

Gan
no

w

Dan
es

ho
us

e &
 Ston

ey
ho

lm
e

Burn
ley

 W
oo

d w
ith

 H
ea

ley
 W

oo
d

Le
yla

nd
 R

oa
d A

rea

BURNLE
Y ALL

 PROPERTIES

BURNLE
Y TERRACED 

PROPERTIES

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Mean House Values 2017/18-2022/23

Page 134



73 

9.27 In Daneshouse and Stoneyholme licensing area, values rose significantly by 
around 64% over the same period, despite some fluctuations in the intervening 
years. House values in the licensing area are now comparable with the other 
licensing areas, despite reductions in values at the ward level. 
 

9.28 Despite this increase, property values in Daneshouse and Stoneyholme still 
remain significantly below the borough average for all property types and terraces. 
The rate of increase is promising, but lower house values continue to indicate a 
problem of low demand in this area.  

 

Empty Homes 
9.29 Over the last ten years the number of empty homes in Burnley has reduced. 

Empty homes in Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward have continued to reduce 
significantly in line with this trend (Table 9). 
 

9.30 Table 57 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 
current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 
Table 57: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 2018 March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 

Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

   8% 9% 8% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

     7% 

Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

     6% 

Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

     7% 

 
9.31 Levels of empty properties in the Danehouse and Stoneyholme licensing area 

are the lowest of all the licensing areas, reducing between 2019 and 2020 and since 
remaining static. Rates are still above the borough average.  
 

9.32 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 58 shows the number of long term 

Page 135



74 

empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

9.33 Long-term empty properties in Daneshouse with Stoneyholme remain above 
average. The Council believes that further intervention via selective licensing will 
support the work of the Empty Homes team in further reducing long-term empty 
properties in Daneshouse and Stoneyholme. 

 
Table 58: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
9.34 Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward consistently ranks the highest in the 

borough for rates of all crime, largely due to the town centre being situated in this 
ward. Rates of all recorded crime rose notably in 2022/22 before a 15% reduction in 
2022/23 (Table 10). 

 
9.35 The ward is also ranked highest for ASB; again this is largely due to the 

location of the town centre in this ward (Table 11). 
 

9.36 Table 59 shows the number of ASB cases recorded by Police for the current 
selective licensing areas by calendar year.  Rates of ASB within the licensing area 
rose in 2020 before reducing dramatically in 2022. This suggests a much lower rate 
of ASB in the licensing area compared to the ward. There was a slight increase in 
recorded ASB in the licensing area in 2023, but rates are much lower than the other 
licensing areas.   

 
Table 59: ASB Recorded by Police (Lancashire Police Analyst) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 12.7% 26.3% 18.6% 11.5% 13.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 11.6% 20.5% 25% 20% 11% 
Gannow 2019-24 14.6% 20.6% 23.4% 12.1% 11% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

8.7% 12.1% 11.8% 2.9% 3.7% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   17.7% 14.6% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    14.6% 15.3% 
 

Page 136



75 

 
9.37 Table 60 shows the numbers of cases reported to the Council in the licensing 

areas as a percentage of properties since 2018/19. These figures differ from those 
recorded by Police, as not every incident is reported to both agencies. Cases 
recorded by the Council in the licensing area have fluctuated, and in 2022/23 were 
just below average for the borough.  

 
Table 60: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas Cases as Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

 
 

Environmental Crime 
9.38 Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward is ranked sixth for resident complaints of 

dirty back yards in 2022/23, and in the most recent year complaints have doubled 
(Table 12). 

 
9.39 Table 61 examines the number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 

current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

9.40 Cases in Daneshouse and Stoneyholme increase steadily from 2018/19 to 
2020/21, before further fluctuating, and are currently slightly above the borough 
average, though they are the lowest of all the licensing areas.  

 
Table 61: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 

Page 137



76 

Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

 

Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 
 
 

9.41 There have been many encouraging improvements in the current scheme. 
Property values in the current licensing area have continued to rise from a mean 
value of £38,684 in 18/19 to £63,607 in 22/23. This represents a significant increase 
of around 64%. Property values across Burnley rose by 33% across the same period. 
This shows a continued and improving confidence in the housing market in the 
licensing area. Despite this improvement, values remain well below the borough 
mean of £140,808 for all properties and £97,327 for terraced properties in 22/23. 
The Council believes that by continuing to support these areas by improving property 
management and condition, we will continue to see improvements in the housing 
market.  
 

9.42 Empty homes in the current licensing area have reduced from 8% in 2018 to 
6% in 2023. This shows a positive reduction in empty properties which can blight a 
neighbourhood. However, despite these improvements, levels of empty properties do 
remain above the average of 4.4% for the borough. Long term empty properties are 
also slightly higher in the licensing area, at 1.8% compared to 1.2% for the borough 
in 2023. The licensing team are working proactively with the Empty Homes team to 
bring as many empty properties back into use as possible, and the Council believes 
that continuing and expanding the licensing scheme will allow this proactive work to 
continue.  
 

9.43 ASB reports to the police show increases from 8.7% in 2019 to 12.1% in 2020 
before reducing again to 11.8% in 2021. The police analysts who provide this data to 
the Council largely attributed this rise to restrictions relating to the Covid 19 
pandemic; breaches of lockdown legislation were recorded as ASB, and increased 
neighbour tensions resulted in increased complaints. Figures have now reduced 
dramatically, and are now much lower than 2019 levels. Evidence shows that 
complaints to the Council across the same period have remained more consistent, 
from 0.62% of all properties in 18/19 to 0.5% in 22/23. This is below the average for 
the borough.  The Council is pleased to see that levels of ASB appear to be low and 
reducing in the licensing area. Should another licensing scheme be brought into 
force, the Council would seek to improve engagement with communities to ensure 
residents are aware of where to go for assistance for problematic behaviour. 
 

9.44 Instances of residents complaining about dirty back yards have risen slightly 
during the scheme, from 0.28% in 18/19 to 1.57% in 22/23. Rates are only slightly 
above the borough average for 22/23 (1.37%). The licensing team have found during 
audits of the areas that instances of dirty back yards and fly tipping tend to be more 
common than the complaints to the Council would suggest. If the Council re-
introduces selective licensing to this area, we would be keen to improve community 

Page 138



77 

engagement and increase confidence in reporting environmental crime if it does 
occur.  

9.45 The current designation has the lowest levels of private renting of all the 
licensing areas, at 33.8%, though this is still above the borough rate of 24.3%. The 
licensing area is estimated to have a slightly higher number of HMOs at 2.8% 
compared to 2.17% for the borough. 
 

9.46 The Daneshouse and Stoneyholme area was initially designated as a 
licensing area not only because it demonstrated issues of low demand, but also due 
to poor property condition. In 2016 47% of properties in the area were believed to 
have a Category 1 Hazard. The BRE data from 2023 estimates this figure is now 
31.2%, showing some improvement in property condition, though this figure is still 
well above the borough average of 22.5% of the private rented stock. This suggests 
that whilst there have been improvements, there is still a higher than acceptable level 
of poor quality properties in this area.  
 

9.47 There has been an overall increase in disrepair complaints for the current 
licensing area since the start of the scheme; the Council received complaints 
regarding 3.5% of the PRS in 19/20, which has risen to 4.8% in 22/23. Disrepair 
complaints remain consistently above the borough average of 3.8%.  
 

9.48 On a positive note, just 0.3% of the privately rented properties in the current 
scheme have an EPC which does not meet the required standard; this small number 
of properties are those where the landlord has not been compliant with the licensing 
scheme and the Council is taking steps to enforce in these cases. Selective licensing 
has allowed the Council to proactively insist upon improvements to energy efficiency 
in properties and obtain the correct paperwork to reflect this (a licence will not be 
granted at a property with an EPC rated below “E”). Without the resources licensing 
provides, landlords could continue to operate below the required standard.  
 

9.49 Evidence shows that there is a significant number of properties in the 
licensing area across all tenures where the EPC is rated below “E” (5.4% compared 
to 2.7% for the borough). This shows a clear concentration of energy inefficient 
homes within this area and is a strong indicator of poor property condition.  
 

9.50 The EPC and BRE data both show that the current and proposed licensing 
areas have significant levels of properties in poor condition across all tenures, and 
from the Council’s experience we expect that a number of these properties will move 
into the private rented sector. It is crucial that the Council is able to monitor these 
properties closely to ensure they then meet the required standards. 
 

9.51 The evidence above shows that despite significant improvements in energy 
efficiency, there is still a significant concern about property condition in this area. The 
Council believes that continuing selective licensing in this area will provide the 
additional tools required to tackle poor property management. 
 

  

Page 139



78 

10 The Padiham Proposed Designation  
Background 

10.1 The town of Padiham is situated approximately 3.5 miles west of Burnley, 
within Gawthorpe ward. The Council previously designated a small area of 
Gawthorpe ward under selective licensing, the Ingham and Lawrence Street area, 
between 2016 and 2021. The Council was satisfied that this intervention was 
sufficient to address the problems of low demand in that area, and it was determined 
that a second designation was not required at that time. 
 

10.2 The Council has now analysed several key indicators of low demand across 
the borough and determined that a separate area of Gawthorpe and a small part of 
Hapton ward, centered around Padiham town centre, would benefit from a selective 
licensing scheme.  
 

10.3 The proposed designation covers a large residential area (with some 
commercial) of over 1300 properties, of which 51%% are estimated to be privately 
rented (SL Database 2023). 
 

10.4 A map of the proposed boundary is attached as Appendix 10. 
 

 
Table 62: Key Indicators: Padiham 2022/23 

 Padiham Proposed Boundary Burnley Borough 
Total Properties 1317 44,123 
Private Rented 51% 24.3% 
Owner Occupied 47.3% 59.8%  
EPC Below Minimum Standard in PRS 
(EPC Register 2023) 

1.3% Figure unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 hazards in PRS (BRE 
2023, as % of PRS) 

25.3% 22.5% 

Disrepair Complaints to BBC as % of 
PRS (22/23) 

2.5% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs (BRE 2023) 3% 2.17% PW report?? 
Mean House Value (Land Registry 
22/23) 

£75,671 All: £140,808 
Terraced: £97,327 

Vacant Homes 2yr+ (March 23) 1.6% 1.2% 
ASB Complaints to BBC (22/23) 0.7% 0.6% 
DBY Resident Complaints to BBC 
(22/23)  

2.1% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS Households in Fuel 
Poverty (BRE 23) 

24.7% 23.5% 

 
 

Housing Tenure 
10.5 Table 2 shows Gawthorpe ward has the fifth highest level of private renting at 

30.8%, which has increased at a greater rate than Burnley since the last census. 
Levels of owner occupiers are lower than Burnley and England, whilst social renting 
is similar to the England average and higher than Burnley. 

 
10.6 Table 63 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing 

areas. The proposed licensing area would cover over 1300 properties of which 51% 
are estimated to be private rented. The level of private renting is comparable to the 

Page 140



79 

existing licensing areas. 
 
Table 63: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 
Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30/Bank Hall??? 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
10.7 According to BRE data, Gawthorpe ward is estimated to have the fifth highest 

rate of HMOs in the borough at 2.27% comparable with 2.17% for Burnley (Table 3). 
 

10.8 Table 64 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing 
areas. The proposed Padiham licensing area has a slightly higher concentration of 
HMOs than the borough and the ward in which it is situated.  

 
Table 64: Estimated HMOs Current and Proposed Selective Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

Page 141



80 

Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
 
Table 65: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 
Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 

 
10.9 2.7% of properties in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all tenures); this 

is comparable to the proposed licensing area at 2.2%. Of those, 1.3% are estimated 
to be privately rented. 
 

10.10 The figures clearly show the positive impact that the existing licensing 
schemes have had, with much lower levels of inefficient privately rented properties. 
The Council has identified 29 properties in the proposed Padiham designation which 
are rated below “E”, of which it is estimated nine are privately rented. Whilst the total 
number for all tenures is below the average for Burnley, the number which we believe 
to be privately rented is significantly higher than the current selective licensing areas. 
From experience of previous schemes, the Council also finds that the number of 
private rented properties in an area is often higher than estimated. Therefore, the 
Council believes the area would benefit from the proactive approach to energy 
efficiency which the licensing scheme would allow.  

 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
 

10.11 The percentage of properties in the current and proposed licensing areas 
estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly above the Burnley average of 
14.7%. When taken together, the estimated rates at privately rented properties for 
the current and proposed licensing areas is above the average for Burnley of 22.5%, 
though there is variation between the areas. 
 

10.12 According to the BRE data, Gawthorpe ward is estimated to have the third 
highest number of private rented properties with category 1 hazards in the borough 

Page 142



81 

(Table 6). 
 

10.13 Table 66 examines the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the 
current and proposed licensing areas.  

 
Table 66: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate/ Bank 
Hall 2025-30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
10.14 The proposed Padiham selective licensing area is estimated to have 

Category 1 Hazards at 21.3% of all properties and 25.3% of private rented 
properties; both of which are above the Burnley average. The Council is satisfied that 
this evidence suggests further investigation into property condition in Padiham is 
required.  
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
10.15 Gawthorpe ward is ranked sixth highest for complaints to the Council 

regarding private rented disrepair (Table 7). 
 

10.16 Table 67 shows the numbers of disrepair complaints within the current and 

Page 143



82 

proposed licensing areas. The number of complaints for the most recent available 
data for Padiham is below average. This is inconsistent with the estimates made by 
the BRE regarding serious hazards. The Council is concerned that there may be a 
lack of awareness in Padiham of the appropriate routes to go down when a landlord 
fails to address disrepair and believes that a selective licensing designation would be 
an appropriate way to focus attention on potential properties with unreported 
hazards. 

 
Table 67: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous 
Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % of 
PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 2022-27 

7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % of 
PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as % 
of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 2025-30    4.7% 
Gannow 2025-30    6.1% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

   4.8% 

Padiham 2025-30    2.5% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-
30 

   6% 

BURNLEY    3.8% 
 

Housing Market 
10.17 Mean house values in Gawthorpe ward are the fifth lowest in the borough for 

2022/23 (Table 8).  
 

10.18 Table 68 shows trends in house values in the current licensing areas for the 
last four years, and the most recent data for the proposed new designations.  

 
Table 68: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing Areas 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 

 
£60,826 
 

Queensgate 2019-24 £40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 
 

£63,860 
 

Gannow 2019-24 £47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 
 

£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 £38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 £40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 2022-27 £39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 
 

£60,810 
 

Page 144



83 

Proposed Selective Licensing Areas      
Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 

 
Queensgate/ Bank Hall 2025-30     £67,666 

 
Gannow 2025-30     £73,043 

 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30     £63,607 

 
Padiham 2025-30     £75,671 

 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     £82,081 

 
BURNLEY ALL PROPERTIES £106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 
BURNLEY TERRACED PROPERTIES £70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

 
9.24 Mean house values for 2022/23 in the Padiham proposed designation are higher than 
the current licensing areas, but remain below the Burnley average for all property types and 
terraced properties, further suggesting that the area may be suffering from low demand for 
housing.  
 

Empty Homes 
10.19 Over the last ten years the number of empty homes in Burnley has reduced. 

Empty homes in Gawthorpe ward have continued to reduce, but the ward is still 
ranked fifth highest across the borough (Table 9).  
 

10.20 Table 69 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 
current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 
Table 69: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 2018 March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 

Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

   8% 9% 8% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

     7% 

Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and      6% 

Page 145



84 

Stoneyholme 
2025-30 
Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

     7% 

 
10.21 Levels of empty properties in the proposed Padiham designation are 

comparable with the existing licensing areas, and are above average for the borough, 
suggesting similar issues with low demand for housing in this area to those 
witnessed in the existing areas. 
 

10.22 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 70 shows the number of long term 
empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

10.23 Long term empty properties in Padiham are at the lower end of the current 
licensing area range, but are still above average for the borough. The Council is 
satisfied that it would be a selective licensing scheme in this area could support the 
work of the Empty Homes Team and encourage landlords to bring empty properties 
back into use. 

 
Table 70: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 
 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
10.24 Rates of all reported crime in Gawthorpe have remained fairly static for the 

last few years, and the ward is ranked fifth highest for all recorded crime in the 
borough in 2022/23 (Table 10). 

 
10.25 Gawthorpe was the sixth highest ranking ward for ASB in 2022/23, but has 

seen reductions in recorded ASB in the last two years (Table 11). 
 

10.26 Table 71 shows the numbers of cases reported to the Council since 2018 as 
a percentage of total properties. Cases of ASB recorded by the Council in Padiham 
are above the borough average, and comparable with the Trinity and Queensgate 
existing licensing areas.   

 

Page 146



85 

Table 71: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas as a Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

 

Environmental Crime 
10.27 Gawthorpe ward is ranked fourth for resident complaints of dirty back yards in 

2022/23 (Table 12). 
 

10.28 Table 72 examines the number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 
current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

10.29 Cases in the proposed Padiham designation are significantly above the 
borough average; environmental crime is clearly an issue for residents in this area. 
The Council is satisfied that a selective licensing designation could help to tackle this 
issue by ensuring both landlords and residents are aware of their responsibilities, and 
instigating greater monitoring of the areas to target repeat offenders. 

 
Table 72: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Page 147



86 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

 

Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 
 
 

10.30 The Council is proposing to introduce selective licensing in Padiham because 
there is evidence to suggest that the area is suffering from or is at risk of becoming 
an area of low demand for housing. 
 

10.31 The proposed licensing area is estimated to have higher than average levels 
of private rented stock, at 51% compared to a borough average of 24.3% and 
England average of 20.6% (Census 2021). This is notably higher than the ward rate 
of 30.8% for Gawthorpe. 
 

10.32 It is estimated that 2.2% of properties (all tenures) in the proposed area have 
below standard EPCs, similar to the borough figure of 2.7%. 1.3% of properties in the 
private rented sector are estimated to have a below standard EPC. This represents a 
much higher level of non compliance with energy efficiency regulations than the 
existing licensing areas where the Council have been able to proactively target 
resources to ensure properties are up to standard. The Council has also found from 
experience that after the introduction of a scheme, additional private rented 
properties are identified; therefore the figures for non compliance are anticipated to 
be higher.  
 

10.33 It is estimated that 21.3% of properties in the proposed area have one or 
more serious hazards, and that 25.3% of the private rented sector in this area has a 
serious hazard. This is above the borough averages of 14.7% for all tenures and 
22.5% for the PRS. In addition, as above, there may be more properties in the PRS 
than initially estimated, therefore this figure could be higher.  
 

10.34 Complaints to the Council of disrepair are lower than the borough average, 
2.5% compared to 3.8% for the borough. This is inconsistent with the above evidence 
which shows estimates of poor property condition and poor energy efficiency. The 
Council is concerned that many residents will not be aware of the assistance the 
Council can provide when landlords are not compliant with their repair obligations, 
and that by introducing a selective licensing scheme, the Council will be able to 
investigate closer, identify and act upon issues with poor property condition in this 
area.  
 

10.35 Numbers of empty homes in the proposed area are comparable with the 
current licensing areas at 9%, whilst long term empty properties are slightly above 
average at 1.6% compared to 1.2% for the borough. The licensing team are working 
proactively with the Empty Homes team to bring as many empty properties back into 
use as possible, and the Council believes that introducing a licensing scheme in 
Padiham will allow this proactive work to expand to a wider area. 
 

10.36 Complaints to the Council of ASB are slightly above average for 22/23, 0.76% 
compared to 0.55% for the borough and instances of resident complaints for 
environmental crime are significantly above the borough average at 2.13% for 22/23 

Page 148



87 

compared to 1.37% for the borough. 
 

10.37 Mean property values in this area are higher than the existing licensing areas, 
at £75,671 for 22/23, however this is still notably below the borough mean of 
£140,808 for the same year, and the mean for terraced properties of £97,327. 
 

10.38 The  Council is satisfied that further investigation into the private rented sector 
is appropriate, and that conducting a public consultation will allow us to greater 
understand the issues affecting the private rented sector, in order to determine 
whether a selective licensing scheme is appropriate in this area.  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 149



88 

11 The Lyndhurst Road Proposed Designation 
Background 
 

11.1 The Lyndhurst Road area is a residential area on the edge of the town centre, 
located near to Burnley Football Club, and is situated along a major thoroughfare into 
the town (Brunshaw Road to Harry Potts Way). Burnley Council is currently 
undertaking significant improvement works to the route into the town centre from this 
area. 
 

11.2 The proposed designation has not been subject to selective licensing 
previously, and is located 0.3 miles to the south west of the current Leyland Road 
designation, and 0.1 miles to the west of the current Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood designation, both of which have been designated for the period 2022-2027. 
 

11.3 Roughly half of the proposed designation is located in Bank Hall ward, whilst 
the other half is situated in Brunshaw. 
 

11.4 The proposed designation covers a residential area of over 1300 properties, 
of which 51%% are estimated to be privately rented (SL Database 2023). 
 

11.5 A map of the proposed designation is attached as Appendix 12. 
 
 
Table 73: Key Indicators: Lyndhurst Road 2022/23 

 Lyndhurst Road Proposed Boundary Burnley Borough 
Total Properties 962 44,123 
Private Rented 38.5% 24.3% 
Owner Occupied 59.1% 59.8%  
EPC Below Minimum Standard in 
PRS (EPC Register 2023) 

1.9% Figure unknown 

Estimated Cat 1 hazards in PRS 
(BRE 2023, as % of PRS) 

24.3% 22.5% 

Disrepair Complaints to BBC as % 
of PRS (22/23) 

6% 3.8% 

Estimated HMOs (BRE 2023) 4.4% 2.17%  
Mean House Value (Land Registry 
22/23) 

£82,081 All: £140,808 
Terraced: £97,327 

Vacant Homes 2yr+ (March 23) 0.8% 1.2% 
ASB Complaints to BBC (22/23) 0.3% 0.6% 
DBY Resident Complaints to BBC 
(22/23)  

1.3% 1.4% 

Estimated PRS Households in Fuel 
Poverty (BRE 23) 

27.8% 23.5% 

 

Housing Tenure 
11.6 Table 2 shows that Bank Hall ward (where half of the proposed designation is 

situated) has the highest percentage of private rented properties in the borough at 
40.3%, and there has been a significant increase in private renting since the 2011 
Census. Levels of owner occupiers are also well below the rate for Burnley and 
England, whilst social landlords are higher than both averages. Conversely, 
Brunshaw, where the remainder of the proposed designation is located, is ranked 

Page 150



89 

11th for levels of private renting, and is below average for Burnley and England. It 
also has higher levels of owner occupiers, though these are still below the Burnley 
and England averages. Further analysis at the designation level shows that in this 
part of Brunshaw, private renting is notably higher than for the ward as a whole. 

 
11.7 Table 74 shows tenures within the current and proposed selective licensing 

areas. The proposed licensing area contains 962 properties, of which it is estimated 
38.5% are privately rented. This figure is at the lower end of the range for the current 
selective licensing areas but remains well above the Burnley average. The Council is 
therefore satisfied that further analysis of the private rented sector in this area is 
appropriate.  

 
Table 74: Property Numbers and PRS in the selective licensing areas (SL Data 2023, BRE Data 2023) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Total 
Properties 

Total PRS % PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 1348 744 55.2 
Queensgate 2019-24 1612 785 48.7 
Gannow 2019-24 960 496 51.7 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1783 603 33.8 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 810 429 53 
Leyland Road 2022-27 756 464 61.4 
Current Total 7269 3521 48.4 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated 

Total 
Properties 

Estimated 
PRS 

Estimated 
% PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 1760 1017 57.8 
Queensgate 2025-30 2873 1369 47.7 
Gannow 2025-30 1145 555 48.5 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 1783 603 33.8 
Padiham 2025-30 1317 671 51 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 962 370 38.5 
Proposed Total 9840 4585 46.6 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
11.8 According to BRE data, Bank Hall ward is estimated to have the highest rate 

of HMOs in the borough at 5.92% compared to 2.17% for Burnley (Table 3). 
 

11.9 Table 75 shows estimated HMO rates in the current and proposed licensing 
areas. The proposed Lyndhurst Road area has a lower concentration of HMOs than 
the ward, but this is still notably above the borough average.  

 
Table 75: Estimated HMOs Current and Proposed Selective Licensing Areas (BRE) 

Current Selective Licensing Areas Estimated HMOs as % of 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 5.93% 
Queensgate 2019-24 5.52% 
Gannow 2019-24 4.48% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 2.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 3.7% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 11.24% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas 2025-30 Estimated HMOs as % of 

Page 151



90 

Properties 
Trinity 2025-30 6.6% 
Queensgate 2025-30 5.01% 
Gannow 2025-30 4.37% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 2.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 2.96% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 4.37% 
BURNLEY 2.17% 

 
Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
Table 76: EPC Ratings in the licensing areas (EPC Register September 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

No. rated 
below “E” 
All Tenure 

% rated 
below “E” All 
Tenure 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2019-24 65 4.8% 3 0.4% 
Queensgate 2019-24 83 5.2% 4 0.5% 
Gannow 2019-24 27 2.8% 3 0.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

20 2.5% 0 0% 

Leyland Road 2022-27 27 3.6% 2 0.4% 
Current Total 319 4.4% 14 0.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 2025-30 

No. rated 
below “E” 

% rated 
below “E” 

No. PRS rated 
below “E” 

% PRS rated 
below “E” 

Trinity 2025-30 78 4.4% 5 0.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 148 5.2% 24 1.8% 
Gannow 2025-30 31 2.7% 4 0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

97 5.4% 2 0.3% 

Padiham 2025-30 29 2.2% 9 1.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 41 4.3% 9 1.9% 
Proposed Total 424 4.3% 53 1.2% 

 
11.10 2.7% of properties in Burnley have an EPC rated below “E” (all tenures) 

compared to 4.3% for the proposed Lyndhurst Road area designation. The Council 
estimated that of those, 1.9% are privately rented. The Council is concerned that this 
indicates poor property condition in this area. 
 

11.11 The figures clearly show the positive impact that the current licensing 
schemes have had.  The percentage of properties in the proposed Lyndhurst Road 
designation rated below “E” is higher than both the Gannow and Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood designations and is comparable with the Trinity designation. This figure 
suggests that property condition is a concern in this area. Of the 41 properties rated 
below “E”, the Council estimated nine to be privately rented, however this figure 
could be higher. The Council has found in previous schemes that we frequently 
identify more privately rented properties than initially estimated. Therefore, the 
Council believes the area would benefit from the proactive approach to energy 
efficiency which the licensing scheme would allow. 

 

Page 152



91 

Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards 
 

11.12 The percentage of properties in the current and proposed licensing areas 
estimated to have Category 1 Hazards is significantly above the Burnley average of 
14.7%. When taken together, the estimated rates at privately rented properties for 
the current and proposed licensing areas is above the average for Burnley of 22.5%, 
though there is variation between the areas (Table 6). 
 

11.13 BRE data estimates that Bank Hall Ward has the second highest level of 
privately rented properties with category 1 hazards in the borough. The figure is 
much lower for Brunshaw, but as the table below shows, the proposed licensing area 
is estimated to have a concentration of properties in poor condition. 
 

11.14 Table 77 examines the estimated numbers of Category 1 Hazards in the 
current and proposed licensing areas.  

 
Table 77: Estimated Category 1 Hazards SL Areas (BRE 2023) 

Current Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Cat 1 
Hazard All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2019-24 313 1348 23.2% 162 744 21.8% 
Queensgate 2019-
24 

325 1612 20.2% 165 
785 21.0% 

Gannow 2019-24 192 960 20% 107 496 21.6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

411 1783 23.1% 188 

603 31.2% 
Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood 
2022-27 

184 810 22.7% 99 

429 23.1% 
Leyland Road 
2022-27 

163 756 21.6% 104 
464 22.4% 

Current Total 1588 7269 21.9% 825 3521 23.4% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 
2025-30 

Cat 1 
Hazards 
All 
Properties 

Total 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazards as 
% of 
Properties 

Cat 1 
Hazard 
PRS 

Total 
PRS 

Cat 1 
PRS as 
% of 
PRS 

Trinity 2025-30 396 1760 22.5% 218 1017 21.4% 
Queensgate/ Bank 
Hall 2025-30 

615 2873 21.4% 329 1369 24% 

Gannow 2025-30 235 1145 20.5% 125 555 22.5% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

411 1783 23.1% 188 603 31.2% 

Padiham 2025-30 281 1317 21.3% 170 671 25.3% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

206 962 21.4% 90 370 24.3% 

Proposed Total 2144 9840 21.8% 1120 4585 24.4% 
BURNLEY   14.7%   22.5% 

 
11.15 The proposed Lyndhurst Road selective licensing area is estimated to have 

Page 153



92 

Category 1 Hazards at 21.4% of all properties and 24.4% of private rented 
properties; both of which are above the average for Burnley.  
 

Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints 
11.16 Bank Hall ward is the highest ranked ward for disrepair complaints made to 

the Council in 2022/23. Brunshaw ward is ranked much lower at eleventh (Table 7). 
 

11.17 Table 78 shows the numbers of disrepair complaints within the current and 
proposed licensing areas. The latest data for the proposed Lyndhurst Road 
designation shows a rate of complaints notably higher than the borough average, and 
comparable with the current selective licensing areas.  
 

11.18 The Council is satisfied that there is ample evidence to support the 
introduction of selective licensing in this area to improve property condition. 

 
Table 78: Disrepair Complaints to BBC SL Areas (BBC) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2019-24 8% 8.7% 6.7% 7.3% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

5% 6.9% 6.7% 6.5% 

Gannow 2019-
24 

4% 5% 7.1% 3.4% 

Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

3.5% 8.1% 4.8% 4.8% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

7.6% 3.6% 5.5% 7.7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

6.2% 3.8% 3.7% 6% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 19/20 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 20/21 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 21/22 

Disrepair 
Complaints as 
% of PRS 22/23 

Trinity 2025-30    6.4% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

   4.7% 

Gannow 2025-
30 

   6.1% 

Daneshouse 
and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

   4.8% 

Padiham 2025-
30 

   2.5% 

Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

   6% 

BURNLEY    3.8% 
 
 
 

Page 154



93 

Housing Market 
11.19 Mean house values in Bank Hall ward are the second lowest in the borough 

for 2022/23, whilst in Brunshaw they rank seventh (Table 8). 
 

11.20 Table 79 shows trends in house values in the current licensing areas for the 
last four years, as well as the most recent data for the proposed new designations.  

 
Table 79: Mean House Values SL Areas (ONS) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 £40,240 £42,198 £42,356 £54,267 
 

£60,826 
 

Queensgate 
2019-24 

£40,146 £48,875 £47,782 £55,144 
 

£63,860 
 

Gannow 2019-
24 

£47, 327 £48,982 £53,897 £56,759 
 

£68,843 
 

Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

£38,684 £41,663 £52,344 £47,477 
 

£63,607 
 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

£40,929 £40,499 £43,703 £50,860 
 

£60,674 
 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

£39,102 £46,737 £51,008 £54,025 
 

£60,810 
 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

     

Trinity 2025-30     £62,528 
 

Queensgate/ 
Bank Hall 2025-
30 

    £67,666 
 

Gannow 2025-
30 

    £73,043 
 

Daneshouse 
and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

    £63,607 
 

Padiham 2025-
30 

    £75,671 
 

Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

    £82,081 
 

BURNLEY ALL 
PROPERTIES 

£106,274 £114,189 £126,187 £135,584 £140,808 

BURNLEY 
TERRACED 
PROPERTIES 

£70,291 £74,321 £80,261 £93,918 £97,327 

 
11.21 Mean house values for 2022/23 in the Lyndhurst Road area are higher than 

the current licensing areas, but remain below the Burnley average for all property 

Page 155



94 

types and terraced properties, further suggesting that the area may be suffering from 
low demand for housing.  

 

Empty Homes 
 

11.22 Over the last ten years the number of empty homes in Burnley has reduced. 
Empty homes in Bank Hall have reduced but remain the highest in the borough. 
Empty Homes in Brunshaw have remained more consistent (Table 9).  
 

11.23 Table 80 shows levels of empty properties as a percentage of houses in the 
current and proposed selective licensing areas. For comparison, the percentage of 
empty properties in March 2023 across Burnley was 4.4% 

 
Table 80: Empty Properties in Current and Proposed Licensing Areas as % of Properties (BBC Empty Homes) 

Current/Previous 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

March 2018 March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 March 2022 March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 15% 14% 12% 10% 10% 10% 
Queensgate 
2019-24 

12% 10% 8% 8% 8% 7% 

Gannow 2019-24 12% 11% 10% 9% 10% 10% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 6% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey Wood 
2022-27 

   10% 9% 7% 

Leyland Road 
2022-27 

   8% 9% 8% 

Proposed 
Selective 
Licensing Areas 

      

Trinity 2025-30      9% 
Queensgate 
2025-30 

     7% 

Gannow 2025-30      9% 
Daneshouse and 
Stoneyholme 
2025-30 

     6% 

Padiham 2025-30      7% 
Lyndhurst Road 
2025-30 

     7% 

 
11.24 Levels of empty properties in the proposed Lyndhurst Road designation are 

comparable with the existing licensing areas, and are above average for the borough, 
suggesting similar issues with low demand for housing in this area to those 
witnessed in the existing areas. 
 

11.25 A useful additional indicator is to review the number of properties which have 
remained empty for two years or more. Table 81 shows the number of long term 
empty properties in the current and proposed licensing areas.  
 

11.26 Long term empty properties in the Lyndhurst Road area are currently below 
the borough average, suggesting that this area does not suffer from the same blight 
of vacant properties as the current licensing areas. This is a positive indicator for this 

Page 156



95 

area, and the Council is keen to introduce further measures to maintain this. 
 
Table 81: Long Term Empty Properties (BBC Empty Homes 2023) 

Current/Previous Selective Licensing 
Areas 

Long Term Empty as % of Properties March 2023 

Trinity 2019-24 3% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.2% 
Gannow 2019-24 2.2% 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2019-24 1.8% 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 2022-27 1.5% 
Leyland Road 2022-27 2.1% 
Proposed Selective Licensing Areas  
Trinity 2025-30 3.5% 
Queensgate 2025-30 1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30 2.1% 
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025-30 1.8% 
Padiham 2025-30 1.6% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30 0.8% 
BURNLEY 1.2% 

 
 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
11.27 Bank Hall, which contains roughly 50% of the proposed designation, is ranked 

third highest for all crime in 2022/23, whereas Brunshaw ward is ranked much lower 
at fourteenth (Table 10).  

 
11.28 Bank Hall has recorded the second highest level of ASB in 2022/23, though 

these rates have reduced in the last two years.  Brunshaw, conversely, is ranked 
eleventh in the borough (Table 11). 

 
11.29 Table 82 shows the numbers of ASB cases reported to the Council since 

2018 as a percentage of total properties. Cases of ASB recorded by the Council in 
the proposed Lyndhurst Road area are below the borough average, suggesting ASB 
is less of a problem in this area. 

 
Table 82: ASB Recorded by BBC SL Areas as a Percentage of Properties (BBC Community Safety Team) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 1.9% 1.6% 1.6% 1.3% 0.82% 
Queensgate 2019-24 2.1% 1% 1.4% 0.9% 0.74% 
Gannow 2019-24 2% 4% 1.35% 1.35% 1.89% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.62% 0.5% 0.84% 0.28% 0.5% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   2.84% 2.22% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    0.4% 2.51% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     0.68% 
Queensgate 2025-30     0.73% 
Gannow 2025-30     0.7% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    0.5% 

Padiham 2025-30     0.76% 

Page 157



96 

Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     0.31% 
BURNLEY     0.55% 

 

Environmental Crime 
11.30 Bank Hall ward is ranked third for resident complaints of dirty back yards in 

2022/23, whilst Brunshaw is tenth. Cases in Bank Hall have remained static for the 
last two years (Table 12). 

 
11.31 Table 83 examines the number of dirty back yard resident complaints in the 

current and proposed licensing areas as a percentage of the total properties in each 
area.  
 

11.32 Cases in the proposed Lyndhurst Road area are below the borough average, 
indicating that environmental crime is less of a concern in this area. The Council 
believes that give other indicators of low demand in the area, a consultation on 
selective licensing would allow us to further investigate how much of a concern, if at 
all, environmental crime is in the area, and if residents are aware of how to report 
cases.  

 
Table 83: Dirty Back Yard Resident Complaints SL Areas (BBC Streetscene) 

Current Selective Licensing 
Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2019-24 0.82% 2.23% 7.27% 5.93% 3.12% 
Queensgate 2019-24 1.55% 1.86% 3.1% 2.17% 2.05% 
Gannow 2019-24 0.52% 2.6% 1.98% 4.59% 3.33% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2019-24 

0.28% 0.67% 1.29% 1.23% 1.57% 

Burnley Wood with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

   5.93% 7.16% 

Leyland Road 2022-27    3.95% 3.17% 
Proposed Selective 
Licensing Areas 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Trinity 2025-30     3% 
Queensgate 2025-30     1.7% 
Gannow 2025-30     2.9% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 2025-30 

    1.57% 

Padiham 2025-30     2.13% 
Lyndhurst Road 2025-30     1.25% 
BURNLEY     1.37% 

 

Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme? 
11.33 The Council is proposing to introduce selective licensing in the Lyndhurst 

Road area because there is evidence to suggest that the area is suffering from or is 
at risk of becoming an area of low demand for housing. 
 

11.34 There are a number of positive indicators regarding housing in this area; 
levels of empty homes in the proposed area are comparable with the current 
licensing areas at 7%, however long term empty properties are below average at 
0.8% compared to 1.2% for the borough. Complaints to the Council of ASB are below 
average for 22/23, 0.31% compared to 0.55% for the borough and instances of 
resident complaints for environmental crime are below the borough average at 1.25% 

Page 158



97 

for 22/23 compared to 1.37% for the borough. 
 

11.35 Mean property values in this area are higher than the existing licensing areas, 
at £82,081 for 22/23, however this is still notably below the borough average of 
£140,808 for the same year. It is also below the mean value for terraced properties in 
the borough for 22/23 (£97,327).  
 

11.36 The proposed licensing area is estimated to have higher than average levels 
of private rented stock, at 38.5% compared to a borough average of 24.3% and 
England average of 20.6%. The area also has a notably higher percentage of 
estimated HMOs at 4.37% compared to 2.17% for the borough. HMOs form a vital 
part of the housing market, but they do carry greater risks than other property types, 
including risk of overcrowding and higher fire risks. A significant number of HMOs in 
the current and proposed licensing areas do not meet the threshold for mandatory 
HMO licensing; therefore it is important that the Council considers other ways to 
proactively monitor standards at these properties. Selective licensing gives the 
Council the tools to do this. 

 
11.37 It is estimated that 4.3% of properties (all tenures) in the proposed area have 

below standard EPCs, higher than the borough figure of 2.7%. 1.9% of properties in 
the private rented sector in the proposed area are estimated to have a below 
standard EPC. This represents a much higher level of non compliance with energy 
efficiency regulations than the existing licensing areas where the Council have been 
able to proactively target resources to ensure properties are up to standard. 
 

11.38 It is estimated that 21.4% of properties in the proposed area have one or 
more serious hazards, and that 24.3% of the private rented sector in this area has a 
serious hazard. This is above the borough averages of 14.7% for all tenures and 
22.5% for the private rented sector.  
 

11.39 Complaints to the Council of disrepair are much higher than the borough 
average, at 6% compared to 3.8% for the borough. This is consistent with the 
evidence which shows estimates of poor property condition and poor energy 
efficiency.  
 

11.40 The Council has also found from experience that after the introduction of a 
scheme, additional rented properties are identified; therefore the figures for non 
compliance are anticipated to be higher. There is also the possibility that increasing 
numbers of privately owned properties in poor condition will enter the private rented 
sector, potentially whilst below standard. Selective licensing would allow us to 
monitor any such changes in this area. 
 

11.41 The Council is satisfied that the evidence suggests a concentration of poor 
property conditions in this area, and that selective licensing would allow the Council 
to effectively target poorly managed privately rented stock. 
 

11.42 The  Council is satisfied that further investigation into the private rented sector 
is appropriate, and that conducting a public consultation will allow us to greater 
understand the issues affecting the private rented sector, in order to determine 
whether a selective licensing scheme is appropriate in this area. 
  

Page 159



98 

12  Option Appraisal 
12.1 The option appraisal below examines other powers and projects which are available to 
the Council as an alternative to selective licensing to achieve the outcomes detailed in 
section 19 of this report. None are considered suitable in isolation in an area of low housing 
demand with significantly high levels of private rented properties and poor housing 
conditions. Selective licensing is required to raise standards in the private rented sector by 
compelling all landlords to engage with the Council and meet required standards. All other 
options considered below, with the exception of the private sector leasing scheme, operate 
within the selective licensing designations to support the outcomes of the schemes. 
 
Option Strengths Weaknesses Risks 
Accreditation 
(GLAS) 

Improves 
relationships 
between the 
Council, landlords 
and managing 
agents. 
Improves 
Management 
Standards. 
Improves property 
condition. 
Promotes good 
practice.  
Improves the 
reputation of the 
Private Rented 
Sector. 

Voluntary so cannot 
compel landlords to 
join the scheme, nor 
improve property 
condition or 
standards of 
management. 

The worst landlords 
will not join. 
Limited effect on a 
concentrated area 
as only the more 
motivated landlords 
will join. 

Enforcement of 
Housing Standards 

Legal requirement. 
Improves property 
conditions. 

Reactive rather than 
proactive. 
Relies upon the 
tenant complaining, 
some of whom may 
be too scared to do 
so. 
Does not improve 
management 
practices. 

Resource intensive. 

Management  
Orders 

Removes the 
property from an 
irresponsible 
landlord. 
Improves 
management 
standards. 
Is a forceful sanction 
for those landlords 
that do not comply 
with selective 
licensing. 

Does not tackle 
poor management, 
therefore, does not 
provide a long- term 
solution to 
unsatisfactory 
management 
practices. 
Intervention is as a 
last resort for a small 
number of 
properties. 

Resource intensive. 
Relies upon an 
external company 
managing the 
properties. 

Introduce a  
Private Sector 
Leasing Scheme 

Contributes to 
homelessness 
prevention 

Does not improve 
management 
standards of 
landlords who 

Resource intensive. 
Relies upon an 
external company 
managing the 

Page 160



99 

choose not to join 
the scheme. 
Reactive rather than 
proactive. 

properties. 
Companies do not 
come forward to run 
such a scheme. 

Local Authority 
Trading Company 
(Housing 
Company) 

Increase housing 
supply – across all 
tenures.  
Diversify the local 
housing offer –
making interventions 
in the market to 
stimulate or provide 
additional housing. 
To set (and 
increase) quality and 
design standards. 
Control and 
influence around 
what is delivered 
and where. 
Act as an exemplar 
landlord for market 
rent housing. 

The poorest 
landlords will choose 
not to follow the 
examples set by the  
Housing Company 
and will provide sub-
standard 
accommodation with 
unsatisfactory 
management 
practices. 

The Council would 
have to take a 
commercial 
approach to deliver 
housing 
regeneration, the 
housing company 
becoming a private 
landlord. 

Landlord Training 
Days 

Provides up to date 
training on relevant 
legislation. 
Allows networking 
and sharing of best 
practice. 
Flexible attendance 
options. 

Cannot compel 
landlords to attend. 
Cannot ensure best 
practice is then 
implemented. 
Limited numbers 
possible at each 
event. 

Resource intensive. 

Empty Homes Tackles blight of 
empty homes in an 
area. 
Contributes to 
improving housing 
stock. 

Tackles individual 
properties rather 
than areas.  
Does not improve 
management 
practices. 

Resource intensive 
– staff time, risks of 
increasing costs. 

Proposed Renters 
(Reform) Bill 

Provides data to 
local authorities on 
private rented stock 
and who owns 
properties in their 
area, removing a 
time consuming and 
sometimes costly 
barrier to identifying 
responsible parties. 

Resources will be 
required to monitor 
and implement the 
scheme, and to 
pursue those who 
are non compliant 
and do not provide 
their details to the 
Portal. 

Risk that poor 
landlords will 
continue to be non 
compliant with the 
requirements of the 
Portal, Council’s will 
still need to put 
resources into 
identifying absentee 
landlords 

Selective Licensing Legal requirement. 
Improves property 
condition.  
Improves property 
management. 
Promotes good 
practice.  

Maximum 5 years 
Includes those 
landlords that 
already operate 
responsibly. 

Monitoring of the 
scheme is extremely 
resource intensive 
on staff time. 
Landlords may try 
and illegally evict 
tenants.  

Page 161



10
0

 

Reduces levels of 
ASB.  
Area based 
Administration of 
the scheme is self-
financed. 

Landlords may try 
and avoid licensing. 
Landlords may 
leave the area 
creating more 
vacant properties. 

Accreditation 

12.2 Accreditation was first introduced in the 1990s (mainly in university towns) 
as a mechanism for helping landlords or agents meet agreed standards of 
competence, skills, and knowledge about the business of owning, managing, or 
letting a private rented home. 
 

12.3 Accreditation is supported nationwide by a wide range of stakeholders, 
including the Government, landlord associations, Local authorities, Shelter, the 
National Union of Students, and the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. 
It can aid the supply of good- quality, well-managed homes. 
 

12.4 Burnley's accreditation scheme, The Good Landlord and Agent Scheme 
(GLAS), was launched in 2001 as a partnership between the Council, private 
rented sector landlords and managing agents who rent out properties in the 
Burnley area. 
 

12.5 Through continued development of GLAS, more landlords and agents are 
encouraged to join the scheme and improve the condition and management of 
their properties. These improved conditions enhance the living conditions for 
tenants and residents living in Burnley. Currently there are over 300 landlords 
and 20 managing agents who are members of the scheme. 
 

12.6 In July 2016, in partnership with the Private Rented Sector Forum the GLAS 
Code of Practice was revised and updated to take into account changes in 
legislation and best practice. The scheme now includes a gold standard and the 
audit of managing agent’s procedures at their business address. 
 

12.7 In addition, the Council operate a Private Rented Sector Forum which was 
established in June 2004. The Forum represents landlords, tenants, local 
communities, and other voluntary and statutory agencies operating in the private 
rented sector and aims to improve standards across the sector by promoting best 
practice and raising the profile of responsible renting. 

 
12.8 Landlord Evenings are organised through the Forum and are open to all 

landlords. Through these events the Forum seeks to update landlords on current 
issues in the private rented sector, improve relationships and strengthen 
partnership working and share good practice and experiences. 

 
12.9 The Forum works with the Partnership Manager for the Department for 

Work and Pensions in the Northwest to run workshops for landlords. The aim of 
the workshops is to give landlords an understanding of Universal Credit, what it 
means for their tenants and what they can do if the tenant falls into rent arrears 
when in receipt of Universal Credit. 

 
12.10 Whilst we continue to receive applications for GLAS, our experience 

shows that generally accreditation attracts a limited number of landlords that in 

Page 162



10
1

 

many cases already have appropriate management standards and are motivated 
to improve the standards and reputation of the private rented sector. 

 
12.11 Whilst we see GLAS and the Private Rented Sector Forum as important 

schemes to work with landlords and improve standards, they do not have an 
intensive impact in any one area of the borough, nor do they tackle the worst 
privately rented properties. Due to the voluntary nature of accreditation, it does 
not compel the worst landlords to engage with the Council or join the scheme. 
Experience shows that it is resource intensive to encourage the poorer landlords 
to join accreditation. When landlords are asked to make improvements to meet the 
requirements of the scheme, many landlords fail to comply. This shows that 
accreditation cannot tackle the worst standards of property condition and 
management practices within the Borough. 

Enforcement of Housing Standards 

12.12 The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
Scheme (HHSRS) which allows local authorities to inspect privately rented 
properties to ensure the condition does not have an adverse effect on the health, 
safety or welfare of tenants or visitors to a property. Where necessary, the 
Council will serve statutory enforcement notices to ensure the condition is 
improved. 
 

12.13 The Council receive between upwards of 350 complaints of disrepair a 
year. When the complaint is received, the Council will undertake a HHSRS 
inspection to determine whether action needs to be taken. Whilst this approach 
does improve property conditions, it is sporadic across the Borough and does not 
have a concentrated impact in one area. In addition, this power does not tackle 
property management standards. Through a selective licensing designation 
landlords will attend development days which cover all aspects of property 
management including property condition. Through training, advice and 
support landlords will recognise and learn what improvements need to be made 
to their properties, so reducing the need for action under the HHSRS. 
 

12.14 In addition to enforcement action the Council will also un 
dertake proactive property inspections in the designation area, offering advice and 
where necessary taking enforcement action to improve property conditions 
across the designation area. Improving property conditions will assist in retaining 
tenants and attracting occupants to the area and help address low demand. 

Management Orders 

12.15 Part 4 of the Housing Act 2004 introduced the use of Management Orders 
but advised that these orders should not be used if other enforcement options 
will remedy the problem. The general effect of a Management Order is that the 
Council takes control of the property, although legal ownership does not transfer 
from the landlord. There are two forms of Management Order, interim and final. 
Interim lasts for a period of 12 months, which can then be followed by a final 
Management Order that lasts for a maximum of 5 years. 
 

12.16 Once a Management Order is in place the Council takes over the 
management of the property. The occupiers pay their rent to the Council and any 
repair costs such as routine repairs or building insurance are taken from the rent 
before any surplus is given to the owner (landlord). 

Page 163



10
2

 

 
12.17 This power only deals with individual properties and is resource intensive, 

especially as the Council no longer manages any stock of its own. In some 
cases, even retention of the full rental income may not be adequate to properly 
maintain and manage the property, in which case additional costs would end up 
being borne by the Council. 
 

12.18 This approach does not present a long-term solution to address poor 
management of privately rented stock, as ultimately the property is returned to 
the owner who may not necessarily have improved their management standards 
during the period of the order. 
 

12.19 The Council has made five interim and one final management order and 
will continue to use Management Orders in conjunction with Selective Licensing 
as a last resort to deal with landlords who fail to comply with selective licensing 
and improve their management standards. 

A Private Sector Leasing Scheme 

12.20 A Private Sector Leasing Scheme is where the council takes out a lease, 
normally 3 to 5 years in duration, from a private owner or landlord on their 
property. The council then uses the property to provide affordable 
accommodation. 
 

12.21 There is no guarantee that landlords, especially the worst, will join the 
scheme and the Council cannot compel them to do so. As with Management 
Orders the scheme does not address poor management practices as the 
landlord does not necessarily gain experience, advice, or training during the 
lease and when the property is returned to the control of the owner, the 
management standards can once again be unsatisfactory. 
 

Local Authority Trading Company 

12.22 In 2018, 58 commercial housing companies had been set up by local 
authorities to address gaps in their housing market. In Lancashire, Blackpool 
established a Housing Company in 2015 as a wholly owned Council 
regeneration company to intervene in part of the market that was providing 
poor accommodation. It is an incorporated company under the Companies Act 
2006.  

 

Landlord Development Days 
 
12.23 Since 2014 the Council have held landlord development days for 

accredited landlords and landlords operating in the selective licensing areas. We 
offer training specifically for Managing Agents and training on how to address 
anti- social behaviour. Due to the Covid 19 pandemic the Council had to find an 
alternative solution to delivering these sessions, the training has continued to be 
successfully delivered on-line via Microsoft Teams’ meetings and the Council now 
offers a mixture of online and face to face sessions to increase access. 
 

12.24 The training is currently delivered by the National Residential Landlords 

Page 164



10
3

 

Association (NRLA) and covers all aspects of property letting. While the training 
complements selective licensing by giving landlords the knowledge to improve 
property management, the Council cannot compel landlords to attend, nor does it 
guarantee an improvement in management practices if the landlord is not willing 
to apply the learning. 

The Empty Homes Programme 

12.25 Tackling empty homes has been an intrinsic part of the Council’s wider 
housing strategy to address low demand for many years and is highlighted as a 
key priority in the Housing Strategy 2016 to 2021. The Council’s Empty homes 
programme has been in operation for over a decade and seeks to acquire long 
term empty homes, which are then renovated and resold with the aim of 
improving residential amenity, boosting the local economy, and making a positive 
contribution to the wider community. This programme has been very successful 
and is now utilising the Council’s own capital receipts generated through the re-
sale of renovated empty properties. This programme works very closely with the 
current selective licensing designations to address particular long term problem 
empty homes and helps promote investment in these areas making them more 
attractive areas in which to live and work. 

 
12.26 Through the option appraisal, it is considered that none of the achievable 

courses of action would be sufficient in isolation to have the desired impact in 
areas of intense low demand that have significantly high levels of private rented 
sector properties in poor condition. It is considered that selective licensing is 
required to compel all landlords to engage with the Council to ensure they meet 
the minimum required standards or, if they fail to do so, face prosecution, civil 
penalties, and the use of management orders. 

 
12.27 Other initiatives such as accreditation (GLAS) support the reputable 

landlords operating in the borough and the enforcement of housing standards will 
improve the housing condition within the sector, but it is considered that selective 
licensing will contribute to a more sophisticated and complete approach to 
tackling particular areas of low demand and poor property conditions. By 
improving the management of tenancies and properties within the private rented 
sector, selective licensing can contribute to a wider programme of regeneration to 
help reduce empty properties, improve property condition, reduce anti-social 
behaviour, and improve the neighbourhoods for residents and businesses. 

 
 

How Does Selective Licensing Support the Council’s Housing 
Strategy? 
 

13.1 This section demonstrates how the proposed Selective Licensing 
designation area are consistent with the overall housing strategy for the 
borough and will form part of a wider strategic framework for improving 
housing across Burnley. 
 

13.2 Burnley’s Housing Strategy 2016 to 2021 is a plan which set out our 
ambitions for improving housing across the borough over that five year 
period; it set out where we intended to focus our energy and resources and 
how we would achieve our priorities. The strategy is due to be updated, and 

Page 165



10
4

 

delivering transformational improvements in the private rented sector remains 
a core priority for future strategies.  
 

 
13.3 The Council fully acknowledge the benefits of private rented housing in 

creating choice and variety in Burnley’s housing market, with The Good 
Landlord and Agent Scheme and the Private Rented Sector Forum seen as 
important schemes to create closer working relationships and improve 
standards. However, experience has shown that they attract a limited number 
of landlords that in many instances already provide appropriate management 
standards. The voluntary nature of accreditation does not compel the worst 
landlords to engage with the Council or join the scheme. It is also recognised 
that accreditation does not have an intensive impact in any one area and 
does not tackle the worst properties or management practices within the 
Borough.  
 

13.4 Selective licensing compels landlords to engage with the Council and 
improve their management practices and will continue to form a key part of 
the Council’s Housing Strategy going forward. 

Prevention of Homelessness Strategy 
 

13.5 Burnley Borough Council’s Homelessness Strategy has recently been 
reviewed and updated. Known as the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020-2025, it was developed during a period of unprecedented 
change and uncertainty.  
 

13.6 The Council are clear that the private rented sector has a central role to play 
in meeting housing need across the borough. As owner occupation becomes 
increasingly difficult to achieve, it is not an option or indeed the choice for 
everyone. As we see a significant rise in the number of households choosing 
to rent privately it is crucial that this sector can offer a decent alternative to 
owner occupation or social rented housing. 
 

13.7 The private rented sector also makes a significant contribution to meeting the 
housing needs of vulnerable people, and in many cases has prevented 
homelessness and minimised the use of temporary accommodation. 
Selective licensing has strengthened the partnership with many private 
landlords by increasing the number of landlords working with the Council with 
well-managed, good quality accommodation. This partnership was key to 
supporting homeless people during Covid 19; 7 properties were leased by 
the Council from licensed landlords to ensure no one was sleeping on the 
streets. 
 

13.8 The Council offer advice and assistance to homeless households together 
with a number of measures to prevent homelessness. The Private Sector 
Bond Scheme is available to households who cannot afford to pay cash 
bonds for private rented accommodation and through selective licensing the 
Council can be confident that residents have access to well managed 
accommodation that will meet the minimum standards required. 
 

13.9 By strengthening the partnership between landlords and the Council, both 
accreditation and selective licensing can contribute to the prevention of 
homelessness through effective tenancy management that minimises anti-

Page 166



10
5

 

social behaviour, tackles rent payment issues in a timely and constructive 
manner and offers a housing option for some of the most vulnerable 
households in need of a home. 
 

13.10 Officers from the homelessness team and selective licensing work 
together to tackle illegal evictions in the selective licensing areas, help 
support tenants to prevent homelessness and assist with the rehousing of 
tenants where their current housing conditions are so poor that to remain in 
that house would present a serious risk of harm. 

 

Supporting and Complementary Activity 
 

14.1 As detailed in this document Burnley has low housing demand which is 
manifested in inner urban areas such as the proposed designation areas. 
Selective licensing in isolation will not tackle this low demand. There are 
many local and wider economic factors which influence house price and 
sales such as employment levels, population size and profile, land availability 
and household size. Other macro-economic factors such as mortgage 
availability, interest rates, government incentives and tax regimes, will also 
significantly influence house prices and sales trends. Selective licensing 
cannot influence these factors. 
 

14.2 However, within these low demand areas, there are significantly high 
numbers of private rented properties, some of which are not operating to a 
required standard. This exacerbates the problems of low demand and further 
deters people from moving into or remaining in these neighbourhoods. 
Selective licensing will help to address the problems associated with low 
demand by compelling those landlords that are not operating to minimum 
required standards to improve the management practices and the condition of 
their properties. This will improve the housing offer which in turn will help 
improving the unpopular perspective that residents have of these 
neighbourhoods. 
 

14.3 Selective licensing is one aspect of a wider economic, social, 
environmental, and housing regeneration strategy that includes multiple 
initiatives. 
 

Social and Economic Regeneration Activity 

14.4 Burnley’s Future 2017 to 2021 (updated in February 21) is the 
community strategy for the Borough. This document helps ensure that the 
Council has a clear vision for the future under the key priorities of: 

 
Prosperity - This explains how the Council and our partners will grow the 
borough’s economy. It is the partnership’s top priority and underpins all 
efforts to improve quality of life in the borough. 
People - This explains how the Council and our partners will help people 
lead healthier lives and how we will help the next generation realise their 
potential. 
Places - This explains how the Council and our partners will improve 
housing and make the neighbourhoods in our borough cleaner, greener 

Page 167



10
6

 

and safer. 
Performance – This explains how the Council and our partners will deliver 
our priorities efficiently with services that offer value for money. 

 
14.5 The strategy recognises that the Covid-19 pandemic had a significant 

impact on all lives in 2021. The Council will do everything it can to help the 
borough bounce back from its effects.  
 

14.6 The pandemic further highlighted the link between deprivation and poor 
health, with more Covid 19 related deaths being recorded in deprived 
neighbourhoods. The NHS have a legal duty to address these inequalities. 
One of the main factors of deprivation is poor housing; selective licensing is 
an integral part of addressing poor housing, helping to improve deprivation 
and subsequently reduce inequalities. 

 

Empty Homes Programme 

14.7 Aim 3 of the Housing Strategy is to reduce the proportion of empty 
homes in the borough. A concentration of empty homes is the most visible 
sign of a poorly performing housing market. The properties are often in poor 
condition which affects the appearance of an area and has a negative impact 
on the residents. They also attract anti-social behaviour, fly tipping and 
vandalism, which all contribute to creating unpopular neighbourhoods. Empty 
homes are also a wasted resource and can, if dealt with effectively, provide 
affordable housing for both rental and owner occupation. Burnley has an 
excellent record of effective intervention and innovation in tackling empty 
homes and has run an Empty Homes Programme since 2002. 
 

14.8 The Empty Homes Programme started in 2002 funded through the 
Council’s capital programme. The programme is borough wide and works 
with owners to encourage and support them to return their properties back in 
to use. The Council also utilise capital resources to acquire properties, 
refurbish them to modern standards and return them back in to use through 
sale on the open market. The scheme remains a priority for the Council and 
continues to evolve over time to include more initiatives to maximise the 
impact on bringing empty homes back into use. 
 

14.9 The Empty Homes Clusters Programme ran from 2013 to 2015 when 
Burnley was awarded £3.5 million through the Government’s clusters of 
empty homes programme to tackle concentrated empty properties in three 
neighbourhoods across the borough: Gannow, Queensgate and Trinity. This 
programme returned 223 properties back in to use against a target of 175 
utilising purchase and refurbishment, loans to landlords and an empty homes 
leasing scheme with our partner Calico Homes. 
 

14.10 To support the work of the clusters programme two neighbourhood 
improvement schemes were carried out with key streets targeted for 
aesthetic improvements that included painting, new rainwater goods and 
repair work to garden walls. 
 

14.11 During the financial year 20/21 the Council assisted in bringing 88 
properties back into use including 20 acquisitions and 17 interest free loans. 
In 2021/22 the Council committed a further £1.3 million to the empty homes 

Page 168



10
7

 

programme which continues to include the following initiatives: 
 

• Encouraging owners to bring their empty homes back into use through 
advice and persuasion. 

• Interest free empty homes loans, which are restricted to the selective 
licensing areas and enable landlords to access a maximum of £20,000 
interest free and repayable over 10 years by monthly direct debit 
instalments. The criteria attached to the loan include a standard of 
property condition stipulated by the council. 

• The payment of the landlord’s selective licensing fee if a landlord returns 
an empty home back into use under the criteria specified by the council. 

• A council tax rebate for up to 6 months if an empty home is returned back 
into use under the criteria specified by the Council. 

• Acquisition by agreement or through compulsory purchase of empty 
homes, which are then refurbishment and sold on the open market. 
Receipts from the sale of these properties are re-cycled back into the 
programme to the acquisition of further empty homes. 

• A successful empty homes leasing scheme with Calico Homes Limited. 
The scheme helps to ensure that empty homes compulsory purchased by 
the council on streets in lower housing demand are brought back into use 
as good quality, well managed affordable homes. A Registered Provider 
presence in these areas of low demand helps to improve the overall 
management of the housing stock within those streets and provide 
additional support for the community. 

• Environmental Improvement Schemes – Painting the external elevations of 
properties, re- pointing, and new guttering to improve the aesthetic 
appearance of terraced blocks to facilitate further investment. 
 

14.12 For the past three years the Council has been working closely with 
Calico Homes to support them in the delivery of their empty homes 
programme to provide more social housing in Burnley. Calico have brought 
95 empty homes back into use, 77 of which are in the Burnley Wood with 
Healey Wood selective licensing area. Through the programme there is a 
particular emphasis on targeting the long term vacants for compulsory 
purchase as these are the properties causing the greatest blight within the 
neighbourhoods. 
 

14.13 From the 95 properties, 5 properties were allocated as safe houses for 
victims of domestic violence during the Covid 19 pandemic, 10 properties 
allocated to Syrian Refugee and Global Resettlement programmes and 5 to 
other supported housing partners providing homes for homeless families and 
veterans. The other 75 units were let for general needs affordable rent. 
 

14.14 The positive impact this project is having within the Burnley Wood 
community is already visible, helping return a once thriving neighbourhood 
back into a desirable place to live at affordable cost. The number of empty 
homes in the area has reduced, the quality of accommodation has improved 
through the high standard of renovation works and there is the added benefit 
of having a social landlord management presence within the area. In 
addition, Calico are in the process of opening the community centre again 
within Burnley Wood to provide social interaction for families and children. 
The Council is keen to continue this partnership working with registered 

Page 169



10
8

 

social landlords. 

Housing Enforcement and Proactive Inspections 

14.15 Selective licensing does not require an inspection of every property; 
however, the Council aims to ensure that landlords who provide 
accommodation do so to at least the minimum legal requirement. In the 
current selective licensing areas, a programme of proactive inspections is 
being undertaken by the housing standards team and this will be replicated in 
any future designations.  
 

14.16 The Housing Standards Team will also work with the selective licensing 
team to advise on and enforce the new regulations in relation to smoke and 
carbon monoxide detection. They will also use penalty notices where a 
managing or letting agency is not a member of a Redress Scheme. 
 

14.17 The licensing team have always proactively monitored the designation 
areas, however since 2021 officers have instigated a programme of 
structured area audits, focusing on smaller pockets within the designation 
area for a period of around three months. As part of the audit officers 
undertake external property audits, identifying external disrepair as well as 
flagging any properties which they believe required an internal inspection. 
They also survey the back yards and streets to identify and tackle fly tipping 
and dirty back yards. Simultaneously they audit documentation such as gas 
safety certificates, energy performance certificates and electrical safety 
reports. The Council have found this to be a very effective and proactive way 
to tackle small areas within the licensing areas, identifying repeat offenders 
who are not complying with the scheme and also helping us to have a greater 
understanding of the areas within a scheme which require the strongest 
intervention. 

 

Accreditation, Training and Development 
 

14.18 The proposed fee structure includes a 30% reduction on selective 
licensing fees for those landlords that become accredited through the Good 
Landlord and Agent Scheme (GLAS) before a designation comes into force. 
This encourages further membership of the voluntary scheme, which 
improves the management and condition of the private rented properties 
through landlords adhering to the Code of Practice. 
 

14.19 Training and Development Days will continue for licensed and accredited 
landlords and managing agents, improving knowledge, and understanding of 
their legal responsibilities and best practice, as well as advising them where 
they can go to receive further advice and support. Through increased 
knowledge management practices and property condition will improve within 
the private rented sector. 

 

Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 

14.20 In Lancashire each local council is required by law to work together in 
partnership with Lancashire Police Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Service, 
Primary Care Trusts and Probation Trust. These partnerships are called 

Page 170



10
9

 

Community Safety Partnerships and they are responsible for working 
together to reduce crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, substance 
misuse and re-offending. Burnley is part of the Pennine Community Safety 
Partnership. This partnership has identified the following Pennine 
Lancashire Community Safety Strategy priorities for 2018-21 as:  

• Maintain low crime and anti-social behaviour levels 
• Keeping young people and adults with vulnerabilities safe 
• Tackling the causes of crime through prevention and early intervention 
• Targeting repeat offenders and those causing the greatest harm 
• Keeping our roads safe 

14.21 The Council’s Community Safety Team takes a lead role in meeting the 
priorities and actions of the Pennine Community Safety Strategy for 
Burnley. The delivery of the local community safety strategy in Burnley is 
the responsibility of the Multi Agency Tasking and Coordinating (MATAC) 
group, where all local activities are agreed with emerging and predictive 
threats are considered. 
 

14.22 Selective Licensing works closely with the Community Safety Team and is 
also a part of MATAC. It forms a part of these partnerships which act to co-
ordinate actions and responses from a wide range of partner agencies, such 
as Police, Streetscene, adult and social care, and landlords and residents. 
 

14.23 The Selective Licensing Team liaise with ward councillors and 
neighbourhood policing teams, resident groups, and other partnership 
agencies to consider concerns and reports of ASB. The team then assists 
the Council’s ASB team to resolve and reduce ASB in the designation areas 
using the conditions of selective licensing. 

 

Environmental Crime 
14.24 The Council’s Streetscene unit are responsible for investigating fly 

tipping and dog fouling incidents and, taking the appropriate action through 
the courts when evidence is found. The Council has a statutory duty to keep 
streets clean, so any side-waste presented on collection day is left for a 
Council Officer to investigate, before being removed by a Street Cleansing 
Operative. 
 

14.25 Selective licensing supports this work by ensuring landlords are aware 
if they have a dirty back yard, and if it is caused by the tenant that they are 
using the clauses within the tenancy agreement and management 
procedures to ensure the tenant clears dirty back yards. 
 

14.26 The licence conditions contain additional conditions relating to the 
prevention of environmental crime and keeping the yard areas free from 
waste. Regular audits are carried out to monitor the areas, and managers 
and landlords contacted if there is breach of the licence conditions. This 
information is also used in assessing the licence holder and manager against 
the Fit and Proper Person criteria. 
 

Page 171



11
0

 

Supporting Vulnerable Residents 
 

14.27 Working with vulnerable residents often requires a multi-agency approach 
to address complex issues that person is facing. The health, safety and 
welfare multi-agency meetings for Burnley started in October 2020 due to 
recognition from operational officers that partnerships between statutory and 
voluntary agencies needed to be strengthened to effectively support some of 
Borough’s must vulnerable residents. Over time membership has grown to 
include: Housing, Streetscene, police, fire service, health, adult and children 
social care, CVS, Inspire, Age UK, Calico and Burnley Together. 
 

14.28 Officers meet once per month to discuss complex cases where written 
consent has been gained by the resident. There are no eligibility criteria for 
cases other than a multi-agency approach is needed to support that resident. 
This approached has seen effective collaboration with a wide range of 
organisations and services. Detailed below one of the cases referred to the 
meeting: 
 

 
X has been known to the forum for the past 12 months and he has been 
known to Adult Social Care for several years. X has not engaged with any 
services previously, but over the past 12 months he has had grant works 
completed by housing at his property to make it habitable again. He has a 
new boiler, hot water, and electricity, and told me that he is looking forward 
to winter for the first time in over 15 years as he will be warm. Although 
works need to be finalised at his home, X appears to be doing well and he 
is engaging with Adult Social Care. Telecare has been provided, and 
reablement with therapy. The Integrated Neighbourhood team is working 
with X regarding his health needs, and he is engaging well with the Officer 
currently, who has spent a lot of time with X to help him engage with his 
GP, he has recently consented to a referral to Inspire which is a huge step 
in the right direction for him. Again, the joint approach between health, 
housing and Adult Social Care has proved successful. 

 

Administration of the Designation Area 
15.1 This section explains how the Council will implement and 

administer the scheme, if approved by the Secretary of State.  
 

15.2 Should the designation be granted it will come into force no sooner than 
three months from the end date of the previous designation. Once the 
designation is in force, all landlords operating within will be required to apply 
for a licence for each house that is rented. The Council has introduced an 
online application system to enable all applications to be submitted and 
processed electronically. 
 

15.3 The Council cannot require licensing of houses that have been made 
exempt under the Selective Licensing of Houses (Specified Exemptions) 
(England) Order 2006 (such as tenancies with a term over 21 years or 

Page 172



11
1

 

occupied by a family member), or property that is subject to a tenancy or 
licence granted by a body which is registered as a social landlord under Part 
1 of the Housing Act 1996. Applications for exemption are required to be 
made via the online system to ensure monitoring of all exempt properties 
throughout the lifetime of the designation. 
 

15.4 Regular monitoring of land registry house sale and council tax data 
enables the Council to identify new properties that require licensing and 
identify those that have not applied. Audits of the areas are also undertaken, 
plotting every property interest on a GIS map. 

Fees 

15.5 Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that the Local Authority may 
require the application to be accompanied by a fee fixed by the Authority. 
 

15.6 The Authority is not permitted to make a profit from the introduction of a 
Selective Licensing programme and any surplus must be ring-fenced for use 
on the scheme. The fees should, however, take account of all administrative 
costs incurred in carrying out all duties under this part of the Housing Act 
2004. 
 

15.7 The fee covers a five-year selective licensing designation. The lowest fee 
payable would be for a landlord that is an existing licensed and accredited 
landlord with one house where the application was made within three months 
of the designation coming into force; this fee would be £369. The maximum 
fee payable would be for a landlord who has never been licensed in Burnley, 
is not accredited and does not apply within the first three months of the 
scheme: £750. The full Fees and Charging Structure is attached as Appendix 
14 to this document. 
 

15.8 The fee may be paid by direct debit usually over a 2-year period. 
 

15.9 All fees are calculated based on the staff needed to cover the processing of 
the estimated number of applications and the monitoring and implementation 
of the scheme. Costing estimates for the scheme include salaries and on costs 
and all anticipated non-salary revenue spending. 

Fit and Proper Person Criteria 
15.10 As part of the application process, proposed licence holders and 

managers will be required to provide information to demonstrate that they 
are “fit and proper persons” and that they have satisfactory management 
arrangements in place, including dealing with anti-social behaviour. 
  

15.11 In circumstances where the Council are not satisfied that the licence 
holder or manager is a “fit and proper person”, and/or the management 
arrangements are unsatisfactory, then it can refuse to grant a licence. 
 

15.12 Should any person be found to have a criminal record; the information and 
any other relevant information will be considered by the Council and a 
decision will be taken as to whether the persons involved are reasonably 
considered to be a “fit and proper person”. 

Page 173



11
2

 

 
15.13 The existence of a criminal record does not automatically bar a person 

from being licensed.  
 

15.14 In considering whether someone is “fit and proper” the Council can also 
consider any person associated with the applicant who is affected by the 
above-mentioned issues (Sec. 89 Housing Act 2004). The Council is also 
free to consider any other information it has at its disposal with regards to 
the persons named in the application. Such information must, however, be 
factual and backed by evidence. A proposed fit and proper person criteria is 
included as Appendix A. 

Licence Conditions 
 

15.15 As part of the licensing requirements all licence holders will be 
required to comply with various licensing conditions. The following 
conditions are mandatorily imposed by the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Council has no discretion to vary these conditions: 

 
1.  If gas is supplied to the Property, the Licence Holder must produce to the Authority 

annually for their inspection, a Gas Safety Certificate obtained in respect of the Property 
within the last twelve months.  
 

2. i) The Licence Holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture provided by him in the 
Property in a safe condition;  

ii) Must supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the safety 
of such appliances and furniture;  

iii) Must ensure that every electrical installation in the house is in proper working 
order and safe for continued use; and  

iv) Must supply to the Authority, on demand, a declaration by him as to the safety of 
such installations. For the purposes of paragraph iii) “electrical installation” has the 
meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the Building Regulations 2010.  
 

3.1 The Licence Holder must  
i) Ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the house on which there 
is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation and to keep each alarm in 
proper working order, and  
ii) Supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the condition 
and positioning of such alarms.  

3.2 The Licence Holder must ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room 
in the house which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a fixed 
combustion appliance other than a gas cooker appliance, and keep any such alarm in proper 
working order, and supply to the authority on demand a declaration by him as to the 
condition and positioning of any such alarm.  
 
4. The Licence Holder must provide each occupier of the Property with a written statement of 
the terms and conditions on which they occupy the Property (“the Tenancy Agreement”).  
 
5.1 If any person allowed by the Licence Holder to occupy the Property shall have been a 
tenant under a tenancy of any other property then, prior to that person being allowed to 
occupy the Property, the Licence Holder shall have obtained from that person formal 
identification and shall have taken reasonable steps to obtain a satisfactory written reference 
from his/her existing landlord or from somebody who has been his/her landlord within the 

Page 174



11
3

 

last two years prior to granting the tenancy. In requesting references from previous 
landlords, the licence holder or their nominated agent should request details of how that 
person conducted any such tenancy (or tenancies) in terms of causing nuisance, anti social 
behaviour, payment of rent and any breaches of the tenancy agreement(s).  
 
5.2 The licence holder must retain copies of their requests for references, and where 
obtained, copies of reference(s) provided for a minimum of 12 months from the start of a 
tenancy. A copy of the said request(s) and where obtained the reference(s) must be 
provided to the Authority within 14 days of receiving a request to do so in writing by the 
Authority. 
 

15.16 In addition to the above mandatory conditions the Council may attach local 
conditions to licences. A copy of the proposed conditions is included as 
Appendix B. 

 

Level of Compliance with Current Selective Licensing Areas 
16.1 The Council has taken a supportive role with landlords in helping them 

obtain licences and therefore meet the required conditions, rather than 
immediately pursuing enforcement action. Where the Council proposes to refuse 
to grant a licence, it will endeavour to work with the proposed manager and 
licence holder to resolve the issues before refusal.  
 

16.2 Table 84 shows application data for the current licensing areas. The 
licensing team works hard to support landlords in securing a licence, and 
compliance with the scheme is high. Trinity and Queensgate have the lowest 
levels of landlords who are non-complian. A recent exercise in the Gannow 
licensing area identified additional privately rented properties which the Council 
were not previously aware of, which has increased the number of non-compliant 
landlords; these are being actively pursued by the licensing team. Of the four 
older schemes, Daneshouse and Stoneholme has the lowest level of 
compliance, with 9% of landlords who the Council believes to require a licence, 
not having one. The licensing team has a number of ongoing cases being 
prepared for our legal team across the four areas where landlords have evaded 
the licensing scheme.  
 

16.3 Rates of compliance in the 2022-27 areas are also positive, and the 
licensing team is proactively working to ensure that ongoing applications are 
completed so that we are able to make a decision on whether to grant the 
licence. Statements for civil penalties are also being prepared for properties in 
these areas where landlords have repeatedly failed to comply with the scheme. 
The Council prioritises cases based on potential harm at the property, length of 
time without a licence, and cases where the landlord has shown non-compliance 
at multiple properties or in contradiction of multiple pieces of legislation. 
 
 

Table 84: Compliance in the Current Selective Licensing Areas (SL Team 2024) 

Selective 
Licensing Area 

No. Licensable 
Properties 

% Licensable 
Properties 
Licensed 

% Applications 
Ongoing 

% Non-Compliant 
Properties 

Trinity 2019-24 744 93% 4% 3% 

Page 175



11
4

 

Queensgate 
2019-24 

785 89% 8% 3% 

Gannow 2019-24 496 90% 4% 6% 
Daneshouse & 
Stoneyholme 
2019-24 

603 89% 2% 9% 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey 
Wood 2022-27 

429 70% 15% 15% 

Leyland Road 
Area 2022-27 

464 71% 16% 13% 

 
16.4 Since 2015 the Council has prosecuted 25 landlords in respect of 36 properties for 

offences contrary to Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004. In addition, the Council prosecuted 
a letting agent whose properties were managed to a very poor standard in respect of 11 
properties for operating without a licence. The letting agent in question now no longer 
operates in the borough. These prosecutions resulted in criminal convictions and fines 
totaling over £52,000. 
 

16.5 Since 2017 the Council has issued 34 civil penalties for offences contrary to Part 3 of 
the Housing Act 2004. The penalties totalled over £260,000. The majority of the 
offences were operating a privately rented property without a licence, with five of the 
penalties related to breaches of licensing conditions. Table 85 shows the breakdown of 
civil penalties and prosecutions by area. 
 

16.6 The Council is always keen to ensure compliance, and legal action nis taken as a last 
resort. The Council rescinded five notices of intent to serve a civil penalty where it was 
felt that the landlord in question had provided evidence of mitigating circumstances, 
engaged with the licensing team and complied with the legislation, or that the Council 
felt for other reasons it was no longer in the public interest to pursue the case.  
 

16.7 The introduction of civil penalties in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 resulted in a 
change to the Council’s Enforcement Policy. Where the Council believes an offence has 
been committed, the starting point will be to issue a civil penalty. Where non compliance 
continues, and further offences are committed, the Council will then seek to take 
prosecution action, with a view to then escalating action towards Banning Orders and 
entries onto the Rogue Landlord Database. The Council has submitted one landlord to 
the Rogue Landlord Database due to persistent non compliance throughout several of 
the selective licensing schemes. The introduction of civil penalties has led to a decrease 
in prosecution action, particularly in the later designations, though this is still taken 
where appropriate. 

 
Table 85: Total Civil Penalties in the Licensing Areas 

Selective Licensing Areas Total Civil Penalties 
2015-2023 

Total Prosecutions 2015-
2023 

Trinity 4 15 
Queensgate 5 18 
Gannow 6 11 
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 7 1 
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 5 2 
Leyland Road Area 7  0 
TOTAL 34  

 

Page 176



11
5

 

Electrical Safety Regulations 
16.8 The licensing team is currently working closely with the Housing Standards team to 

ensure that properties in the licensing areas are compliant with the Electrical Standards 
in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020. Table 86 shows the actions 
taken/currently ongoing by the licensing team up to January 2024. 
 

16.9 The licensing team will continue to proactively pursue landlords who have not 
submitted valid electrical reports; the licensing application process and conditions are 
utilised alongside additional legislation to ensure safety and compliance at properties 
within the licensing areas. Without this focus from the licensing team, it would be a 
significant task for the Housing Standards team to pursue non compliant landlords 
across the borough.  

 
Table 86: Enforcement Action Electrical Safety SL Team 

SL Area Total 7 Day 
Letter 

Total 28 Day 
Remedial 
Notice 

Satisfactory 
Certificate 
Received 

Outstanding Civil Penalty 
Action 
Ongoing 

Trinity 19 12 13 6 2 
Queensgate 10 8 8 1 0 
Gannow 9 9 4 5 1 
Daneshouse 
& 
Stoneyholme 

6 1 6 0 0 

Burnley Wood 
with Healey 
Wood 

6 3 3 2 0 

Leyland Road 
Area 

5 5 5 0 0 

TOTAL 55 38 39 14 3 
 
 

Refusals 
16.10 In order grant a licence, the Council must be satisfied, amongst other matters, that 

the proposed licence holder and manager where one is appointed, is a fit and proper 
person to hold the licence, and that the management arrangements for the property are 
satisfactory.  
 

16.11 The Council is committed to ensuring that selective licensing is robust, and as such 
during the current designations we have refused applications in respect of 31 properties 
where the standard was not met. Of those refusals, 15 related to a single managing 
agent who was operating in the borough below the expected standard. The licensing 
team are now working with landlords affected to ensure they are compliant with the 
scheme and that appropriate management procedures are put in place.  

 

Case Study: Improving Management 

16.12 The licensing team had concerns about the management standards of an individual 
who had control of several properties in the licensing areas and was managing them on 
behalf of the owners. He had failed to apply for licences for several properties following 
the reintroduction of a licensing scheme.  After pursuing applications for several months, 
the officer issued a civil penalty of £5000 on both the owners and the manager. 
 

Page 177



11
6

 

16.13 This prompted conversations between the owners and the manager and resulted in 
the management arrangement coming to an end. Six of the properties previously in 
control of this manager are now being managed by GLAS accredited managing agents, 
are being brought up to the required standard and are now licensed. The Council 
rescinded the notice of intent to serve a civil penalty and is satisfied that the properties 
in question are now being managed to the required standard.  
 

Risk Assessment 
 

17.1 There are risks and limitations attached to a selective licensing 
designation. The main risks that have been considered are: 

 
• That rogue or criminal landlords relocate to neighbouring areas and continue to 

manage their properties in an unsatisfactory manner. 
 

o If the proposed designation areas are introduced, the main low 
demand areas within the Borough will be covered by selective 
licensing preventing those landlords moving to avoid a scheme. It is 
unlikely that they will move to higher demand areas as the house 
prices are higher with less property availability. 

o In the current selective licensing designations, landlords who have 
been refused licences have sold the properties, which have then been 
acquired by a responsible landlord. 

o There will be monitoring procedures in place to determine whether 
rogue landlords locate to another area of the Borough. 

o The enforcement of housing conditions will continue to operate across 
the Borough. 

• Rogue or criminal landlords continue to operate without a licence. 
o The area is monitored intensively through a range of data sources, including 

housing benefit, council tax and visual audits. 
o In the current selective licensing areas, there is a robust enforcement policy in 

place which includes prosecutions, management orders, rent repayment 
orders and Civil Penalty Notices. This will be replicated in any future 
designation as well as consideration of Banning Orders and entries onto the 
Rogue Landlord database. 

 
• Landlords unlawfully evict tenants to avoid licensing. 

o This has not been experienced in the current selective licensing areas. 
o Having an empty property attracts higher Council Tax bills and the risk that 

the property will be vandalised. 
o The licensing team and the housing needs team will ensure tenants are 

aware of their legal rights through advice and publicity. 
o The threat or action of an illegal eviction will be investigated through 

partnership work with the council’s homelessness team. 
 

• Tenants who have been evicted because of continued anti-social 
behaviour or criminal behaviour are rehoused in an adjacent street or move 
to a neighbouring area. 

o In the majority of cases early intervention by the selective licensing 
team, the Council’s Streetscene department and the Police will 
address the anti-social behaviour without the need for eviction. 

o If an extreme case occurs where the tenant has been evicted and then 
rehoused by another landlord in the same area, the situation will be 

Page 178



11
7

 

identified through the monitoring of the area and then if required, 
enforcement action will be taken against the landlord if they have not 
undertaken satisfactory referencing. 

o If the tenant starts to display the same behaviour at the new house, action 
will be taken in partnership with other services that will include the 
consideration of an anti-social behaviour order banning them from the 
area. This risk has occurred in a small number of cases and options for 
dealing with this are being investigated, including possible legal action to 
exclude such tenants from a particular selective licensing area. 
 

Consultation 
 

18.1 Before a new designation can be approved, it is a legal requirement for 
any authority considering the introduction of selective licensing to undertake 
consultation for a period of not less than 10 weeks. Guidance from the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (March 2015) states 
that when considering whether to designate an area the local housing 
authority must: 

 
o Take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely 

to be affected by the designation, and, 
o Consider any representations made in accordance with the 

consultation. 
 

18.2 Should the Council’s Executive decide to approve the proposed 
designation areas, The Council would then be required to obtain further 
confirmation of the designations from the Secretary of State.  
 

18.3 The Council proposes to consult with the following known stakeholders: 
• Residents – letters/questionnaires will be hand delivered to all residents 

within the proposed boundary, and those resident on the periphery of the 
scheme. Residents will have the option to complete their questionnaire online. 

• Landlords and letting agents – emails and letters to be sent to all known 
landlords operating in the proposed licensing areas, with the option to 
complete an online questionnaire or submit representations in writing or 
verbally. 

• Businesses – questionnaires will also be delivered to businesses operating in 
the proposed areas. 

• Drop in sessions – to be held at community venues within or as close as 
possible to the proposed licensing areas. Stakeholders to be made aware of 
dates/times/venues within letters, emails and questionnaires to be distributed. 

• Landlord Evening – event focused on landlords and agents to be held at the 
Town Hall. 

• Consultation with the Private Rented Sector Forum. 
• Registered Social Landlords – emails/letters to be sent to RSLs operating in 

Burnley inviting responses. 
• Other key partners: NRLA, Shelter, neighbouring local authorities, local 

Councillors, neighbourhood police, fire and health teams will be contacted 
and invited to submit their response. 
 

18.4 Information providing to stakeholders will be clear and concise, written in plain 
English. A frequently asked questions document will be provided, as well as a 
summary of this document. Council officers will be available during office hours for 

Page 179



11
8

 

discussion by phone or email, and officers will correspond by letter if required. 
 

18.5 The consultation will be publicised via the Council’s website and social media 
channels. Key documents including the proposals, maps and street lists will be 
available online, as well as FAQs, a summary of the proposals, proposed fee 
structure, conditions and fit and proper person criteria. 
 

18.6 Follow up reminder letters and emails will also be sent to stakeholders at the 
mid-way point of the consultation. 
 

18.7 After the consultation, anonymised transcripts of all results and responses will 
be made publicly available as well as a full breakdown of the results of the 
consultation, analysis and subsequent recommendations.

 

Outcomes of the Proposed Designation Area 
 

19.1 Low demand in the proposed selective licensing areas is most clearly 
manifested in high vacancy rates, low property values, high numbers of private 
rented properties and poor property conditions. In addition there are high 
incidences of environmental crime and anti- social behaviour, which have a 
negative impact on demand within the area, further weakening the housing 
market. 

 
19.2 Pockets of significantly high numbers of private rented properties in poor 

condition are exacerbating the problems of low demand through poor property 
management and poor housing conditions. Selective Licensing will help to 
address the problems associated with low demand by compelling those 
landlords that are not operating to minimum required standards to improve the 
management practices and the condition of their properties. This will improve the 
housing offer, which in turn will help improving the unpopular perspective that 
residents have of these neighbourhoods. 

 
19.3 The overall objective of the designation areas as part of a wider housing and 

economic development programme is to improve the social, economic and 
environmental conditions within the designation area. To achieve this within 
the designation area Burnley Borough Council aims to: 

 
a. Continue to gather key statistics to assist in the prioritisation of streets and 

initiatives 
b. Improve stakeholder engagement 
c. Improve the management of the private rented sector; 
d. Improve the condition of the private rented sector 
e. Reduce anti-social behaviour 
f. Reduce environmental crime 
g. Bring empty homes back into use 

 
19.4 Having dure regard to the Independent Review of the Use and Effectiveness of 

Selective Licensing (MHCLG 2019) under each aim the Council have set the 
following targets which when delivered as part of a wider regeneration 
strategy and in collaboration with other partners and initiatives will assist in 
improving social, economic and environmental conditions within the areas as 
the standard of lives for residents will improve by protecting their health, 

Page 180



11
9 

safety and welfare through better housing conditions and management. 
 

19.5 The targets detailed below are not an exhaustive list as they need to be flexible 
to adapt as the data over the five years will change. 

 
a. Continue to gather key statistics to assist in the prioritisation of streets and 

initiatives 
• To publish annual reviews of the selective licensing areas in relation to 

key statistics and use these statistics to prioritise streets and initiatives 
for the coming year; 

• Continue to identify part 3 properties through a range of data, mapping 
exercises and audits of the designations 

• Continued monitoring of income and expenditure which will be 
published in the annual reports 

• Monitor compliance with licensing and licensing conditions 
• Monitor the number of takes taken to determine a complete and 

valid application (target 90 days) 
• Monitor the number of landlords that attend development days 
• Monitor the number of reference requests received and the time taken 

to process the reference request (target 2 working days) 
 

b. Improve stakeholder engagement 
• Six weekly private rented forums 
• 2 landlord evening per year 
• 6 landlord development days per year 
• 2 tenant information days 
• Publish annual reports 
• Annual landlord and resident newsletters 
• Multi Agency Meetings 
• MATAC 

 
c. Improve the management of the private rented sector 

• Continue to monitor and where necessary enforce licence conditions 
• Continue to request certificates upon expiry 
• Continue landlord and agent training days 
• Email mail outs for changes affecting the private rented sector 
• Continue to encourage landlords to join the Good Landlord and Agent Scheme 
• Officers to advise and support landlords in meeting their legal obligations 
• Robust enforcement procedures 

 
d. Improve the condition of the private rented sector 

• Consider further environmental improvement schemes within the designation 
areas 

• Selective licensing to continue property checks to monitor conditions 
• Zone each selective licensing area for a five year rolling programme of 

audits to monitor licence conditions 
• Landlord enforcement to continue proactive Housing, Health and Safety 

inspections and target properties where no licence application has been 
received to protect most vulnerable tenants. 

Page 181



12
0 

• Encourage landlords to improve exterior decorations through the Good 
Landlord and Agent Scheme 

• Where a property is owner occupied work with the Home Improvement 
Agency and the Multi Agency Meeting to support that resident 

• Robust enforcement procedures 
 

e. Reduce anti-social behaviour 
• As part of the application process ensure landlords have a robust process 

in place to manage anti-social behaviour 
• Continue to monitor and where necessary enforce conditions in 

relation to tenant referencing and the management of anti-social 
behaviour 

• To continue to work closely with the Community Safety Team and MATAC 
• Continue to support landlords to address ant-social behaviour 
• Use of Community Protection Warnings and Notices and as a last 

resort Closing Orders 
 

f. Reduce environmental crime 
• Continue to monitor and where necessary enforce conditions in relation to 

the management of waste including the provision of bins at the start of a 
tenancy agreement 

• Ensure all rear yards are fitted with a gate that is fir for purpose 
• Continue to undertake regular audits to monitor the areas, and contact 

managers and landlords if there is breach of the licence conditions. 
• Continue to work with Streetscene to identify alley gate schemes. 

 
g. Bring empty homes back into use 

• Selective licensing officers and the empty homes team to work closely 
together to identify problem long term empty properties in the designation 
areas 

• Continue to implement the empty homes programme in the designation areas 
• Continue to offer interest free loans to landlords and regularly publish this 

incentive 
• Continue to support Calico Homes to deliver their empty homes programme 

 

Conclusion 
20.1 The Council is satisfied that this report has established a clear need to further 

investigate the designation of the six proposed selective licensing areas, by 
demonstrating that those areas are suffering from low demand for housing and/or poor 
property condition.  

20.2 The Council has demonstrated how selective licensing has resulted in 
improvements in the existing licensing areas, and that it is appropriate to continue and 
expand these areas, plus two additional areas, to build upon this progress and make 
improvements in the private rented sector in Burnley. 

Recommendations 
 

21.1 That the Executive approve the consultation in the six proposed areas as 
specified in this report. 

21.2 That the Executive approve the appointment of a full time Project Assistant for a Page 182



12
1 

period of ten months to run the consultation, gather and analyse results.  
  

Page 183



12
2 

 

Appendix A: Fit and Proper person criteria 
 

 
Fit and Proper Person and Management Arrangement Criteria for Selective Licensing 
 

1. Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that, when deciding whether to grant a licence or 
not, the local authority (the “Authority”) is required to look at three aspects of the 

management of the property (the “Property”) and if these are satisfactory then it must grant 
a licence: 

 
• The proposed licence holder (the “Licence Holder”) 

• The proposed manager (the “Manager”) (if a different person from the Licence 
Holder) 

• The proposed management arrangements (the “Property Management 
Arrangements”) 
 

2. The application will be checked to determine whether: 

• The proposed Licence Holder is a fit and proper (“Fit and Proper”) person to be the 
Licence Holder, and is, out of all the persons reasonably available to be the Licence 
Holder in respect of the house, the most appropriate person to be the Licence 
Holder; 

• The proposed Manager of the house is either – the person having control of the 
house, or a person who is an agent or employee of the person having control of the 
house; 

• That the proposed Manager is a fit and proper person to be the Manager; 

• That the proposed Property Management Arrangements for the house are 
satisfactory; and 

• All persons involved in the management of the property are to be identified and 
assessed under the Fit and Proper person criteria. 
 

3. The Authority will ensure, through this procedure that: 

• each case will be determined on its own merit; and 
• each specific offence, incident or issue will be considered in terms of its 

relevance to the holding of a Licence or to management and will take into 
account the gravity of the offence. 

 
4. Where the information contained in the initial application is insufficient to determine 

suitability, we may contact the applicant to request further information. Where no 

Page 184



12
3 

other information is available or forthcoming, the Authority can refuse to grant the licence on 
grounds of insufficient evidence. 

 
Definition of Fit and Proper Person Criteria 

 
5. A Fit and Proper person means that they are morally suitable. 

6. In determining whether a person is Fit and Proper the Housing Act 2004 Section 89 
outlines the test, this includes assessing whether there has been any; 

• Offences involving fraud, or other dishonesty, or violence or drugs, or any 
offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offenders Act 2003 

• Unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national 
origins, or disability 

• Breaches of housing or landlord and tenant law 

 
7. When determining if the person is Fit and Proper the Authority will consider the following; 

1. They are without any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands 
and warnings 

2. If involved in managing the house, they have the necessary experience and/or 
managerial skills and competence to successfully manage the property in 
accordance with satisfactory Management Arrangements 

3. They are aware of, and sensitive to, the needs of all sections of society; 

4. They are willing to engage with the Authority in the licensing procedure. 

5. They have suitable Management Arrangements and funding arrangements 

 
Application process - How we will determine whether a person meets Fit & Proper 

The Licence Holder and Manager will be assessed under each of the following categories to 
determine whether they meet the Fit and Proper person requirements. 

 
They are without any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings 
 

8. The applicant is to provide a current Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check for the 
proposed Licence Holder and Manager, if either party has not previously met the Fit and 
Proper person criteria. 

9. Any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings showing up 
under this check will not necessarily mean that an application for licence will be 

refused. However, the nature of some offences will be viewed more seriously than 

Page 185



12
4 

others. Offences have been categorised into “Category 1”, “Category 2” and “Category 3”, 
where category 1 is to be regarded as the most serious.1 

10. Due regard to the full circumstances surrounding the offence will be given. 

If involved in managing the house, they must have the necessary experience and/or managerial 
skills and competence to successfully manage the property in accordance with satisfactory 
management standards 

11. As of the 1st October 2014 it is a legal requirement for all managers to be a member of a 
redress scheme. Redress schemes for letting agency work and property management 
work (requirement to belong to a scheme) (England) Order 2014. 
 

12. The Client Money Protection for Property Agents (Requirement to Belong to a Scheme 
etc.) Regulations 2019 requires that managers must join a government approved ‘client 
money protection scheme’ if they are a letting or property management agent in the 
private rented sector in England and they hold clients’ money. Details of government 
approved schemes can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/client-moneyprotection- scheme-
property-agents 
 

13. Landlords and managing agents must be aware of their rights and obligations under the 
Tenant Fees Act 2019, and ensure they act lawfully with regard to payments in connection 
with a tenancy. 

14. A manager must be either accredited, who has already passed the Fit & proper 
assessment, or a member of a registered landlord or managing agent association such 

as NLA, RLA, UKALA, RICS. 

15. Checks will be made with other departments such as Streetscene, Housing Renewal, 
with other local authorities, to check the applicant, proposed Licence Holder or Manager 

regarding performance in handling disrepair complaints, dealing with anti-social 
behaviour, compliance with legal notices to identify any concerns relating to 

Management Arrangements. 

16. The applicant is to provide information relating to out of hours emergencies, anti-social 
behaviour, tenancy deposits, lettings and repairs reporting procedures. 

17. The Management Arrangements provided in the application will be assessed against the 
Property Management Arrangements. 

They are aware of, and sensitive to, the needs of all sections of society 

18. Through the application form, Applicants must demonstrate an understanding of the 
needs of people from all sections of society. 

19. That their Property and Arrangements are promoted and accessible to all, without 
discriminating against race, colour, gender, religion, ethnic or national origin disability 
(where appropriate) or sexual preference; and are promoted and available to people 
whose backgrounds may include such circumstances as homelessness, mental health 

 

1 The Authority is permitted to consider the underlying conduct behind spent convictions, as confirmed by the 
Court of Appeal in Hussain v Waltham Forest LBC [2020] EWCA Civ 1539. When a local authority exercises its 
functions under Parts 2 and 3 of the Housing Act 2004 it is doing so as a judicial authority, and consequently is able 
to consider the underlying conduct of spent convictions, overriding S.4(1)(a) of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974. 

Page 186

https://www.gov.uk/client-moneyprotection-scheme-property-agents
https://www.gov.uk/client-moneyprotection-scheme-property-agents
https://www.gov.uk/client-moneyprotection-scheme-property-agents


12
5 

problems, bankruptcy etc, where the provision of support where necessary enables that person 
to successfully manage their tenancy; 

20. That all information relating to the tenancy, property and tenant rights and 
responsibilities is presented in a format accessible and understandable by the individual; 

and 
That the management of their property does not contravene relevant legislation and 
standards, such as the Race Relations Act and Statutory Code of Practice on Racial Equality in 
Housing. 
 
They have suitable management structures and funding arrangements 

21. The Licence Holder must reside within the United Kingdom. 

22. In addition to those financial responsibilities outlined in the Property Management 
Arrangement, the Authority would expect a successful licence applicant to have suitable 

funding arrangements in place to effectively deal with repairs etc when they arise. 

23. As part of the application process, potential Licence Holders will have to show that they 
have suitable financial management procedures in place to ensure contingency funds 

are available for any repair or emergency remedial works needed. Further 
investigation, for example credit reference checks or examination of bank account 

statements may be required. 

 
They are willing to engage with the Authority in the licensing procedure. 

24. In addition to assessing compliance with current and previous licence criteria, the 
Authority will take into account the way in which the applicant has engaged with any 
previous licensing or enforcement procedures, both within or outside the Authority. 
The fact that the prospective Licence Holder may have been successful in mandatory 

licence applications is not sufficient evidence on its own to fully demonstrate 
engagement with previous application or enforcement processes. 

25. It should be noted that this document and the fit and proper person criteria is not 
exhaustive and the Authority reserve the right to amend the Fit and Proper Person 

criteria and the Property Management Arrangements from time to time in line with 
government directives or through service or policy development. Any amendments 

changes to the document or the Criteria will be published and sent to existing Licence 
Holders and Managers. 

 
Property Management Arrangements 

It is expected that all information for the prospective tenant referred to in this document will 
be in a format and method understandable to them and makes it possible for queries or 
concerns to be easily raised. 

The Licence Holder and Manager are to ensure that there are satisfactory Property 
Management Arrangements in place; below are the standards that the Authority require for 
each property. 

Page 187



12
6 

Standard 1 – Letting Practices 

Licence Holder or Manager will be expected to demonstrate that they have a letting 
procedure in place that: 

 Actively encourages applicants from all backgrounds and makes clear that prospective 
tenants will not be discriminated against due to their race, colour, gender, religion, 
sexual orientation, ethnicity, disability or national origin or age. 

 Provides clear information to prospective tenants about the property including rent 
levels, due dates and increase dates, deposits, receipts, the terms and conditions of the 
tenancy, charges (including service charges), a rent book and payment methods. 

 Abides by the Tenant Fees Act 2019. 
 Includes referencing procedures which include obtaining from a prospective tenant 

formal identification the taking of reasonable steps to obtain a satisfactory written 
reference from his/her existing landlord or from somebody who has been his/her 
landlord within the last two years prior to granting the tenancy. The landlord/manager 
should request details of how that person conducted any such tenancy in terms of 
causing nuisance, anti-social behaviour, payment of rent and any breaches of the 
tenancy agreement. Where this is not possible, from an employer, educational 
professional or other responsible person who knows the prospective tenant well. It is 
not advisable to rely on references from friends or family members. Home visits should 
also be carried out to check the tenants’ housekeeping. 

 Provides clear information on who has responsibility for the payment of all utility 
charges and Council Tax and for what period. 

 Provides clear information about how deposits are to be held under the Tenancy Deposit 
Scheme, which was introduced by Part 6 of the Housing Act 2004. 

 Ensures prospective tenants are made aware of the standard operating procedures, such 
as emergency repairs, hours of contact etc. 

 Provides the tenant, on receipt of a deposit, with an inventory describing the state of 
the property and contents. Where practicable, photographic evidence should be 
included. 

Standard 2 – Creating the tenancy 

The Tenancy Agreement issued must comply with current legislation. All parties included in the 
tenancy agreement should be aware of their rights and responsibilities under the agreement 
and landlords should be able to demonstrate that they have made every reasonable effort to 
ensure the tenants awareness. 
This could include providing clear, written descriptions of: 

 The terms on which the property is to be occupied. 
 An address in England or Wales for the tenant to use to serve notice. 
 Contact details for the landlord, agent or representatives, including emergency and ‘out 

of hours’ information. 
 Repair-reporting procedures including maximum response times. 
 Local facilities and amenities, including refuse collection/recycling days, neighbourhood 

watch and residents’ association details, post offices and shops etc. 
 Provision of alley gate keys where applicable. 
 The tenancy should contain acceptable behaviour clauses. Tenants should be provided 

with clear information about the level of behaviour expected of them whilst in the 

Page 188



12
7 

tenancy and their responsibilities both to the property and to their new neighbours and wider 
community. The information should also include examples of behaviour constituting 
antisocial behaviour and nuisance, as well as explaining clear consequences of displaying such 
behaviours. 

 
Standard 3 – Managing the tenancy 

They must make every possible step to ensure their tenants are able to live peacefully within 
their property. More specifically, they must: 

 ensure any repairs are undertaken within a reasonable timescale; 
 ensure the property is free from disrepair 
 Carry out quarterly checks of the property 
 promptly tackle any antisocial or nuisance behaviour emanating from the property, 

whether perpetrated by the tenants or people visiting or living with them; and 
 Respect the privacy of the tenant, for example by giving adequate notice and ensuring 

permission is given (usually no less than 24 hours) before access to the property is 
needed. 

 Tackle any breaches of the tenancy agreement promptly, and take any necessary action. 

 
Standard 4 – Tackling Antisocial Behaviour 

The Authority recognises the difficulties faced by private landlords in addressing issues of 
antisocial behaviour, particularly relating to possession proceedings. 

 The tenancy should contain acceptable behaviour clauses. Tenants should be provided 
with clear information about the level of behaviour expected of them whilst in the 
tenancy and their responsibilities both to the property and to their new neighbours and 
wider community. The information should also include examples of behaviour 
constituting antisocial behaviour and nuisance, as well as explaining clear consequences 
of displaying such behaviours. 

 Ensure there is a clear procedure for dealing with ASB, including warning letters, home 
visits and an escalation process. 

 Landlords and Agents should seek advice from the Authority as soon as they become 
aware of nuisance or antisocial behaviour being perpetrated by their tenants or people 
visiting or living with them. 

 The Authority and partners will work with landlords, managers and agents to develop an 
appropriate course of action for each case. This could include referral to mediation 
services, requesting action to regain possession of the property, the provision of a 
support service to the tenant. 

 Where complaints against the property continue, Licence Holders and Managers will be 
requested to demonstrate measures undertaken to address the issues. 

 Good references for tenants that have caused ASB should not be provided, in order to 
move a tenant on. Landlords, managers and agents must always provide accurate and 
honest references to other landlords or agents on request. 

Page 189



12
8 

Standard 5 – Ending a tenancy 

Licence Holder or Manager must be able to demonstrate a satisfactory understanding of 
relevant legislation and procedures. 

Unless a tenant clearly surrenders the property or the tenancy is ended by mutual agreement 
evidenced in writing, the correct legal notice must be served in order for the landlord to 
regain possession of the property. If the tenant fails to leave the property following the 
granting of a possession order, a Bailiff’s Warrant must be obtained in order to evict the 
tenant. 

The authority expects applicants, Licence Holders and managers to be able to evidence that: 
 They will comply with current legislation in order to gain possession of the property. 
 Tenants are issued with clear information regarding the arrangements for bringing the 

tenancy to an end. This information must include clear guidance regarding the condition 
of the property expected at the end of the tenancy and the consequences of failing to 
meet this standard. 

 The Tenancy Deposit Scheme is used to promptly and efficiently return deposits and that 
any deductions are justified with evidence of expenditure, made available to the tenant. 

Standard 6 - Other relevant issues 

In addition to the specific standards outlined above, the authority may take into consideration 
the following points: 

 That the Licence Holder or manager be suitably located to the licensable property to 
ensure adequate management, especially with regards to accessing the property, 
arranging repairs and being available to the tenants. Whilst each application will be 
considered individually, it is the view of the Authority that it is difficult to successfully 
manage a property when the landlord or agent are based a significant distance away, 
particularly overseas. In such circumstances, the Authority would expect a local 
managing agent to be employed, within a 40 minute drive of the property. 

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has a significant history of legal notices, 
work in default or enforced sales. Such a history will be considered to be an indication 
of poor management in relation to repairing obligations. 

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has no significant history of frequent and 
substantive complaints and/or successful civil actions relating to the unreasonable 
withholding of deposits. Such a history will be considered to be an indication of poor 
management in terms of collection and return of deposits. 

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has no history of frequent and 
substantial complaints from tenants relating to conduct considered constituting 
harassment or attempted or actual unlawful eviction. Such a history will be considered 
to be an indication of unsatisfactory management arrangements. 

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has not breached any current or previous 
management regulations applicable to HMOs. Any such breach will be considered to be 
an indication of unsatisfactory management arrangements. 

Page 190



12
9 

Appendix 1 – list of convictions, cautions, reprimands or warnings 

Category 1 offences 

A conviction for these offences will usually result in the licence application being rejected. 

Offences of dishonesty 

Benefit fraud (offences under ss111A and 112 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992) 

Forgery Burglary 

Conspiracy to defraud 

Obtaining money or property by deception 

Offences of violence 

Murder 

Manslaughter 

Arson 

Malicious harm (s20 Offences against the Person Act 1861) 

Possession of a firearm  

Possession of an offensive weapon 

Actual bodily harm (s47 Offences Against the Person Act 1861)  

Grievous bodily harm (s18 Offences Against the Person Act 1861) 

Robbery 

Riot 

Affray 

Any racially aggravated offence (Crime and Disorder Act 1988) 

Offences relating to drugs  

Supply of drugs 

Sexual and indecency offences 

Rape 

Soliciting  

Indecent assault 

Page 191



13
0 

Indecent exposure 

Any other offence under Schedule 3 of the Sexual offences act 2003 

Housing Act Offences 

Protection from Harassment Act 1997 Protection 

from Eviction Act 1997 

Any conviction for failure to comply with the licensing regime as set out in the Housing Act 2004 
(s95) 

Provision of false or misleading information (s238 of Housing Act 2004) 

Obstruction (s241of the Housing Act 2004) 

Failure to comply with a licence condition (s95 of the Housing Act 2004) 

Failure to hold a relevant licence (s72 of the Housing Act 2004) 

Breach of improvement notices and prohibition orders (s35.6 s32.2b of the Housing Act 2004) 

Category 2 offences 

A conviction for these offences will be viewed seriously and, following further investigation, could 
result in the licence application being rejected: 

Offences of dishonesty 

Handling or receiving stolen goods  

Theft 

Offences of violence 

Violent disorder  

Police assault 

A caution, reprimand or warning for any Category 1 offences will be classed as a Category 2 
offence. 

Category 3 offences 

A conviction, caution, reprimand or warning for these offences may also be taken into account 
and further information will be requested in order to determine the relevance of these offences. 
If deemed to be relevant or sufficiently severe, these offences could result in the licence 
application being rejected: 

Offences of violence 

Common assault 

Criminal damage 

Obstruction 
Page 192



 

All other offences relating to dishonesty, drugs, sexual and indecency, Housing and Landlord and 
Tenant. 

A caution, reprimand or warning for any Category 2 offences will be classed as a Category 3 
offence. 
 

 
Last Amended 27/01/2021 C Jackson, L Dickens 
  

Page 193



 

 

Appendix B 
BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL SELECTIVE LICENCE CONDITIONS 

 

 
In these conditions, “Property” is meant to refer to the building or part of a building, which is 
licensed under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (“the Act”). “Authority” is meant to refer to the 
Local Housing Authority, namely Burnley Borough Council. 

 
 

Housing Act 2004 Mandatory Conditions 

1. If gas is supplied to the Property, the Licence Holder must produce to the Authority 
annually for their inspection, a Gas Safety Certificate obtained in respect of the 
Property within the last twelve months. 

2. i) The Licence Holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture provided by him in 
the Property in a safe condition; 

ii) Must supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the safety 
of such appliances and furniture; 

iii) Must ensure that every electrical installation in the house is in proper working order 
and safe for continued use; and 

iv) Must supply to the Authority, on demand, a declaration by him as to the safety of 
such installations. 

For the purposes of paragraph iii) “electrical installation” has the meaning given in 
regulation 2(1) of the Building Regulations 2010. 

3. 1 The Licence Holder must 

i) Ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the house on which there is a 
room used wholly or partly as living accommodation and to keep each alarm in proper 
working order, and 

ii) Supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the condition 
and positioning of such alarms. 

3.2  The Licence Holder must ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room 
in the house which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a fixed 
combustion appliance other than a gas cooker appliance, and keep any such alarm in 
proper working order, and supply to the authority on demand a declaration by him as to 
the condition and positioning of any such alarm. 

4. The Licence Holder must provide each occupier of the Property with a written 
statement of the terms and conditions on which they occupy the Property (“the 
Tenancy Agreement”). 

Page 194



 

5.1 If any person allowed by the Licence Holder to occupy the Property shall have been a 
tenant under a tenancy of any other property then, prior to that person being 
allowed to occupy the Property, the Licence Holder shall have obtained from that 
person formal identification and shall have taken reasonable steps to obtain a 
satisfactory written reference from his/her existing landlord or from somebody who 
has been his/her landlord within the last two years prior to granting the tenancy. In 
requesting references from previous landlords, the licence holder or their nominated 
agent should request details of how that person conducted any such tenancy (or 
tenancies) in terms of causing nuisance, anti social behaviour, payment of rent and 
any breaches of the tenancy agreement(s). 

5.2 The licence holder must retain copies of their requests for references, and where 
obtained, copies of reference(s) provided for a minimum of 12 months from the start 
of a tenancy. A copy of the said request(s) and where obtained the reference(s) must 
be provided to the Authority within 14 days of receiving a request to do so in writing 
by the Authority. 

 
 

Housing Act 2004 – Prescribed Conditions  

Managment of the licensed Property 

6. The Licence Holder must ensure that there are management procedures in place to comply 
with their statutory and contractual repairing obligations. 

 
7. The Licence Holder must ensure the occupiers of the Property have been provided with 

details of the following: 
• Name of the Licence Holder; 
• A contact address and daytime telephone number; and 
• An emergency contact number. 

An emergency contact telephone number for the Licence Holder and/or Management 
Agency shall also be available and notified to the Authority if not already done so. 

8. The Licence Holder must ensure that occupants of the Property receive written 
confirmation detailing the arrangements that have been put in place to deal with repair 
issues and emergencies should they arise. 

9. The Licence Holder must arrange to undertake a detailed inventory to be agreed with each 
tenant upon commencement of their occupation of the Property, to be retained 
electronically or at the home/business address of the licence holder or their nominated 
agent. 

10. The Licence Holder must act lawfully and reasonably in requiring any advanced payments 
from occupiers, in handling rents, in returning deposits and in making deductions from 
deposits. The Licence Holder must provide any occupiers or prospective occupier with the 
following information: 

• The amount of rent payable; 
• The details of any deposit required; 

Page 195



 

• Details of what the deposit covers, the deposit scheme it has been deposited into 
and arrangements for return (within 30 days); 

• The frequency of payments; 
• The details of any utilities or other charges included in the rent; 
• The responsibility for payment of council tax; and 
• The responsibility for payment of utilities and arranging provision of such. 

 
11. The Licence Holder (and/or their agent where an agent has been appointed to manage 

the Property) must attend one Landlord Development Day covering how to manage 
tenancies whilst the licence is in force and must undertake any additional property 
management training courses that the Authority from time to time requires to be 
undertaken. Alternatively demonstrate to the Authority that similar, relevant training has 
been undertaken within the preceding 12 months. 

12. The Licence Holder must inform the licensing team of the Authority within ten working 
days of any substantial changes in their circumstances which would affect the 
management of the Property, namely; 

i) Details of any unspent 1convictions not previously disclosed to the Authority that may 
be relevant to the Licence Holder and/or the Property manager and their fit and proper 
person status and in particular any such conviction in respect of any offence involving 
fraud, dishonesty, violence or drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual 
Offences Act 2003; 

ii) Details of any finding by a court or tribunal against the Licence Holder and/or the 
Manager that he/she has practised unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, 
race, ethnic or national origin, religion, sexual orientation or disability in, or in 
connection with, the carrying on of any business; 

iii) Details of any contravention on the part of the Licence Holder or Manager of any 
provision of any enactment relating to housing, public health, environmental health or 
landlord and tenant law which led to civil or criminal proceedings resulting in a 
judgment or finding being made against him/her; 

iv)  Information about any property the Licence Holder or manager owns or manages or 
has owned or managed for which a local housing authority has refused to grant a 
licence under Part 2 or 3 of the Act, or has revoked a licence in consequence of the 
Licence Holder breaching the conditions of his/her licence; 

v) Information about any property the Licence Holder or manager owns or manages or 
has owned or managed that has been the subject of an Interim or Final Management 
Order under the Housing Act 2004; 

vi) Change in Managing Agent or the instruction of a Managing Agent. 
 
 

 

1 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 enables some criminal convictions to become ‘spent’, or ignored, 
after a ‘rehabilitation period’. A rehabilitation period is a set length of time from the date of conviction. After 
this period, with certain exceptions, an ex-offender is not normally obliged to mention the conviction when 
applying for a job or obtaining insurance, or when involved in criminal or civil proceedings. 

Page 196



 

13. The Licence Holder and/or their Manager are required to visit the Property within three to 
six months of the commencement of the tenancy and thereafter annually. A record of 
these visits must be made available to the Authority on request. 

14. The Licence Holder must inform the Authority of any information that comes into their 
possession that suggests that a person(s) involved with the management of the Property 
are not “fit and proper persons” for the purposes of the Act. 

15. The Licence Holder must take steps to ensure that the water supply and drainage system 
serving the Property is kept clean and maintained in good repair and proper working order. 

16. The Licence Holder must not unreasonably cause or permit the water supply or drainage 
system that is used by the occupiers of the Property to be interrupted. 

17. The Licence Holder must not unreasonably cause or permit the gas or electricity supply 
that is used by the occupiers of the Property to be interrupted. 

 
18. Where there are alley gates installed to the rear of the licensed Property, the Licence 

Holder must: 

• Take responsibility for holding a key for any alley gates, which are in place or 
installed; 

• At the time of letting, ensure all new tenants are provided with a key for the alley 
gates; and 

• Ensure that any tenant during their occupancy of the Property is aware of the 
requirements of the alley gating scheme. 

Safety and Security 

19. The Licence Holder will ensure the front and rear doors of the Property are secure and 
fitted with good quality locking systems. 

20. Where a burglar alarm is fitted to the Property, the Licence Holder will permit a tenant to 
change the code if they so wish. 

 
Environmental Management and Amenity of the Neighbourhood 

21. The Licence Holder shall ensure that suitable and adequate provision for refuse storage 
and collection is made at the Property and that the Authority’s arrangements for refuse 
collection including recycling are made clear to the tenant. This shall include the provision 
of closable bins of suitable capacity as specified by the Authority. Arrangements shall be 
made immediately for the proper collection and disposal of any rubbish additional to that 
within the bins. The Licence Holder shall ensure that all tenants are aware that all refuse 
containers are to be returned within the curtilage of the Property on the same day that 
they are emptied by the Authority. 

22.  The Licence Holder must ensure that the tenant is aware of their responsibility to keep 
yards, forecourts and gardens surrounding the Property in a clean and tidy condition. 

 
Preventing and Reducing Antisocial Behaviour 

Page 197



 

23. The Licence Holder must take all reasonable and practicable steps for preventing and 
dealing with antisocial behaviour. The Licence Holder and/or his manager must 
undertake a reasonable and effective investigation of any complaints which have 
been made either directly to them, or via the Authority, regarding their occupiers. For 
the purposes of these conditions, antisocial behaviour is defined as behaviour by the 
occupants of the Property and/or their visitors, which causes a nuisance and/or 
harassment, alarm or distress to other occupants of the Property, to lawful visitors to 
the Property or to persons residing in or lawfully visiting the locality of the Property. 

24. The Licence Holder must ensure that any tenancy agreement or written statement of 
the terms and conditions of which the house is occupied issued in relation to the 
Property contains reasonable clauses allowing the licence holder or their appointed 
representative to address any instances of anti-social behaviour by the tenant or the 
tenant’s visitors. The licence holder must ensure that all tenants are aware of the 
existence of this clause. 

 
25. Where tenants and/or their visitors have been found to have caused anti-social 

behaviour, the Licence Holder must make clear to the tenant with verbal and written 
warnings as appropriate that further instances of anti-social behaviour will not be 
tolerated. Should the tenant and/or their visitors continue to cause anti-social 
behaviour the Licence Holder must utilise the clauses of any written agreement under 
which the tenant occupies the Property to legally end the tenancy where appropriate. 

26. The Licence Holder or their nominated agent must have the facilities to receive and 
respond to initial complaints about their occupiers’ behaviour. 

27. The Licence Holder or their nominated agent must provide free of charge an honest 
and accurate reference relating to existing or previous tenants to other potential 
landlords. 

 
Ending a Tenancy 

28. The Licence Holder must ensure there are management procedures in place to legally 
end a tenancy in relation to the Property, and must implement said procedures. 

 
 

Page 198



SCAL
E

DAT
E

CHECKE
D

Head of Service Unit

DRAW
N

This copy has been made by or with the authority
of the Council's Director of Planning &
Development pursuant to section 47 of the
Copyright, Design and Patents Act 1988 ('the
Act'). Unless the Act provides a relevant
exception to copyright, the copy must not be
copied without the prior written permission of the
copyright owner.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey
material with the permission of Ordnance Survey
on behalf of the Controller of her Majesty's
Stationery Office (C) Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings.

Burnley Borough Council 
AC0000849998 (2023)

Date Printed :
18/01/2024

1:2500 

: 

: 

DRAWING  NUMBER

: 

P
age 199

ldickens
Text Box
Trinity 2019-2024Trinity 2025-2030 Proposed Additional AreasTrinity Consultation Boundary

Appendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

Proposed Street List: Trinity 2025-30 
Existing Streets (2019-2024) 
Albion Street 43-123 
Alwin Street ALL 
Arran Street ALL 
Athol Street North 20-60 (evens), 21-57 (odds) 
Athol Street South ALL 
Baker Street ALL 
Bruce Street ALL 
Buccleuch Street ALL 
Buck Street ALL 
Coal Clough Lane 40-94 (evens), 5-153 (odds) 
Cog Lane 144-354 (evens), 69-229 (odds) 
Colin Street 1-3 (odds) 
Ellis Street ALL 
Elmwood Street 22-62 (evens), 13-53 (odds) 
Every Street 78-100 (evens), 1-19 (odds) 
Grange Street ALL 
Grant Street ALL 
Harold Street 2-32 (evens), 1-23 (odds), 29-55 (odds)  
Herbert Street 2-52 (evens), 1-53 (odds) 
Howard Street 2-12 (evens), 176-178 (evens), 1-23 (odds) 
Hudson Street ALL 
Nairne Street 34-70 (evens), 23-149 (odds), 76-148 (evens) 
Netherby Street ALL 
Paisley Street 22 
Piccadilly Road 32-112 (evens), 31-87 (odds) 
Prestwich Street ALL 
Prince Street ALL 
Pritchard Street 2-56 (evens), 1-43 (odds) 
Queensberry Road ALL 
Raglan Road 2-60 (evens), 73-93 (odds) 
Richmond Street ALL 
Scarlett Street ALL 
Sefton Avenue ALL 
Sefton Terrace ALL 
St Matthew Street 1-67 (odds) 
Swindon Street ALL 
Tay Street 2-22 (evens) 
Ulster Street ALL 
Weldon Street ALL 
Westmorland Street ALL 
Willis Street ALL 
 

  

Page 201



Proposed Additional Streets 
Accrington Road 8-72 (evens), 260-294 (evens), 35-93 (odds) 
Blannel Street ALL 
Brush Street ALL 
Burnham Gate 127-135 (odds) 
Chapel House, Florence Street ALL 
Clare Street ALL 
Clifton Street 14-36 (evens), 35-53 (odds) 
Clifton Square ALL 
Dean Street ALL 
Florence Street ALL 
Gill Street ALL 
Johnson Close ALL 
Macauley Street 2 
Pomfret Street ALL 
Smith Street ALL 
Trinity Towers, Accrington Road ALL 
Villiers Street 2-16 (evens), 1-77 (odds) 
Waverley Street ALL 
Westgate Evens 
Willow Street ALL 
 

Page 202



OldHall•lill 

{_-::: 
,, 'I 
I 

I 

LI  

r<eeoi<y o,.,,.,.,,.,,o,me,i• 

IA.1101 01'1 

,y-=-- - = 1
' 

n I I - / -r/ 
-__' - j  7 

I I , _ _  

Sport, Aran, 
IRe<n Gd) 

-.. :::- j  -

,i 

, , -- '

I 7 • 
I 

i ,I I I I 
I 

' 
j , '  

\ 
I 

• ' - ,  I 
,--_ -=r-:::.;1 _ _ _  7 _ _ _  \ 

I ii!J1 
\ )_ 1::°-1 ,.._,...,.,c,n.,,. 

l 
,-\ 

'\ c\::f1 - : ,
• 

'' "-,;,, , _ ,
·!- ,, 

- - -

f 

·-· ,..- .•"'-m''"'" 

/ 

ORMERODRO:.D 

1   
: :1 I I:,J L   

I 

I, JL L' 

- - , -- -- -

i 

i , ' l -
1 

/'"' _, 
/-,f,--,_ -------f  )

.'i,i 
i 

i !; I 

-'-   

'I I ,1"'"1 
I 
I 

I I 
r - , 1  
i' .11 
I II 1 - -

i ii__ ___ / 

P
age 203

ldickens_1
Polygonal Line

ldickens_2
Polygonal Line

LDickens
Text Box
Queensgate 2019-2024Queensgate 2025-2030 Proposed Additional AreasQueensgate Consultation Boundary 2025-2030

Appendix 4

ldickens_3
Polygonal Line



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 

Proposed Street List: Queensgate 2025-30 
Existing Streets (2019-2024) 

ALL Ada Street 
ALL Bar Street 
29-55 & 61-145 odds Barden Lane 
ALL Boundary Street 
ALL Bracewell Street 
2-58 even & 1-89 odds Brennand Street 
8-116 evens (inc 114a) Briercliffe Road 
41 – 75 odds Briercliffe Road 
ALL Bright Street 
ALL Bromsgrove Road 
ALL Bulcock Street 
ALL Cardinal Street 
2-46 evens & 3-45 odds Cleaver Street 
ALL Cobden Street 
168-392a evens & 223-257 odds Colne Road 
2 Disraeli Street 
ALL Edmund Street 
ALL Ford Street 
ALL Fraser Street 
ALL Furness Street 
ALL Godiva Street 
ALL Green Street 
ALL Haulgh Street 
ALL Heap Street 
1-23 odds & 2-28 evens Heath Street 
ALL Holmby Street 
ALL Ivy Street 
ALL Latham Street 
ALL Mark Street 
ALL Martin Street 
ALL Murray Street 
ALL Newman Street 
ALL Pembroke Street 
ALL Pheasantford Street 
ALL Pratt Street 
ALL Randall Street 
ALL Rawson Street 
ALL Redvers Street 
ALL Renshaw Street 
ALL Ribblesdale Street 
ALL Rushworth Street East 
ALL Rushworth Street West 
ALL Rylands Street 
ALL Shackleton Street 
ALL Sharp Street 

Page 205



 

Proposed Additional Streets 
1-35 (odds) Abinger Street 
ALL Acre Street 
2-16 (evens), 1-143 (odds) Basnett Street 
129-283 (odds) Briercliffe Road 
100-140 (evens) Browhead Road 
ALL Claret Close 
ALL Claughton Street 
48-166 (evens), 57-161 (odds) Cleaver Street 
ALL Colbran Street 
ALL Eldwick Street  
1-59 (odds) Ennismore Street 
ALL Ferndale Street 
ALL Grasmere Street 
ALL Haydock Street  
30-74 (evens) Heath Street 
ALL Ivan Street 
4-10 (evens) Keswick Road 
ALL Kyan Street 
ALL Melville Street 
ALL New Church Mews, Briercliffe Road 
ALL Paulhan Street 
ALL Primrose Street 
ALL Queen Victoria Road 
1-41 (odds) Rydal Street 
ALL Salus Street 
ALL St George’s Square 
ALL Swinless Street 
2-60 (evens), 1-93 (odds) Thursby Road 
ALL Vincit Street 
ALL West Street 
ALL Williams Road 
ALL Wilton Street 
 

ALL St Andrews Street 
2-74 evens & 1-29 odds St Cuthbert Street 
ALL Steer Street 
ALL Towneley Street 
ALL Walpole Street 
ALL Waterbarn Street 
ALL Wynotham Street 

Page 206



P
age 207

LDickens_1
Polygonal Line

LDickens_2
Polygonal Line

LDickens_3
Text Box
Gannow 2019-2024Gannow 2025-2030 Proposed Additional AreaGannow Consultation Boundary 2025-2030

Appendix 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 

Proposed Street List: Gannow 2025-30 
Existing Streets (2019-2024) 
9-41 odds ADAMSON STREET 
ALL AINSLIE STREET 
ALL BIVEL STREET 
ALL BREAD STREET 
ALL BROUGHTON STREET 
ALL CAIRO STREET 
2-28 evens & 1-27 odds CARTER STREET 
ALL CLAREMONT STREET 
1-5 odds CLIFTON ROAD 
ALL CONISTON STREET 
1-19 odds COTTON STREET 
ALL COULTATE STREET 
ALL DICKSON STREET 
74-136 evens & 67-107 odds GANNOW LANE 
ALL GRANBY STREET 
ALL HARLEY STREET 
ALL IMPERIAL COURT 
ALL IVORY STREET 
2-32 evens KEITH STREET 
ALL KIME STREET 
ALL LARK STREET 
1-21 odds & 2-24 evens LIONEL STREET 
ALL LUBBOCK STREET 
ALL MITCHELL STREET 
ALL MONMOUTH STREET 
ALL OAK STREET 
201-291 odds PADIHAM ROAD 
ALL PENISTONE STREET 
1 PICKLES STREET 
ALL PINK STREET 
ALL PLOVER STREET 
ALL PLOVER VIEW 
ALL REDRUTH STREET 
ALL SHALE STREET 
ALL ST JOHNS ROAD 
2-60 evens TABOR STREET 
23 to 33 (odd) 28 to 38 (even) TUNNEL STREET 
ALL WHITEBULL STREET 
ALL WINDSOR STREET 
ALL  WOODBINE ROAD 
ALL WORDSWORTH STREET 
ALL WREN STREET 
 

Page 209



 
 
Proposed Additional Streets 
1-27 (odds) Alder Street  
2-24 (evens) Arkwright Street   
2-28 (evens) Barry Street 
30-56 (evens), 29-55 (odds) Carter Street 
4 Ightenhill Park Lane 
55-85 (odds) Lionel Street 
ALL Lonsdale Street 
294-340 (evens), 305-349 (odds) Padiham Road 
ALL Palace Street 
ALL Rendel Street 
1-9 (odds) Romford Street 
 

Page 210



Page 211

LDickens_4
Polygonal Line

LDickens_5
Text Box
Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2019-2024No Proposed  Boundary ChangesDaneshouse and Stoneyholme Consultation Boundary 2025-30

Appendix 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 9 

Proposed Street List: Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30 
Existing Streets (2019-2024) No Proposed Boundary Changes 
 

2 to 10, 36, 40 to 60, 64 to 82, 130 to 178 
(even) 

ABEL STREET 

43 to 85, 143 to 151 (odd) ABEL STREET 
ALL ALLEN COURT 
3 to 21 (odd) ALLEN STREET 
1 to 23 (odd) ALTHAM STREET 
ALL ANGLE STREET 
4 to 18, 50 to 76 (even), 51 to 87 (odd) ARDWICK STREET 
ALL ARLEY GARDENS 
1 to 11 (odd) BANKHALL TERRACE 
2 to 66 including 38a (even) 13 to 49 (odd)  BELFORD STREET 
26 to 36 (even) BELGRAVE STREET 
2 to 16 (even) BOND STREET 
ALL BOOTH COURT 
ALL BRAMBLE PLACE 
1 to 15 (odd) BRIEF STREET 
1 to 119 (odd) 4, 22 to 38, 42 to 132 (even) BROUGHAM STREET 
4, 20 to 26 (even) BURLEIGH STREET 
49 to 131 (odd) 52 to 82, 88 to 114 (even) BURNS STREET 
1 to 25 (odd) 2 to 56 (even) CAMERON STREET 
59 to 63 (odd) CANNING STREET 
ALL CASTLE STREET 
1 to 23 (odd) 4 to 14 (even) CLEGG STREET 
37 to 51 (odd) CLEGG STREET EAST 
5 to 69 (odd) 8 to 70 (even) CLIVE STREET 
2, to 16, 34 to 72, 84 to 104, 112 to 124 
(including 124 c), 128 to 160 (even) 

COLNE ROAD 

9 to 21 (odd) 18 to 48 (even) COLVILLE STREET 
1 to 35, 43 to 69 (odd) 2 to 70 (even) CROMWELL STREET 
1 to 35 (odd) CRONKSHAW STREET 
ALL DANE STREET 
1 to 51 (odd) 6 to 30, 36 to 70 (even) DANESHOUSE ROAD 
ALL DEVONSHIRE ROAD 
1 to 7 (odd) DEVONSHIRE TERRACE 
3, 37 to 73 odd, 2 to 22, 62 to 98 ELM STREET 
ALL ESCOTT GARDENS 
2 to 22, 26 to 28 (even) 33 to 53 (odd) EVELYN STREET 
ALL EXTWISTLE STREET 
1, 4 FOLDS STREET 
1 to 49 (odd) FRANCIS STREET 
2 to 30, 52 to 120 (even) 17 to 113 (odd) GORDON STREET 
ALL GRANVILLE STREET 
2 to 60, 72 to 98, 148 to 176 (even) 7 to 21, 
37 to 43, 47 to 71, 135 to 141 (odd) 

GREY STREET 

Page 213



1 to 9, 21, 23 to 25, 33 to 37 (odd) 2 to 22, 
52 to 70, & 72-74 110 to 124 (even)  

HEBREW ROAD 

1, 3 HEBREW SQUARE 
1 to 53 (odd) 2 to 22 (even) HOWSIN STREET 
1 to 25 (odd) 10 to 14 (even) HUBIE STREET 
10 to 56, 17-23 and 27 to 93 (odd) HURTLEY STREET 
2 to 18 (even) 3 to 29 (odd) LEE STREET 
1 to 71 (odd) 18 to 48 (even) 
 
1 and 2 Poplar House  

MARCH STREET 

2 to 38 (even) 21 to 37 (odd) MERTON STREET 
1 to 45 (odd) MILNER STREET 
1, 1a (odd) 44 to 156 (even) NEW HALL STREET 
ALL NICHOLL STREET 
ALL NORMAN STREET 
12 to 22 (even) 7 to 9 (odd) NORTH STREET 
10 to 12, 18, 22 to 26 (even) 27a, 27, 29 
(odd) 
Emmaus House (all) 

OLD HALL STREET 

2 OSWALD STREET 
28 to 60 (even) 35 to 69 (odd) ROBINSON STREET 
ALL SAXON STREET 
ALL SPENCER STREET 
ALL STAFFORD STREET 
8 TAYLOR STREET 
8 to 42 (even) 21 to 55 (odd) THORN STREET 
2 to 14 (even) 5 to 77 (odd) TRAVIS STREET 
ALL VIOLET STREET 
ALL WHALLEY STREET 
 

Page 214



SCAL

E

DAT

E

Head of Service

Unit

DRAW

N
CHECKE

D

Date Printed :

30/01/2024

1:3500

: 

DRAWING 
REFERENCE

: 

: 

This copy has been made by or with the authority of the Council's

Director of Planning & Development pursuant to section 47 of the

Copyright, Design and Patents Act 1988 ('the Act'). Unless the Act

provides a relevant exception to copyright, the copy must not be

copied without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the

permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of her

Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown copyright. Unauthorised

reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution

or civil proceedings.

Burnley Borough Council 

AC0000849998 (2023)

P
age 215

ldickens_4
Polygonal Line

ldickens_5
Text Box
Padiham Proposed Boundary 2025-2030Padiham Consultation Boundary

ldickens_6
Polygonal Line

Appendix 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 11 

Proposed Street List: Padiham 2025-30 
ALL Albion Street 
ALL Altham Street 
ALL Barley Street 
ALL Beech Street  
ALL Bright Street 
ALL Brook Court 
102-126 (evens), 155-173 (odds) Burnley Road 
ALL Burns Street 
ALL Canning Street 
ALL Cardwell Street 
2-20 (evens), 1-19 (odds) Cemetery Road 
ALL Collinge Street 
ALL Cotton Street  
ALL Cross Bank, Hambledon Street 
66, 65-77 (odds) Dryden Street 
ALL Elizabeth Street 
ALL Field Street 
ALL Graham Street 
5-43 (odds) Green Lane 
ALL Green Street 
ALL Hambledon Street 
2-66 (evens), 1, 41-107 (odds) Hapton Road 
12-20 (evens), 1-15 (odds) Hapton Street 
2-36 (evens), 1-35 (odds) Herbert Street 
ALL Hill Street 
1-11 (odds) Institute Street 
ALL Levant Street 
ALL Lincoln Court, Station Road 
ALL Linear View, Pendle Street 
ALL Livesey Street  
ALL Melbourne Street 
42-78 (evens), 35-77 (odds) Milton Street 
ALL Oat Street 
2-24 (inc2a) (evens), 1-31 (odds) Palmerston Street  
2-14 (evens), 1-5 (odds) Park Road  
ALL Park View 
ALL Peel Street 
ALL Pendle Street 
ALL Pitt Street 
ALL Russell Terrace 
30-52 (evens), 5-83 (odds) Shakespeare Street 
2 Spa Street 
20-42 (evens), 27-47 (odds) Spenser Street 
14-70 (evens), 13-31 (odds) Station Road 
ALL St Annes Street 
ALL Stockbridge Road 

Page 217



ALL Thompson Street 
ALL Veevers Street 
2-58 (evens), 104-106 (evens), Victoria Road 
ALL Villiers Street 
ALL Wesley Street 
ALL Wheat Street 
1-33 (odds) Wytham Street 

 

 

Page 218



P
age 219

LDickens_6
Polygon

LDickens_7
Polygon

LDickens_8
Text Box
Lyndhurst Road Proposed Boundary 2025-30Lyndhurst Road Consultation Boundary 2025-30

Appendix 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 13 

Proposed Street List: Lyndhurst Road Area 2025-30 
ALL Admiral Street 
2-28 (evens), 30-68 (evens) Athletic Street 
ALL Brockenhurst Street 
115-207 (odds) Brunshaw Road 
ALL Celia Street 
2 Culshaw Street 
ALL Eastham Street 
ALL Eliza Street 
ALL Fir Street 
ALL Haven Street  
ALL Higgin Street 
ALL Hinton Street 
ALL Holly Street 
ALL Holmsley Street 
ALL Irene Street 
ALL Lebanon Street 
ALL Linby Street 
ALL Linden Street 
2(inc2a)-108 (evens), 1-133 (odds) Lyndhurst Road 
4-22 (evens), 3 Mary Street  
ALL Mitella Street 
ALL Mizpah Street 
2-96 (evens), 1-27 (odds), 41-75 (odds) Olympia Street 
ALL Prescott Street 
1-35 (odds) Stroyan Street 
2-70 (evens) Thursfield Road 
18-70 (evens) Todmorden Road 

 

Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 14 

Fee and Charging Structure for the Implementation of Selective Licensing  

for the period 2025-2030 

Introduction 

1. Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that the Authority may require the application 
to be accompanied by a fee fixed by the Authority. The legislation implies that the full 
fee should be paid with the application. There is no requirement within the legislation 
for the Authority to accept staged payments. 

2. The fee covers the cost of running the selective licensing scheme and is based upon 
the average length of time to administer the designation for each landlord and 
property. Inevitably each application and property will vary in the amount of officer 
time required. 

3. The fee is not connected to the length of time covered by the licence. 
4. The Authority is not permitted to make a profit from the introduction of a selective 

licensing scheme and any surplus must be ring-fenced for use on the scheme. The 
fees should, however, take account of all costs incurred in administering a selective 
licensing scheme. 

5. Case law in relation to the European Services Directive requires local authorities to 
separate out the cost of processing an initial application from those costs associated 
with the ongoing administration of a scheme. 

6. All fees are payable in two stages, at the application stage and upon granting the 
licence. 

7. The fee structure will be reviewed annually. 

Role of Charging Structure 

8. The purpose of this document is to establish a transparent charging policy. 

Application Fee 

9. All application fees are payable at the application stage. As a result of feedback from 
landlords, the Council introduced the option of monthly direct debit payments for 
selective licensing fees over a maximum period of 24 months to help the applicant 
manage the costs. Each individual request for monthly direct debit payments will be 
assessed on its own merits and will be decided at the Council’s discretion. 

Reduced Fees 

10. An application for a licence submitted in the last twelve months of the designation will 
pay 50% of the application fee; however, this will only apply in circumstances where 
the property has not been eligible for licensing prior to the final twelve months of a 
scheme.  

11. Licenses are non-transferrable. Applications resulting from a change in ownership of 
a licensed property will be charged the full standard fee. 

Fee Reimbursements 

12. Applications will be charged the full amount and the payment is to accompany the 
application form. At the Council’s discretion a payment plan may be established to 
agree to payments to be made over an agreed period; any such plan can only be 
repaid by direct debit. 

Page 223



13. The Council will issue the applicant with a refund if a duplicate application or an 
application for an exempted property has been made in error. 

14. The fees are not connected to the length of a licence. If a licence is cancelled before 
it expires, the Council cannot give a refund for any time that remains for the selective 
licensing designation. A fee will not be reimbursed if a property is sold before the end 
of the selective licensing designation and the applicant will still be required to pay any 
outstanding charges due as a result of the application. 

15. Where a licence is refused or revoked, the applicant or licence holder will not be 
entitled to any refund of the application fees and will still be required to pay any 
outstanding charges due as a result of the application. 

Fee 

16. The fee has been calculated based on the predicted costs to administer the scheme, 
and the proposed staffing structure.  

17. The table below shows the proposed fees: 
 Upon Application 

(Part A) 
Upon Granting a 
Licence (Part B) 

Total Fee (A+B) 

First Application 
(Not Previously 
Licensed) 

£405 £345 £750 

Additional 
Property 
Application  

£370 £300 £670 

 

Fee Discounts 

18. Early Application Discount: To reward landlords in these areas who apply within three 
months of the designations coming into force, a discount of £100 will be applied to 
the application fee for their first application, providing the applicant submits a full 
complete application form and all requested documentation. This £100 discount will 
be applied to the applicant’s first application and the applicant will only be entitled to 
this discount once. Payment must be received in full or a direct debit payment plan 
agreed. Failure to continue to make direct debit payments will result in the loss of any 
early application discount previously supplied.  

19. Burnley Council’s Good Landlord and Agent Scheme (GLAS) Discount: To reward 
landlords who are already operating to a minimum legal standard in Burnley, a 
discount of 30% will apply to any landlord who is an existing member of GLAS. To be 
eligible for this discount a landlord must have applied to join GLAS before the 
selective licensing scheme comes into force, and must subsequently become 
accredited. 

20. The Council wants to support responsible landlords to make further investments in 
the selective licensing areas, which is why the Empty Homes Programme will pay the 
selective licensing fee of an accredited landlord who has been in receipt of an Empty 
Homes Loan if:  

i. They purchase an empty property in the designation areas which has been 
vacant for a minimum of twelve months prior to the landlord purchasing it; and  

ii. The property is refurbished to the accreditation standard within 6 months of 
the landlord purchasing the property.  

For further information on eligibility for selective licensing fee payment for landlords in 
receipt of an Empty Homes loan, contact the Empty Homes team on 01282 475926. 

Page 224



Appendix 15 

Staffing Structure for the Implementation of Selective Licensing  

for the period 2025-2030 

 

Introduction 

1. The below proposed staffing structure is proposed for the implementation of six 
selective licensing areas from 2025-2030. 

2. It takes into account the size of the proposed areas, the number of privately rented 
properties in each area, the anticipated number of applications, and the officer time 
required to process the applications and implement the scheme. 

 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 
Team 
Leader 
(Grade 11) 

1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 

Project 
Assistant 
(Grade 8 
Pending Job 
Evaluation) 

6 6 6 6 6 

Admin 
Officer 
(Grade 5) 

4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 

 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Climate Change Scrutiny Review Group report 

The group consisted of the following members of the Scrutiny Committee: 
Councillors Gail Barton, Jamie McGowan, Joanne Broughton, Bill Horrocks, Martyn 
Hurt, Jack Launer, Helen Bridges, Syeda Kazmi, and Paul Reynolds.   

The officers supporting the group were Claire Graham and Paul Gatrell.  

The following topics were the main areas of discussion.  

Climate Change Action Plan Prioritisation  

Members are keen that the Council focuses on agreed priorities for climate actions, 
after discussion they are satisfied this work is ongoing and the action plan is 
sufficiently robust to deal with prioritisation. 

Electric bus funding – ZEBRA2  

There was discussion around transitioning buses to electric. Officers investigated 
ZEBRA2 funding that other Councils and bus companies have previously had 
success with, to consider the potential for Burnley.  

It was determined that this funding would need to be applied for by Lancashire 
County Council and the bus companies interested in being involved.  

Members and officers will follow up with Lancashire County Council about the 
ZEBRA2 funding application, and the potential for Burnley bus routes to be included 
if the bid is successful.   

Electric/ hybrid taxis 

There was a lot of discussion around assisting taxi drivers/ operators to transition to 
electric or hybrid taxis in a just and fair way. Officers reached out to the Energy 
Savings Trust who used to help Local Authorities deliver EV opinion surveys with the 
trade. Unfortunately, the Energy Savings Trust no longer offer the same extent of 
support in this area as they used to, however, they sent us the survey they used and 
are happy for the Council to deliver these ourselves.  

These survey questions were sent to the Taxi Task Group for further discussion and 
possible dissemination amongst taxi drivers/operators.  

This action has been left with the Taxi Working Group members to monitor. 

Homeworking action 

Members would like the action ‘Facilitate hybrid working for council staff’ with the 
output ‘Monitor and record the percentage of time employees are working from 
home’ to be reworded. The aim is to make clear that working from home was not 
implemented as a climate change action, but that climate change benefits and 
emissions reductions because of this may be a co-benefit.  

A proposed change to the wording of this action would be: ‘Facilitate hybrid working 
for council staff’ with the output ‘Monitor and record the percentage of time 

Page 227

Agenda Item 10



employees are working from home. Monitor the impact this is having on Council’s 
emissions as a potential co-benefit of hybrid working.’   

Resources  

The group discussed the level of resources being put into the climate change 
agenda. After discussions, members were satisfied there were currently sufficient 
resources.  

Conclusions  

Members concluded that they felt more certain of the climate change actions and the 
work being undertaken. There was overall interest in the climate change agenda and 
the need to drive forward actions.  

 

Page 228



 

 

Scrutiny Work Programme 2023-24 as at 26th February 2024 

 

Thursday 1st June 
2023 

Regular / Standing Items 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups Update from 2022/23/ Review Group Proposals 
2023/24 
Work Programme 2023-2024 
 
Exec Reports 
 

Wednesday 5th July 
2023 

Regular / Standing Items 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Work Programme/Review Group Proposals 
Planning Authority Monitoring Report 21/22 
Q4 and Year End 23/24 Performance Report (Moved to August) 
 
Policy Framework Items 
2022/23 Final Revenue Outturn Position 
2022/23 Final Capital Outturn Position  
Annual Treasury Management Review of 2022/23 Activity 
 
Exec Reports  
Statutory Review of the Local Plan and Revision of the Local 
Development Scheme 
Climate Change Strategy Update 
Allotment Review 2023 
Burnley Playing Pitch & Outdoor Sports Strategy (deferred to August 
Exec) 
 

Thursday 10th August 
2023 

Regular / Standing Items 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
Q4 and Year End 22/23 Performance Report (Deferred from July) 
Lancashire Police - presentation on the new Target Operating Model  
 
Exec Reports 
Burnley Playing Pitch & Outdoor Sports Strategy (deferred from July)  
Acquisition of Temporary Accommodation (deferred from July) 
Fitness Equipment Replacement – Use of Framework Agreement 
Nicholas Street Re-development 
 

Thursday 14th 
September 2023 

Regular / Standing Items  
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Liberata Contract Director Presentation 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
 
Policy Framework Items 

 

Page 229

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Revenue Monitoring 2023/24 Quarter 1 
Capital Monitoring 2023/24 Quarter 1 
Revenue Budgets 2024-27- Latest Position and Savings Proposals 
23/24 Treasury Management Q1 
 
Exec Reports 
Cultural Strategy (moved to January 2024)  
Outdoor Town Active Burnley Partnership Action Plan (Deferred from 
August and moved to January 2024) 
Article 4 Direction: Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
Building control IT Procurement 
Council Tax Support Consultation 
 

Thursday 19th 
October 2023 
 

Regular / Standing Items  
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Feedback – Queensgate Review Group 
Work Programme 
Burnley Leisure Trust Annual Report – Moved to November 
23/January 24 
 
Exec Reports 
Alley Gating PSPO 
Asset & Development Management Services - Charter Walk 
 

Thursday 23rd 
November 2023  

Regular / Standing Items 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Half Year performance report 2023-24 
Review Groups 
Work Programme  
Burnley Leisure Trust Annual Report – Moved from October 23 
 
Policy Framework items 
Revenue Budget Monitoring Q2 2023/24 - Deferred 
Capital Budget Monitoring - Q2 2023/24 - Deferred 
Fees & Charges -From Jan 2024 - Deferred 
Treasury Management Mid-year update 2023/24 - Deferred 
 
Exec Reports 
Food Delivery Programme (Annual Update) – Moved to January 24 
Health and Safety Delivery Programme (Annual Update) – Moved to 
January 24 
The culture document: Our People, Our Culture – A Cultural 
Reimagining of Burnley 2023-2027  (moved to January 2024) 
 

Thursday 11th 
January 2024 

Regular / Standing Items 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
Community Safety Annual Report 
Charter Walk Interim Report 
 

Page 230



 

 

Exec Reports 
The culture document: Our People, Our Culture – A Cultural 
Reimagining of Burnley 2023-2027  (moved from November 2023)  
Outdoor Town 10 year vision (moved to February 24) 
Food Delivery Programme (Annual Update) – Moved from November 
23 
Health and Safety Delivery Programme (Annual Update) – Moved 
from November 23 
 
Policy Framework items 
Pay Policy Statement (moved to February) 
Revenue Budget Monitoring Q2 2023/24 (moved from November) 
Capital Budget Monitoring - Q2 2023/24 (moved from November) 
Fees & Charges (moved from November) 
Treasury Management Mid-year update 2023/24 (moved from 
November) 
 

 
Thursday 8th 
February 2024 
Budget Scrutiny  

Regular / Standing Items 
Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
 
Policy Framework items 
Revenue Budget Monitoring Q3 2023-24 
Capital Budget Monitoring - Q3 2023-24 
Treasury Management Q3 23/24 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Revenue Budget 2024-5 
Capital Budget 2024-25 and Cap Investment Prog 2024/25 
Treasury Management & Prudential Borrowing. 
Strategic Plan 
Council Tax Support Scheme 2024/25 and 2025/26 & 
 Empty Homes Premium Policy 
Pay Policy Statement (moved from January) 
 
Exec Reports 
Outdoor Town 10 year vision (moved to March 24) 
Social Care projects using the Disabled Facilities Grant Allocation 
from the Better Care Fund (Moved to March 24) 
Multi Use Games Are (MUGA) 
Levelling Up Fund 
Revenue Budget 2024/25 - Statutory Report of the Chief Financial 
Officer 
 

 
Wednesday 6th 
March 2024 

Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
Charter Walk Report (Next Municipal year after financial year end) 
Pioneer Place Report (Next Municipal year after financial year end) 
Calico Homes Presentation (Moved to April) 
 
Exec Reports 

Page 231



 

 

Outdoor Town (moved from April 24) 
Social Care projects using the Disabled Facilities Grant Allocation 
from the Better Care Fund (Moved from February 24)  
Waste Transfer Station (Moved to April) 
Road to net zero 
Consultation various selective licensing designations 
 

Wednesday 3rd April 
2024  

Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings 
Review Groups 
Work Programme 
Calico Homes Presentation (Moved from March) 
 
Exec Reports 
Outdoor Town Active Burnley Partnership Action Plan (moved from 
March 24) 
Article 4 Direction – Houses in Multiple Occupation 
Strategic Partnering Agreement 
Waste Transfer Station (Moved from March) 
 

Items for future 
meetings 

Charter Walk one year post purchase – Final report (5th June 2024) 
Pioneer Place  six months post purchaser report (5th June 2024) 
Report on the formation of a new academy for Burnley’s high schools. 
 

 

Page 232



Document is Restricted

Page 233

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings
	Agenda
	1 Notice of Key Decisions and Private Meetings (28 day notice)

	8 Road Map to Net Zero
	App A_Roadmap to Net Zero Report Nov.23_V4
	App B_Roadmap to Net Zero image_V4
	App C_Roadmap to NZ Action Plan table
	App D_Carbon budget graph

	9 Selective Licensing - Consultation on Future Proposals
	Appendix 1 SL Statement of Case 2025
	Appendix 1
	Statement of Case for Designating Selective Licensing Areas 2025-2030:
	Trinity
	Queensgate
	Gannow
	Daneshouse and Stoneyholme
	Padiham
	Lyndhurst Road
	March 2024
	Contents
	1 Introduction
	2 The Strategic Significance to Burnley and Padiham
	3 What is a Selective Licensing Scheme?
	Legal Framework and Guidance

	Consequences of designating a selective licensing area
	Implications of Letting a Property Without a Licence

	4	Burnley’s Profile
	Population
	Deprivation
	Housing Type
	Housing Tenure
	Empty Homes

	Stock Condition
	Fuel Poverty
	Housing Market

	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)
	5	Ward Level Data
	5.1	The Council has analysed a series of key indicators across the borough and at the ward level, to greater understand which areas could benefit from a selective licensing designation.
	Tenure

	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime

	6 The Trinity Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?

	7	The Queensgate Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?

	8	The Gannow Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?

	9	The Daneshouse & Stoneyholme Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints and Proactive Inspections
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?

	10	The Padiham Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?

	11	The Lyndhurst Road Proposed Designation
	Background
	Housing Tenure
	Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
	Property Condition: Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs)
	Property Condition: Estimated Category 1 Hazards

	Property Condition: Disrepair Complaints
	Housing Market
	Empty Homes
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Why Propose a Selective Licensing Scheme?
	12	Option Appraisal
	Accreditation
	Enforcement of Housing Standards
	Management Orders
	A Private Sector Leasing Scheme
	Local Authority Trading Company
	Landlord Development Days
	The Empty Homes Programme
	How Does Selective Licensing Support the Council’s Housing Strategy?
	Prevention of Homelessness Strategy
	Supporting and Complementary Activity
	Social and Economic Regeneration Activity
	Empty Homes Programme
	Housing Enforcement and Proactive Inspections
	Accreditation, Training and Development
	Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Environmental Crime
	Supporting Vulnerable Residents
	Administration of the Designation Area
	Fees
	Fit and Proper Person Criteria
	Licence Conditions
	Level of Compliance with Current Selective Licensing Areas
	Electrical Safety Regulations

	Refusals
	Case Study: Improving Management

	Risk Assessment
	Consultation
	Outcomes of the Proposed Designation Area
	a.	Continue to gather key statistics to assist in the prioritisation of streets and initiatives
	b.	Improve stakeholder engagement
	c.	Improve the management of the private rented sector
	d.	Improve the condition of the private rented sector
	e.	Reduce anti-social behaviour
		As part of the application process ensure landlords have a robust process in place to manage anti-social behaviour
	f.	Reduce environmental crime
	g.	Bring empty homes back into use

	Conclusion
	Recommendations

	Fit and Proper Person and Management Arrangement Criteria for Selective Licensing
	Property Management Arrangements
	Appendix B

	BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL SELECTIVE LICENCE CONDITIONS
	Housing Act 2004 Mandatory Conditions
	Housing Act 2004 – Prescribed Conditions
	Managment of the licensed Property
	Safety and Security
	Environmental Management and Amenity of the Neighbourhood
	Preventing and Reducing Antisocial Behaviour
	Ending a Tenancy

	Appendix 2 Trinity 2025 Consultation Boundary COMPRESSED
	Appendix 3 Trinity Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 3
	Proposed Street List: Trinity 2025-30
	Existing Streets (2019-2024)
	Proposed Additional Streets


	Appendix 4 Queensgate 2025 Consultation Boundary
	Appendix 5 Queensgate Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 5
	Proposed Street List: Queensgate 2025-30
	Existing Streets (2019-2024)
	Proposed Additional Streets


	Appendix 6 Gannow 2025 Consultation Boundary
	Appendix 7 Gannow Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 7
	Proposed Street List: Gannow 2025-30
	Existing Streets (2019-2024)
	Proposed Additional Streets


	Appendix 8 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme 2025 Consultation Boundary
	Appendix 9 Daneshouse and Stoneyholme Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 9
	Proposed Street List: Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 2025-30
	Existing Streets (2019-2024) No Proposed Boundary Changes


	Appendix 10 Padiham 2025 Consultation Boundary
	Appendix 11 Padiham Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 11
	Proposed Street List: Padiham 2025-30

	Appendix 12 Lyndhurst Road 2025 Consultation Boundary
	Appendix 13 Lyndhurst Road Area Proposed Street List 2025-30
	Appendix 13
	Proposed Street List: Lyndhurst Road Area 2025-30

	Appendix 14 Fee and Charging Structure Selective Licensing 2025
	Appendix 15 Staffing Structure Selective Licensing 2025

	10 Scrutiny Review Groups
	11 Work Programme 2023/24
	12 Disabled Facilities Grant - Social Care Capital Projects



